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Company Profile

AL

Digital China (stock code: 00861) is the largest integrated IT service provider
in China. Digital China was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited since 1 June 2001. The outstanding performance of
Digital China has been widely recognized in the industry, as evidenced by its
inclusion in “Forbes Asia’s Fab 50,” “Fortune China 500” and “Top 100 PRC
Enterprises by Software Revenue.”

Digital China has integrated global resources in the IT industry, having
established working relationships with close to 300 IT vendors at home and
abroad, including long-term strategic partnerships with a number of leading
international IT players. Digital China has built a complete value chain in IT
services that covers IT planning and consulting, integration of IT infrastructure,
design and implementation of solutions, design and development of
application software, outsourcing of IT system operation and maintenance,
IT distribution,logistics and maintenance, providing integrated end-to-end IT
services to its customers.

Leveraging strengths in the research and development of IT technologies and
IT building in industries amassed over the years, Digital China has undertaken
a number of national programmes and projects in key technologies, such as
the “Technology Upgrade and Industrial Transformation Pilot Project” of the
National Development and Reform Commission, the “National Information
Security Project,” “Project on the Internet of Things” as an important support
of the “Outline for the Development of the Internet of Things during the 12th
Five-Year Plan Period” of the State, the “863 Programme” and the “Technology
Support Programme” of the Ministry of Science and Technology, and key
technology projects of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
including “CHB (Core electronic devices, High-end generic chips and Basic
software),” “Electronic Information Industry Development Foundation” (a
key project in the electronic information sector), “Conversion of National
Technological Deliverables” and “New-generation Wireless Broadband
Communications Network.” “Digital China” is both the name by which we
identify our Company and a mission that we charge ourselves with. In 2010,
Digital China launched the Sm@rt Ctiy strategy which called for the integration
of the urbanisation process and the informatisation process, seeking to
identify further sub-segments in IT consumption and direct the development of
the Sm@rt Ctiy on the back of its practical experience in IT services generated
over the years. With the roll-out of its “Sm@rt City” strategy across the nation,
Digital China has become China’s leading Sm@rt City expert who boasts a
forward-looking theoretical structure as well as having the largest stock of
successful cases.
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

FY2013* FY2012/13 FY2011/12 FY2010/11 FY2009/10

—g-= T/ -z——/ Tz TN/
Bt & — =B ——#F ——0F —ZHF
HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m

EREET B%EEL BEEEL B¥EERT B¥EER

For the Year REER

Revenue A 52,265 73,499 70,319 56,804 50,178

Profit/(loss) from Operating Activities BERRN/(B8) (180) 2,114 1,945 1,462 1,164

Net Profit from Ordinary Activities BEEEARELZ

Attributable to Shareholders i Fll 58 84 1,372 1,245 1,005 824

Earnings per Share (HK cents) BRAREW) 7.87 128.01 116.32 96.13 83.12

Dividends per Share (HK cents) RS (B 17.80 38.80 39.80 32.25 28.26

At Year-end REER

Total Assets BEE 30,100 28,408 26,822 19,946 15,670

Shareholders’ Funds BEES 7,726 7,826 6,821 6,033 4,201

Financial Ratio BT # L &

Return on Equity (%) BRELERE(EHLL) 1.09 17.47 18.25 16.66 19.62

Interest Cover (times) FEBEL () -0.63 7.31 5.93 6.38 9.31

Current Ratio (times) el & (%) 1.36 1.44 1.36 1.44 1.43

Total Interest Bearing Debts to MEEEERRE L =)

Shareholders’ Funds Ratio (times) 0.78 0.70 0.59 0.33 0.41
Revenue Profit/(loss) from Operating Activities Net Profit from Ordinary Activities
A REER S (EBE) Attributable to Shareholders
RRELCBEEBZGNFHE
HK$m HK$m HK$m
BEEET BEEBT BEEET
73,499 2,114 1,372
70,319 1 ]
1,945 1,245
56,804
52,265 1,462 1,005
50,178
1,164 824
(180)
-~ -
(—
FY09/10  FY10/11 FY11/12  FY12/13 FY13* FY09/10  FY10/11 FY11/12  FY12/13 FY13* FY09/10  FY10/11 FY11/12  FY12/13 FY13*

- BE-—F—=F+=-A=+—HIL A
* For the nine months ended 31 December 2013
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Significant Events
A=

April

Ya’an City in Sichuan was unexpectedly hit by an earthquake.
Digital China responded swiftly by making a donation

Ya’an City in Sichuan was unexpectedly hit by an earthquake. Digital China
responded swiftly by making a donation.

“Digital China City Discovery Journey-Spring forum” was held in
Beijing

“Digital China City Discovery Journey-Spring forum” was held in Beijing.
The focus on “Big Data” therein has aroused vibrant discussion.

Successful tender of the “Safe City” project of Songyuan City,
Jilin Province.

Digital China won the tender of the “Safe City” project of Songyuan City,
Jilin Province.

May
Entered a deal and solely provide logistics service to BYD

Digital China IT Logistics stroke a deal with BYD to solely provide logistics
service to BYD ’s spare parts, for a period of 5 years starting from 1
June 2013.

Entered into a framework agreement with Huizhou for strategic
cooperation in Smart City strategy

Digital China entered into a framework agreement with Huizhou for
strategic cooperation in Smart City strategy.

Entered into a framework agreement with Chongqing for strategic
cooperation in Smart City strategy

Digital China entered into a framework agreement with Chongqging for
strategic cooperation in Smart City strategy.

Entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with Schneider

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
Schneider.
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Significant Events A %5 [0 &8

Smart City R&D Base was established in Nanjing
Digital China’s Smart City R&D Base was established in Nanjing.
Provide post-quake relief in Ya’an City, Sichuan

Digital China joined hands with Han Hong Charitable Foundation to
provide post-quake relief in Ya’an City, Sichuan.

June

DCITS was ranked the first among the “Top 5 Leading Gold
Service Providers”

At the ‘2013 China Solution Provider Forum & the Gold Software Gold
Service Survey Awarding Ceremony’ held in Beijing, Digital China
Information Service was ranked the first among the “Top 5 Leading Gold
Service Providers.”

“Fuzhou Integrated Citizen Service Platform” was featured in the
“11th China ¢ Strait Projects Trade Fair”

Digital China featured in the “11th China e Strait Projects Trade Fair”.
“Fuzhou Integrated Citizen Service Platform” was showcased as a key
project promoted by the Fuzhou Municipal Government.

“Cisco FY13 Best Partner — Greater China Award” and “Cisco
FY13 Global Service Innovation Award”

Cisco FY13 Global Partners Conference was held in Boston. Digital China
received the “Cisco FY13 Best Partner — Greater China Award” and “Cisco
FY13 Global Service Innovation Award” at Cisco FY13 prize-awarding
ceremony.

July

The NACS flow control solution passed Cisco’s CDN test

The NACS flow control solution self-developed by Digital China was
officially admitted to Cisco’s global product catalogue after undergoing
stringent examination by Cisco. Digital China became the first Chinese
company to pass Cisco’s CDN test.
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Significant Events X = [0] &8

No. 01 “Certificate of Compliance with ITSS Information
Technology Service Operation and Maintenance Standards”

A meeting for the assessment of compliance with “Standards for the
Operation and Maintenance of IT Services Part I: General Requirements”
was convened by the MIIT in Beijing. Digital China Advanced Systems
Service Limited was the first company that fulfilled the requirements and
obtained the No. 01 “Certificate of Compliance with ITSS Information
Technology Service Operation and Maintenance Standards”.

The meat and vegetable circulation and tracking system of
Wujiang in Jiangsu province passed the final inspection

The meat and vegetable circulation and tracking system of Wujiang in
Jiangsu province, developed by Digital China, passed the final inspection
after more than 3 months of trial operation.

Ranked 83rd in Fortune China 500 list for 2013

Digital China was ranked 83rd in Fortune China 500 list for 2013, on the
back of the company’s 2012 RMB600 million revenue. The company was
in the top 100 list for 4 years in a row.

“Smart Wuhan’ Discovering Journey” was held successfully in
Wuhan

The “12th Standing Committee Meeting of Wuhan Youth Federation and
Digital China’s ‘Smart Wuhan’ Discovering Journey” organised by the
Wuhan Municipal Committee of the Communist Youth League, Wuhan
Youth Federation and Digital China, was held successfully in Wuhan.

August

“Integrated Platform for Command in Earthquake and Emergency
Operations in Xi’an” passed the examination

The “Integrated Platform for Command in Earthquake and Emergency
Operations in Xi'an”, undertaken by Digital China, passed the examination
upon delivery and became the first of the kind adopted in sub-provincial
city.

“Digital Meishan” was delivered with success

Digital China delivered the overall planning of “Digital Meishan” with
success.

HEROIS(TSSER KN ETHE TR
EHEE)

TEMRELRABBRFTUE S RMRS E1T4#
& 1RO BRAEBOFTAENBEIESS -
HNBIS R G ERRBAERARHE —FBIB
ZERNEEERTORATSSE B R M ARG E
THESEFRMEEFES) -

AHRIARABEEHNRRBBLER

1N BB T & ROT AR BB Wi RI2RIER
HBIEZAMBET BN BABKRE -

BE(HE)2013FEPEHS00 8 £ HETHS
83%&

18N B R E2012F B 60018 T A REE A -
BE(BE)Y (X hR) 20134 1 50058 1 % 5F
1TH5 68345 4B % MY F A E P B5005% A Al
1004 °

[ERRE  BRZKIEMNERZET
MABTERNEMZ RETHEB I @ MNE
BERABMNRNETSFHAGET_ETZ
SEMMBBIEZHZ - B3R ZIKIIBEFER
REBIT -

MR

(ARMEESEE-RBILRAFEIRRNE
BEERW

MM B AN AR EESEE -8B
gftFellErEsEsinl  SREEES—
BRIERB T —RICHBERIIBERMFS -
(88 LU 48 88 58 BIIE 7 32 4

MBI EFE L ERRBNEN A -

HNBEERARATF 07
20134 4R



Significant Events A %5 [0 &8

September

Foshan’s Integrated Citizen Services Platform was recognized
formally as Foshan Government’s official webpage for public
services

Foshan’s Integrated Citizen Services Platform, built by Digital China, was
recognized formally as Foshan Government’s official webpage for public
services.

“Foshan Citizens” was rated as the most useful app

“Foshan Citizens”, a smart phone app for Foshan’s Public Information
Service Platform, designed and constructed by Digital China, was rated
as the most useful app.

Successful tender for the logistics service of China Mobile
Terminal Company for 2013 to 2016

Digital China IT Logistics won the logistics service bid of China Mobile
Device for 2013 to 2016.

Elected as the chairman unit of the Federation of Smart Industries
of Guangzhou Development District

Digital China was elected as the chairman unit of the Federation of Smart
Industries of Guangzhou Development District, at the inaugural assembly
and first council meeting.

October

The Changshu Citizen Card self-developed by Digital China was
successfully launched

The Changshu Citizen Card self-developed by Digital China was
successfully launched.

Public information service platform self-developed by Digital
China, was formally launched

China’s first public information service platform self-developed by Digital
China, was formally launched in Beijing headquarter.

08 Digital China Holdings Limited
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Significant Events X = [0] &8

Entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Beijing’s Haidian District

Digital China and Beijing’s Haidian District entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement for building the “Smart Haidian”.

A joint technology exchanges gathering by Digital China and
Microsoft was successfully held in Beijing

A joint technology exchanges gathering by Digital China and Microsoft
was successfully held in Beijing.

Zhangjiagang’s Integrated Citizen Services Webpage System,
developed by Digital China, went online officially

Zhangjiagang’s Integrated Citizen Services Webpage System, developed
by Digital China, went online officially.

Digital China and Baiyin City entered into a strategic framework
agreement for Smart City strategies

Digital China and Baiyin City entered into a strategic framework agreement
for Smart City strategies.

The Forum titling “Discovering the City. Journey of Innovation”
was held in Qingdao

The Forum titling “Discovering the City. Journey of Innovation” was held
in Qingdao. It was initiated by The Economic and Information Industry
Commission of Qingdao, co-organised by Digital China and China Alliance
of Smart City Technologies.

Entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Qingdao City

Digital China and Qingdao City entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement, aiming at full-scale cooperation in Smart City
construction and nourishing smart industries.
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Significant Events A %5 [0 &8

November
“Gold Award” in The Asset’s 2013 Corporate Awards

Digital China won the “Gold Award” in The Asset’'s 2013 Corporate
Awards. It is the fourth consecutive year that the company received such
an honour.

Successful tender for Nanning Citizen Card software development
project

Digital China won the tender for Nanning Citizen Card software
development project (Phase 1).

Entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Benxi municipal government

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement
with Benxi municipal government. to bring public information service
platforms, citizen cards and other Smart City products to Benxi.

Digital China’s Xi’an Technology Park Phase 2 held a site topping
ceremony

Digital China’s Xi'an Technology Park Phase 2 held a site topping
ceremony.

December
DCN was named in two technology innovation awards

Digital China Networks, Ltd. (“DCN”) showcased its new-generation data-
centre products at the “10th Conference for Network Administration
Technologies” and returned with two technology innovation awards.

DCN won the tender for China Mobile’s SDN project

Digital China’s DCN won the tender for China Mobile’s SDN project,
becoming the sole equipment provider for that project.

Mr. Guo Wei was named one of the “Most Influential Leaders of
Listed Companies”

Mr. Guo Wei, Chairman of Digital China, was named one of the “Most
Influential Leaders of Listed Companies” in the China Securities Gold
Bauhinia Award.

1 l] Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Significant Events X = [0] &8

Partner with ZTE for a concerted effort on cloud computing
strategy

Digital China announced its strategic partnership with ZTE for a concerted
effort on ZTE’s cloud computing strategy. Both parties will have full-scale
cooperation in relevant areas such as server storage, cloud computing
software platform, desk-top virtualisation and data centers.

Digital China’s software development and construction project
for the information platform of Xiging District Health Bureau of
Tianjin passed the examination and evaluation

The software development and construction project for the information
platform of Xiging District Health Bureau of Tianjin, undertaken by Digital
China, passed the examination and evaluation of the Procurement Centre
of the Tianjin Government.

Entered a strategic cooperation agreement with China Mobile
Terminal Company Limited

Digital China IT Logistics and China Mobile Group Device Company
Limited reached a strategic cooperation agreement.
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GOVERNMENT AND THIRD PARTY ORGANIZATION

Zhongguancun National Proprietary

Innovation Showcase Zone New Technology

and New Product (Service) Award (DCFW-
1800E-N7204, DCRS-7604E, DCRS-
6808E, DCRS-7608E, DCRS-9808, DCRS-
9816,DCRS-6804E)

2013 Top 10 Leading Enterprise of China’s
Software and Information Service Industries

Best IT Service Enterprise of China’s
Communication Industry

Best Wireless Solution 2013

China Gold Services 2013 “Top 5 Service
Providers”

Chinese IT Service Market Successful
Enterprise 2012-2013

Innovative Product Technology Award

Network Administrators Survey-Most
Influential Brand in China 2013

Excellent Innovative Enterprise of China’s
Electronic and Information Industry

Guo Wei was awarded “2013 Top 10
Leaders in the Software and IT Services
Industry in China”

2012 Innovative and Best Market
Development Enterprise of Hubei

Beijing Municipal
Science and Technology
Commission

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Center for Information
Industry Development

China Electronics
Enterprises Association

China Software Industry
Association, China Center
for Information Industry
Development and “Software
and Information Service”
Magazine

Hubei Zong Gong Hui,
Science and Technology
Department of Hubei
Province, Wuhan Donghu
Gaoxin District Managing
Committee and Hubei
Private Economy Research
Institute
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DCRS-6804E)
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Awards #ZI§

Gold Award - 17th International Soft China
(Digital Chin’s Cloud Computing Data Centre
operating system V2.1)

Innovation Award - 17th International Soft
China (for Digital China’s Cloud Integration

Solution V1.0)

Outstanding Contribution Award - National
Vocational School Capacity Contest

Excellent Enterprises in Technological

Innovation 2012

BUSINESS PARTNERS

Major Account Partner Award 2013
Best Partnership Award

FY14 Most Valuable General Distributor

(China)

Long-term Cooperation Award
Global Excellent Distributor

FY13 “Cisco Solutions” Contest — Winner

FY13 Cicso Data Center Best General
Distributor — Asia Pacific

FY13 Cisco Best Marketing Integrated
Campaign Award — Asia Pacific

FY13 Cisco Best Service Distribution Dealer

— Greater China

1 4 Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

Organising Committee of
International Soft China

Organising Committee of
International Soft China

Organising Committee of
National Vocational School

Capacity Contest

Wuhan Science and
Technology Bureau, Wuhan
Association for Science
and Technology, Wuhan
Enterprise Confederation,

Wuhan Enterprise
Association

Acer
AMD

BlueCoat

Canon
Cassidian

Cisco

Cisco

Cisco

Cisco
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Awards #2158

FY13 Cisco Best Data Center Partner — Asia
Pacific

FY13 Cisco Best Distribution Dealer —
Greater China

FY13 Cisco Best Partner — Greater China

FY13 Cisco Worldwide Service Innovation
Award

Excellent Sales Management Award
Velocity Services Quality Award
VSPEX Distributor of the Year

2013 Fortinet Distributing Partner (China)

Excellent Big Customer ASC Support Award
— HP Longhua Station

Excellent Big Customer Partner Supporting
Award

First in Partners with Excellent Operations

Monthly Excellent ASC Award — HP
Jiangmen Station

Quarterly Big Customer Support Award —
HP Longhua Station

Quarterly Excellent ASC Award — HP
Nanning Station

Second in Partners with Excellent
Operations

Best Partnership Award

2013 Huawei Best Contribution Award for
General Distributor

2013 Huawei Agisson General Distributor
Service Support Award

Cisco

Cisco

Cisco

Cisco

Dell

EMC

EMC

Fortinet

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

Hewlett-Packard

HGST

Huawei

Huawei
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Awards #ZI§

2013 Huawei Strategic Customer Huawei 01IBFEAHMEFLRWE FAH
Breakthrough Award
IBM 2013 Best Software Distributor Award IBM IBM 2013 F E B & EH#H IBM
3

IBM 2013 Outstanding Contribution Award IBM IBM 2013 F EH L BB IBM
APAC Innovative Partner of the Year Juniper Networks APACEEZAI B A ER & EiE A4
FY13 Juniper Networks Best Distributor — Juniper Networks FY13 Juniper Networks K BE 18 48 4%
Greater China EERGEIHED
Microsoft FY13 Authorized Distribution Microsoft MEFYI3R A D HERE M=
Partners — Best Regional Development [ 13 5 #h 4%
Award
Microsoft FY13 Named Account Resellers — Microsoft MEFYIBREFHEEHEE ME
Partner of the Year ABIER 42
Microsoft FY13 Strategic Partners — Microsoft WEMFYI3HBEEKESIER ME
Partner of the Year (China) *
Best Partner Award Polycom REGIEBHE =RlE|
Best Partner of the Year Polycom REAGIEBHE =RlEE
2013 Outstanding Partner of the year Radware 2013F E AL B Radware
Best Contribution Award VSENS xEERE 4 38 2 A%
Excellent Supplier 2013 Walmart 2013 FBFHIER RIS
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Awards #ZI§

MEDIA ORGANIZATION

2013 Top 10 Providers of Data Solutions
(Green Data Solutions)

2013 Top 10 Providers of
Telecommunications Sector Solutions

2013 Top 100 Solutions Providers in China
(Cloud Platform)

2013 CIO Trusted Excellent Product Award
2013 Fortune China 500

Guo Wei was awarded “Top 50 Most
Influential Business Leaders in China”

2013 Product Innovation Award

2013 China IT Service and Product Sales
Golden Label (“Real Easy” Services)

2013 Best Exemplary Brand for Public
Satisfaction in China’s IT Service Industry

2013 Innovative Core Switch Product

Guo Wei was awarded “Most Influential
Leaders of Listed Companies” in China
Securities Gold Bauhinia Award

Corporate Gold Award

2013 ZDNET Product and Technology
Excellence Award

2013 Excellent Product Award

Business Partner

Business Partner

Business Partner

ChinaByte
Fortune China

Fortune China

IT168.com

Economy

Economy

Network World

Ta Kung Pao

The Asset

ZDNet.com.cn

Zol.com.cn
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2013 marked the beginning of the Chinese
government’s new leadership headed by President
Xi Jinping, whose notion of the “Chinese Dream”
has embodied the ardent wish of the people. At
the Third Plenary Session of 18th CPC Central
Committee, the horn for deepening the full-scale
reforms was blown aloud. 2013 was also an
exciting year for China’s Internet industry, as IT
consumption was lifted to national strategic level,
while a new theme of urbanisation also emerged.

Mr. GUO Wei
BREE
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Chairman’s Statement = f& #l &

Smert City is a derivative emerged when information technology advances
to the virtual image stage and urbanisation reaches a critical point. With
innovation and integration of advanced technologies such as Internet,
Mobile Internet, Cloud Computing, Big Data and others, we can boost
China’s new urbanisation with enhanced productivity, optimised industry
structure and improved city management. Through this the vision of
“information technology benefiting people” can be accomplished in all-
round way.

After three years’ of investigations, the scope of Digital China’'s Sm@rt
City Business stretches from consultancy and planning at top level, to IT
infrastructure construction and the Sm@rt City operation. We are at the
industry leading position in concepts, technologies and implementation of
Sm@art City Business. A series of Sm@rt City national policies announced
by the Government in the middle of last year, such as “Several Opinions
on Promoting Information Consumption and Boosting Domestic Demand”
issued by the State Council and “Action Plans for Intensified Integration
of Informatization and Industrialization” issued by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, have reinforced our resolution and faith in
transition to Sm@rt City development. When Premier Li Keqgiang recently
gave a detailed account of the objectives, approaches and critical points
of Sm@rt City construction, which were in perfect resonance with Digital
China’s exploration, in which we had never felt as synchronised with the
nation’s economic development as now.

As we can see, since the birth of the Internet, the winners indeed
have always been those platforms. The development of our Sm@rt City
business is also heading toward this direction. The Public Information
Service Platform, self-developed by the Group, as the core supporting
system of Sm@rt City, has been designed to link up citizens, government
and commercial entities, and to blend various types of services. As
such, it is a precious treasure in O20 (Online-to-Offline) services and
Big Data applications. Our Public Information Service Platforms have
been launched in Fuzhou, Foshan and Zhangjiagang, while strategic
cooperation agreements have been signed with more than 10 cities
including Chongqing, Qingdao and Wuhan. At the end of October, we
further launched Public Information Service Platform 2.0 and set targets
for the next three years.

Beside developing growth niches in new areas, the Group has not
neglected reinforcing its leading position in traditional business and
prudently addressing challenges. During the year past, owing to
uncertainties in China’s macro-economy and the rapidly changing
product and market profiles, the Group has experienced difficult time
and reported a notable decline in traditional IT product distribution. The
Group’s presence in consumer IT distribution, especially in mobile Internet
products and e-commerce channels, is yet to be reinforced. It was under
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Chairman’s Statement = & #l &

enormous pressure given the shrink of traditional PC market and the rise
of e-commerce players. In the Enterprise Market, the rise of domestic
brands is a long trend. This to some degree hurts the Group as we mostly
cooperate with international brands. Our Systems Business was also hit
by Chinese enterprises’ cautious IT procurements in 2013.

The management has adopted a three-pronged strategy of “Controlling
Costs, Adjusting Structures and ldentifying Breakthroughs” to tackle
challenges arising from complicated market conditions. In face of surging
market risks, we responded promptly by adjusting our cost structure
to better withstand adversity. Next, we conscientiously analysed market
conditions to identify the right direction for adjustment. By introducing
new Mobile Internet products, strengthening cooperation with domestic
brands and launching our proprietary brand products in certain sub-
segment markets, Digital China was able to steer toward the vast sea.
Thereafter, we were focused on identifying breakthroughs to foster long-
term competitive strengths. Distribution Business has introduced the
innovative “Omni-Chinese Marketing” scheme, while Systems Business
has been developing our proprietary brand. The Sme@rt City, as the
breakthrough gateway for the Group, has stayed firm in Internet-based
approach.

In 2013, the Group achieved a breakthrough in the capital market. Digital
China Information Service Co., Ltd. (“DCITS”), our subsidiary engaging in
IT services, went listed in A-share market in December through merging
with Shenzhen Techo (000555.SZ7). With the objective of providing
comprehensive [T solutions to customers, our IT Services Business has
ascended to another level after 7 to 8 years of extensive work. The listing
will substantially enhance the brand reputation of DCITS in the IT services
sector while fully unleash the intrinsic value of the Group. By establishing
the financing platforms in both mainland China and Hong Kong, we
have the option of resorting to reasonable financing means to grow our
business in the future. For the purposes of auditing and information
disclosure, the financial year end of the Group has been changed from 31
March to 31 December, hence the financial year under review comprises
only nine months.

In recent years, beside the traditional business, all business segments
have entered a fast track. To support our strategic transition and adapt
to the rapidly changing IT industry, the Group will revise its management
philosophy in 2014. Each business unit will run its independent corporate
planning, financial and human resources systems based on clearly-defined
business scope and strategic directions. This grants them flexibility and
room to excel in respective areas. Through authorization of decision-
making to frontline business units, we also hope to lay a “stage without
ceiling” that helps unleash the potential productivity of these business
units.

20 Digital China Holdings Limited
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Chairman’s Statement = f& #l &

During the year, the Group continued to be honoured with numerous
awards. These signified public recognition to the Group’s contributions on
driving informatisation in China and its advanced management standards.
For four years in a row, the Group was named “The Asset’s Corporate
Awards — Gold Award” presented by The Asset magazine. The Asset also
presented us as one of the “China’s Most Promising Companies”. Besides,
the Group was ranked 83rd in Fortune China 500, being in the top 100
for four consecutive years. | myself is much encouraged by the honour of
being named among Fortune’s “Top 50 Most Influential Business Leaders
in China,” as well as the “Most Influential Leaders of Listed Companies”
in China Securities Gold Bauhinia Award.

2013 was a year in which Digital China was bold to changes and
challenges, advancing toward the ambition. Here on behalf of the Board
of Directors and the employees, | would like to express gratitude to our
customers and shareholders for their support on Digital China during the
year past. In 2014, the Group will continue to gear up and move forward
in solid steps, embracing the future with great passion, striving to deliver
value to shareholders, customers and the society as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B G AT B AT

Unprecedented challenges encountered by each IT sub-segment market had
subjected the Group’s operation to significant impact since the beginning of FY2013,
leading to a decline of the Group’s financial results. This was partly due to slowdown
in China’s economic growth amid structural transition, while the accelerated change
in IT product profile and the industry’s competitive landscape also played a part.
The Group’s management made extensive adjustments to the business operations
based on changes in market conditions, adopting the three-pronged strategy of
“Controlling Costs, Adjusting Structures and Identifying Breakthroughs”. First of
all, we sought to match our business progress with costs through “Controlling
Costs” so as to withstand market volatility. Next, after market analysis, we pinned
down specific approach to “Adjusting Structures” and implemented step by step.
After completing those mentioned above, the management focused their efforts on
“Identifying Breakthroughs” for building the Group’s long-term competitive strengths.
The Group’s management strives to make breakthroughs in traditional businesses
such as Distribution and Systems, while establishing an independent financing
platform for IT Services Business and cultivating Sm@rt City as a new growth niche.
These three measures have started to yield initial results and, more importantly, laid
a foundation for the Group’s future development, allowing the management to have
a better visibility of what lies ahead. Firstly, the Distribution Business has stabilised,
with clear objectives for adjusting structures of products and channels. Secondly,
the adjustment of the Systems Business is also directed towards a concrete goal,
addressing the long-term rising trend of domestic brands. Thirdly, the Sm@rt City
business will be based on the Internet model and future investment will be backed
by a clear vision. Finally, an array of capital market operations have seen productive
outcomes, highlighted by the successful spin-off listing of IT Services Business and
lucrative returns for our investment in HC International.

1.1. Ongoing weakness of IT market and the rapidly changing
market profile led to year-on-year decline in the Group’s full-
year revenue and profit.

During the financial year (nine months ended 31 December 2013,
and hereafter), the IT market displayed continued weakness,
significant changes in product and competition profile, and
intensified market competition. Affected by such factors, the Group
reported revenue of approximately HK$52,265 million for the
financial year under review, a decrease of 7.78% as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year. The overall gross profit
margin declined by 80 basis points to 6.46%, as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year. A one-off financial loss of
approximately HK$549 million arising from the dilution of the Group’s
equity interest following spin-off of the IT Services Business, which
was not a real cash outflow, was booked in December. The financial
loss is slightly different from the HK$600 million loss announced by
the Company on 27 January 2014. This is because in calculating the
transaction costs for the absorption and merger of the IT Services,
the fair value of the assets of the IT Services as at 30 April 2013 was
used in the announcement published in January 2014, while the fair

22 Digital China Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis ‘& 12 [& #ff 5 &2 75 4T

value of the assets of the IT Services as at 31 December 2013 was
used when the financial loss was recorded in December 2013. In
addition, the provision for employees’ bonuses that was historically
accounted for during the fourth quarter of the financial year were
made and recorded earlier in December, due to the change of the
financial year end date of the Company. As affected by the aforesaid
factors, profit attributable to equity holders in the financial year
amounted to approximately HK$84 million, a decrease of 92.82%
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
Basic earnings per share amounted to 7.87 HK cents, representing
a decrease of 101.77 HK cents from 109.64 HK cents reported in
the corresponding period of last financial year. For the third quarter
of the financial year (three months ended 31 December 2013, and
hereafter), the Group reported revenue of approximately HK$18,636
million, a decrease of 3.29% as compared to the corresponding
period of last financial year. Gross profit margin was 7.02%,
dropped by 99 basis points as compared to the corresponding
period of last financial year. Excluding the impact of the two above
mentioned one-off events, profit attributable to equity holders for
the third quarter of the financial year under review would have been
approximately HK$152 million.
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1.2.

1.3.

24

“Controlling Costs”, expenses continued to decrease.
“Adjusting Structures”, addressed changes in products
profile and competition landscape in the market. Through
enhanced management, we have also achieved sound cash
flow performance.

Amidst declining results, the Group continued to report reduced
expenditure following stringent cost control measures and
adjustment to resources input. Since initiating human resources
optimisation, the staff headcount of the traditional businesses
(the Distribution Business and the Systems Business) has been
reduced by approximately 1,600 employees. The Group’s selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses for the
financial year decreased by 6.45% and 12.09%, respectively,
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
To address the changing market environment, the Group made
proactive moves to adjust its business mix. While consolidating
our fundamental business, we also increased our coverage of
Mobile Internet products and e-commerce, and expanded into new
business frontiers such as domestic brands, to develop a more
comprehensive business exposure. Sales of Apple products and
Microsoft Surface tablets continued to register significant growth,
and our Mobile Internet business unit in the third quarter of the
financial year grew by 64% year-on-year. Our domestic brand
business, highlighted by Huawei, also sustained substantial growth.
Sales of Huawei products increased 64% year-on-year during the
financial year. The Group continued to report net cash inflow from
operating activities thanks to its implementation of a stringent risk
control measures, taking full account of market volatility risk. Net
cash inflow from operating activities for the financial year amounted
to approximately HK$534 million, while net cash inflow from
operating activities for the third quarter amounted to approximately
HK$290 million, ensuring stable operation of the Group’s business.

“ldentifying Breakthroughs”, to build long-term competitive
strengths, keep innovating in traditional business and
progress firmly in Sm@rt City.

Regarding our traditional business, we continue to identify gateway
for breakthroughs. Our Distribution Business pioneered in the
industry in proposing the “Omni-Channel” marketing scheme,
while our Systems Business was also drawing up strategies to
address the challenge stemming from the rise of domestic brands.
Encouraged by a series of Sm@rt City policies launched by the
Central Government, the Group’s management reaffirmed its
determination to head towards Sm@rt City strategy and to foster
new growth niches. During the financial year under review, the
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1.4.

2.1.

Group realised breakthroughs in virtual image technology which is
a foundation for Public Information Service Platform, and launched
Public Information Service Platform 2.0 in Beijing in October 2013.
The launch has not only consolidated the Group’s leading position in
this field, but also given us deeper insight into patterns of Internet-
based business. During the third quarter of the financial year under
review, the Group entered into Sm@rt City strategic cooperation
agreements with cities like Qingdao, Benxi and Baiyin, with 7 cities
in total signed up for strategic cooperation during the financial year
under review. Digital China’s Public Information Service Platform will
be promoted in these cities. By the end of 2013, Integrated Citizen
Service Platforms have commenced operation in Foshan, Fuzhou
and Zhangjiagang. For 2014, we aim to extend coverage to more
than 10 cities, by when Digital China’'s Sm@rt City initiative will have
footprint across all major regions of China.

Productive operations in the capital market.

As for the capital market, the Group’s IT Services Business was
listed in A-share market in late 2013 to unleash its enormous
intrinsic value. This new financing platform has enabled IT Services
Business extended development through investment and merger
and acquisition, and laid a foundation for expediting its business
development. Concerning the auditing and information disclosure
requirements in the two places of listing, in order to bring the
financial year end of the Group in line with its subsidiaries, the
financial year end of the Company was changed from 31 March
to 31 December. Hence the financial year under review comprises
only nine months. As part of our Sm@rt City strategy, the Group
continued to increase investment in HC International during the
financial year under review. We are going to launch the micro-credit
Internet financing business in partnership with HC International in
future.

Distribution Business: primary focus on the SMB & Consumer
Markets, engaging in the distribution of general IT products such as
notebook computers, desktop computers, peripherals, accessories
and consumer IT products.

Year-on-year decline in Distribution Business revenue
attributable to the fast-changing profile of consumer
IT market marked by continuous decline in demand for
traditional products and rapid adjustment of channels
profiles. Our Distribution Business was under pressure amid a
dwindling PC market throughout the year, despite rapid growth of
its e-commerce business, which carried a much smaller weight
than the traditional channels. Affected by this, revenue from
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the Distribution Business of the Group within the financial year
amounted to approximately HK$26,254 million, down by 7.70% as
compared to the corresponding period of last financial year. While
assuring market share for traditional products, the Group made an
effort to boost sales of consumer IT products and accessories.
These two categories registered rapid growth of 34.39% and
18.51% respectively (excluding CES channel) during the third
quarter of the financial year, driving a 1.56% year-on-year growth
in the overall revenue of the Distribution Business to approximately
HK$9,036 million for the third quarter of the financial year, and
preliminarily curbing the declining trend. The Distribution Business
is among the first to implement human resources optimisation.
Excluding the advanced provision of employees’ bonuses, the
business segment reported a 33% reduction in human resources
expenses as compared to the corresponding period of last financial
year.

Reinforcing traditional businesses while speeding up
development in emerging sectors, as the scope of
cooperation with core e-commerce customers continued to
broaden. While securing our existing market share in traditional
products, we continued to enhance development in the Mobile
Internet sector. The Mobile Internet business achieved a significant
year-on-year growth of 64% in revenue in the third quarter of
the financial year, thanks to significant sales growth of Apple
products and Microsoft Surface tablets. Meanwhile, the Group
kept expanding its cooperation with core e-commerce customers
like JD.com and Yixun, enlarging share of e-commerce channels
in our total sales. In a bid to strive for breakthroughs in business
models, Distribution Business proposed the “Omni-Channel”
marketing scheme, a pioneer move in the industry that has won
initial reorganization from partners.

Systems Business: primary focus on the Enterprise Market,
offering value-added distribution of systems products such as
servers, networking products, storage products and packaged
software.

Year-on-year decline in Systems Business revenue owing
to slowdown in enterprise IT infrastructure investment and
accelerated changes in market profile driven by the rise of
domestic brands. Affected by macro-economic conditions, there
was a notable slowdown in domestic enterprise IT infrastructure
investments. In the meantime, domestic brands are rapidly
expanding market shares in major areas such as networking,
servers and information security, resulting a significant impact in
market profile, to the extent that major foreign vendors reported
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2.3.

negative growth. Affected by the stated factors, revenue from the
Group’s Systems Business within the financial year decreased to
approximately HK$17,638 million, a 14.46% decline as compared to
the corresponding period of last financial year. Revenue from the
Group’s Systems Business for the third quarter of the financial year
decreased to approximately HK$5,624 million, a 22.65% decline
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
Gross profit margin of the Systems Business decreased to 7.43%
in the third quarter of the financial year, due to escalating market
competition. Excluding the advanced provision of employees’
bonuses, human resource expenses of this business segment in
this financial year decreased 8% as compared to the corresponding
period of last financial year.

Securing leading position in traditional areas by focusing
on market-share management, while expediting rolling out
and expanding business with domestic brands to grasp
growth opportunities in sub-segment markets. In response
to challenging market conditions, the Group’s Systems Business
assured its leadership in market shares for core product lines
thanks to persistent efforts in market-share management. In the
meantime, the Group expedited rolling out and expanding business
with domestic brands, introducing domestic brand product lines
in application areas such as information security, and optimized
product profile continuously. Our domestic brand business,
highlighted by Huawei, reported substantial growth. Sales of Huawei
products grew by 64% year-on-year within the financial year.
Moreover, sales of packaged software products for the third quarter
also grew by 5.13% as compared to the corresponding period of
last financial year, as we leveraged growth opportunities in the
packaged software market. We were also identifying breakthroughs
for our Systems Business with attempts to build our proprietary
brand, in response to the long-term challenges stemming from the
rise of domestic brands.

Services Business: primary focus on the Industry clients, offering
products and services in IT planning, IT system consultation,
industry application softwares, solution design and implementation,
outsourcing of IT system operation as well as systems integration
and maintenance.

Growth in the Services Business thanks to persistent
advancement in customer plan and enhanced efforts in
industry diversification and regional coverage. In response
to the decline in government investments and IT demand from
customers, the Group persisted in advancing its customer plan and
broadening customer coverage, while being prudent in selection of
clients and businesses to ensure the quality of business. Expansion
efforts were put to meet the needs of the financial, telecom carrier,
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energy, power, government & corporations and military sectors to
ensure efficient coverage of target sectors and solid support for
steady growth of the Services Business. Revenue from the Group’s
Services Business for the financial year under review increased to
approximately HK$7,307 million, an 8.18% growth as compared to
the corresponding period of last financial year. Revenue from the
Group’s Services Business for the third quarter of the financial
year increased to approximately HK$3,570 million, a 27.62% growth
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
Revenue from the financial sector for the financial year under
review increased by 8.36%, as we achieved breakthroughs in scale
or products with Bank of China, Bank of Jilin, Bank of Suzhou,
Bank of Zhumadian and Urumgi City Commercial Bank. Revenue
from the telecom carrier sector mostly stay flat year-on-year, while
breakthroughs were achieved in ICT business in Yunnan, Hubei,
Jiangsu and Tibet. Revenue from the government & corporations
sub-sectors grew by 11.55%, as we snatched up regional projects
of State Grid in Hunan, Hubei, Zhejiang, Xinjiang and Shandong. We
also made progress with our core customer China Southern Power
Grid, securing projects of its UHV Bureau, Guizhou Bureau and
Yunnan Bureau. In the Internet sector, we leveraged opportunities
afforded by Alibaba’s increase in procurement, and entered into a
sizeable contract with Baidu.

Strategic transformation was in progress, underpinned by
steady growth in the proportion of self-developed software,
technology services and ATM equipment businesses and an
optimised business mix. In persistent efforts to advance business
transformation, the weightings of software, technology services,
operation, proprietary brand equipment continued to grow year by
year, generating a revenue of approximately HK$2,535 million for
the financial year under review, which was 12% higher compared
to the corresponding period of last financial year, and contributing
over 60% of profit for an optimised profit structure. The Services
Business continued to amass technologies and conducted R&D
on industry application solutions, increasing customer stickiness
and profitability of the business fundamentally. Meanwhile, we also
enhanced our project management capabilities. Gross profit margin
for the software and technology services parts of the Services
Business was 26% for the financial year under review, which largely
stays flat as compared to the same period of last financial year.
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2.4. Supply Chain Services Business: primary focus on the markets

of Hi-Tech Industries, Branded e-Commerce Platform Operators
and Branded Services Providers, providing “one-stop” consultancy
and execution services on logistics, business flow, capital flow and
information flow.

Enhanced our servicing ability steadily and reaped notable
results in our marketing and expansion efforts in a fast-
growing market. The Supply Chain Services Business reported
overall revenue of approximately HK$1,065 million for the financial
year under review, an increase by 24.64% compared to the same
period of last financial year. Revenue for the third quarter of the
financial year amounted to approximately HK$406 million, an
increase by 33.29% compared to the same period of last financial
year. During the financial year under review, the Group achieved a
major breakthroughs in customer marketing for its logistics business
as it has been fostering capabilities in centralised procurement
tenders and total outsourcing services for large customers, and
assumed a pole position in the market of logistics service providers
for the telecommunication industry. We won the centralised logistics
service procurement bid of China Mobile Terminal Company
and accomplished business deployment in the carrier sector as
planned at the beginning of the financial year. In connection with
BYD, we completed taking over BYD’s outsourced personnel and
warehouses in various locations, providing a successful precedent
in total logistics outsourcing and M&A. We steadily enhanced our
capabilities in warehousing, transportation and delivery, as well as
forged a Warehouse Management System, to support operations
of the logistics business. Apart from the logistics business, the
Group was also closely monitoring potential opportunities presented
by Mobile Internet products and e-commerce channels, making
progress in expanding our brand maintenance service. Following
the launch of nationwide maintenance services for Surface tablets,
we also signed up Xiaomi in the Mobile Internet sector. The Group
had started exploring new business models in Internet maintenance
service with Yixun and Qihoo 360. Meanwhile, at the end of the
financial year, the number of profitable stores grew by 42% as we
continued to focus on lifting per-store profitability.

Management Outlook

Under the impact of macro-economic weakness coupled with
adjustments in the market landscape, 2013 has been a difficult year
for the Group’s traditional business. In the new financial year, the
Group has revised its past management philosophy to better adapt
to the fast-changing IT industry. Each business unit will focus on its
own business field, formulating and adjusting its strategy direction
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according to market changes. The authorization of decision-making
to frontline business units will drive more initiative to unleash their
productivity. Looking forward to 2014, following thorough analysis
of market trends, the Group’s management is of the view that initial
signs of stabilization of Consumer IT market have been seen while
demand in the Enterprise IT market, which is yet to stabilise, will pick
up gradually, and expect those factors to provide solid supports for
the Group’s results. As market conditions likely remain complicated,
the Group’s management will closely monitor new trends in the
market as it continued to complete its business deployment, in a
bid to maintain its long-term competitive strengths. In 2014, our IT
Services Business will embark on a new journey, while our logistics
business will also continue to see solid developments driven by
e-commerce and Mobile Internet development. Meanwhile, at the
senior official meeting of China-EU Partnership on Urbanisation
Summit held at the end of last year, Premier Li Kegiang voiced
his full support for Sm@rt City development, giving a detailed
exposition of the objective, approach and critical points of Sm@rt
City construction. This was in perfect resonance with the Group’s
exploration all along. Together with a series of national policies
on Sm@rt City development announced in 2013, this has given
immense encouragement to the management. In the next three
years, the Group will roll out its Sm@rt City operation business in
full scale, with the aim of extending the scope of covered cities,
driving the Group’s transformation to an Internet-based business
model, in a bid to deliver greater value for shareholders.

Capital Expenditure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group mainly finances its operations with internally generated cash
flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$30,100 million at 31 December
2013 which were financed by total liabilities of HK$21,053 million, non-
controlling interests of HK$1,321 million and equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent of HK$7,726 million. The Group’s current ratio at 31
December 2013 was 1.36 as compared to 1.44 at 31 March 2013.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, capital expenditure of
HK$553 million was mainly incurred for the acquisition of land, properties,
office equipment and IT infrastructure facilities.
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The aggregate borrowings as a ratio of equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent was 0.78 at 31 December 2013 as compared to
0.70 at 31 March 2013. The computation of the said ratio was based on
the total interest-bearing bank borrowings of HK$6,034 million (31 March
2013: HK$5,515 million) and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent of HK$7,726 million (31 March 2013: HK$7,826 million).

At 31 December 2013, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank
borrowings of the Group was shown as follows:

EHEERAEEIRARREELERZEER
=+ -A=+—HAE078  MR_ZT—
ZF=ZA=+—HAE0.70 » Ll Lt RiZH BIR1T
BERpmEEEe 4B L (ZE—Z=ZF=ZA=
+—HB:B55158 &) R AR R R EGE
maKreEBL(ZE—=F=-A=+—8:
BT 826E B IT)RTHE ©

R-FB-—Z=ZF+-"A=1+—8 AEENHER
TERNBERELNT :

Denominated

Denominated

in United Denominated in Hong Kong
States dollars in Renminbi dollars Total
UERE LAR®A LEBRA
ERE ERE ERE -1
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT IT BT IT BT IT
Current i &h
Interest-bearing bank M ESRITE R -
borrowings, unsecured E 2,818,208 629 900,350 3,719,187
Non-current E 358 )
Interest-bearing bank B ERITE K
borrowings, unsecured 4 4 1 2,314,853 — — 2,314,853
Total st 5,133,061 629 900,350 6,034,040

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group’s subsidiary, Digital
China Technology Limited, entered into a facility agreement with a
syndicate of banks for a three-year loan facility of US$150 million for the
purpose of financing general working capital of the Group. Included in the
Group’s non-current bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,163 million
(equivalent to US$150 million) as at 31 December 2013 represented the
syndicated loan repayable in three years from the date of the drawdown
and were guaranteed by the Company.

Included in the Group’s current and non-current bank borrowings
of approximately HK$1,163 million and HK$2,315 million respectively
represented the term loans and are repayable from Year 2014 to 2016.
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The Group’s total available credit facilities at 31 December 2013
amounted to HK$37,137 million, of which HK$5,250 million were in term
loan facilities, HK$14,050 million were in trade lines and HK$17,837 million
were in short-term and revolving money market facilities. At 31 December
2013, the facility drawn down was HK$4,127 million in term loan facilities,
HK$4,898 million in trade lines and HK$1,336 million in short-term and
revolving money market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued performance
bonds to some customers for potential claims of non-performance in order
to satisfy the specific requirements of these customers. As no material
claims had been made by the customers under such performance bonds
in the past, the management considers that the possibility of realisation
of any actual material liabilities arising from such performance bonds is
remote.

Human Resources

At 31 December 2013, the Group had approximately 9,800 (31 March
2013: approximately 10,600) full-time employees. The majority of these
employees work in the PRC. The Group offers remuneration packages
in line with industry practice. Employees’ remuneration includes basic
salaries and bonuses. With the decrease in the total number of staff
to cope with its business requirements, the Group has recorded a
1.66% decrease in staff costs to approximately HK$1,826 million for the
nine months ended 31 December 2013 as compared to approximately
HK$1,857 million for the corresponding period of the last financial year.
In order to attract and retain a high caliber of capable and motivated
workforce, the Company offers share-based incentive schemes to staff
based on the individual performance and the achievements of the
Company’s targets. The Group is committed to providing its staff with
various in-house and external training and development programs.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEZHEE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 51, is the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Group and is responsible for the strategic development and management
of the Group. Mr. Guo had been the Vice Chairman, the President and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group since February 2001 and was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in December
2007. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the
Company. Mr. Guo obtained a Master’s Degree from the Graduate School
of the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly known as Graduate School
of the University of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined
the Legend group in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior
Vice President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major prizes included China’s
Top Ten Outstanding Youths (2002), Sk 2 £ H & F K R (L 88 (Practical
and Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the China Association for
Science and Technology, China’s Top Ten Outstanding Youths in Technology
Innovation (1998), Future Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First
Annual China Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour
(2005). He was also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Businesspeople in
China by Fortune Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012.

Mr. Guo is currently the Chairman of Digital China Information Service
Company Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co., Ltd.
and listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and a Director of DigiWin
Software Co., Ltd. (listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock
Exchange), a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc. (listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited)
and an Independent Director of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Co., Ltd. (listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange). In addition, he is a
Director of Kosalaki Investments Limited which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a Standing Committee
Member of the 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a member of the 4th Advisory
Committee for State Informatization and the Chairman of both Beijing
Informatization Association and 6th Council of China Non-Governmental
Science Technology Entrepreneurs Association. He has over 26 years of
experience in business strategy development and business management.

Mr. GUO Wei

3

BAXE O+ B AAKEXERUTE
E O RAEAKBZEMERLEE AT
—FZAE BELEBRETAEEIETRERA
HEEFEATE HBRR_ZTTLF+_AK
RERARPEEFELIFE - RARARBET
MBABRBERRZES - FEER—AN
NEESHER SHEM R AR (FIEFER 2
MABWHELER) 2BEREL M - FR—AN
NEMABEER TEEBMBEERTES
BARBEIRE - BEECREFE+AEHLT
FRRE(CET_FE) FEMBIREHELT
FRREBICRI(ZZTZ_FE)  PE+ KL
SEMKAFMBEANNEE)  FEREL
BEH(CET=FRIREETEFTFLER
ERAMER(CTTRAFE)FEERE - K
NEHME) R XRAR T ——FR T —C
FHREKAEFENNA T UBREML— -

L EIR AN S B RIS DB R AT (B
BRI M ARAKLEERODERAT - WRFERIIE
ARG EMZzEERMSRFERDERA
7 (MRYBHRZGAIERETZES - B
BREERAR(REBHERZIIIBER AR AE
WEMZIERMITES UK EERRERERTT
BROERAB (R EBEAFRSG LM MBI
BE o k4D ¥ AKosalaki Investments Limited
(BBELHEENEXVTFLBARAAGNTE
BRE)NES - /0 BAERETFEARK
AhEeEFE+T_E2EZESLE BRE
BLERFZHANLZESGENELZESEZE kR
SR EeREATERERFEEZRHBSSE
NEBECEERENTHSE - MEEHERE
FREEBEBEITEREEE _ T NFHNLER -

HNBEERARATF 33
20134 4R



Directors and Company Secretary = = & A T M ZE

Mr. LIN Yang, aged 47, is the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director of the Group and is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor's Degree
in Computing Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005
with a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business. Mr. Lin is currently a Director of Digital
China Information Service Company Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen
Techo Telecom Co., Ltd. and listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange).
He was previously the Executive Vice President and the President of the
Group and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group in
April 2011. He joined the Legend group in 1990 and has over 23 years
of management experience in distribution business. Mr. Lin was awarded
the Lifetime Achievement Award by the IT Channel Elite Panel in 2001 and
recognised as the Most Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20 Years in
2005. In 2013, he was also selected as one of the Leaders of the Year
2012 of the China Information Industry and Top-10 Annual Icons of the
Year 2012 of Zhongguancun. Besides, Mr. Lin has been appointed as
the Director for IT Channel Profession Council, under the MIIT (Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology).
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Mr. YAN Guorong, aged 40, is the President and Executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Yan is responsible for the overall operation and
management of the Group and he is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Yan graduated from Renmin University of China
with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics and obtained an EMBA Degree
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. He joined the Legend
group in 1996 and has been responsible for the day-to-day operation
and management of the company’s network and value-added business.
From 2005 onwards, Mr. Yan has assumed duties of strategic planning,
operational management and regional management of the Systems
Technology Services Strategic Business Unit of #iJH#i§ (1 [5) A FR/A 7
(Digital China (China) Limited). Mr. Yan has nearly 17 years of experience
in distribution, customers services business and sales management of IT
value-added products.

Mr. YAN Guorong
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Non-executive Director

FBITES

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, aged 56, is a Non-executive Director of the Company.
He received his Bachelor’'s Degree in Engineering from the Nanjing Aeronautic
Institute in the PRC in 1982 and a Master of Arts’ Degree in International Political
Economy from Princeton University in 1989. Mr. Yan joined the Company
in December 2007. He is currently the Founding Managing Partner of SAIF
Partners (“SAIF”) and a Director of Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL")
and SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd. which are substantial shareholders of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Prior
to joining SAIF, he was the Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong
office of the Emerging Markets Partnership from 1994 to 2001. From 1989 to
1994, he worked in the World Bank, the renowned Hudson Institute and Sprint
International Corporation as an Economist, Research Fellow and Director for
the Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington D.C.. From 1982 to 1984, he
was the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan is a recipient
of China’s national “Thousand Talents Program” and served as a member
of its Selection Committee in 2012. He is also a Founding Director of China
Venture and Private Equity Association, and a Director of Peking University
Endowment Investment Committee. He was voted by the China Venture Capital
Association as “The Venture Investor of the Year” in both 2004 and 2007. He
was also selected as one of the “Fifty Finest Private Equity Investors in the
World” by the Private Equity International in 2007, “No. 1 Venture Capitalist of
the Year” by Forbes (China) in 2008 and 2009. He was the “Venture Capital
Professional of the Year” by Asia Venture Capital Journal in 2009. Under Mr.
Yan’s leadership, SAIF was voted as “VC Firm of the Year” by the China Venture
Capital Association in 2004 and 2007 and it was also named as “The Best
Performing Fund in Asia” by Private Equity International in 2005, 2006 and
2008, “The Best Growth Investment Fund of the Year” in 2009.

Currently, Mr. Yan is an Independent Non-executive Director of China Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, China
Resources Land Limited and Fosun International Limited; a Non-executive
Director of Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited,
China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited and eSun Holdings Limited (all listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, other than that
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is also listed on The Shanghai Stock
Exchange, The London Stock Exchange and The New York Stock Exchange).
Mr. Yan is also an Independent Director of Giant Interactive Group, Inc. (listed
on The New York Stock Exchange); a Director of Acorn International, Inc.
(listed on The New York Stock Exchange), China Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd.
(listed on The New York Stock Exchange) and ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ,
USA). He was previously a Non-executive Director of MOBI Development
Co., Ltd., (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited), a Director of Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on
The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and Global Education & Technology Group
Ltd. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA, the shares of which were withdrawn from
listing on the NASDAQ, USA on 20 December 2011) as well as the Chairman
and Non-executive Director of NVC Lighting Holding Limited (listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
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Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUFHTES

Mr. HU Zhaoguang, aged 75, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He graduated from the Tsinghua University in 1964 and
also completed a management course in Sweden. Mr. Hu has over 42
years of experience in economics, finance and corporate management
and was wide recognised for his work in these areas. Mr. Hu joined
the Company in September 2004. Mr. Hu is currently serving as an
Independent Non-executive Director as well as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of both China Ground Source Energy Industry
Group Limited (formerly known as China Ground Source Energy Limited
and listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited) and China City Railway Transportation Technology
Holdings Company Limited (lately listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited subsequent to transfer of listing from
the Growth Enterprise Market). He is also the Independent Non-executive
Director of BBMG Corporation (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was previously the Chairman of
Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and its parent company, Beijing
Holdings Limited, and an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Overseas Land & Investment Limited (listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). From February 1993 to January
1998, Mr. Hu served as a Vice Mayor of the Beijing Municipal Government.
From 1988 to 1993, Mr. Hu served as the Director of Beijing Experimental
Zone for the Development of New Technology Industries and Chief
Executive of Beijing Haidian District Government.

Mr. HU Zhaoguang
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Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 49, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He holds a Master’'s Degree in
Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a Certified Tax Advisor
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, an associate member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member
of the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) and has over 26 years of experience in
auditing, taxation, management and financial advisory. Mr. Wong joined
the Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked for KPMG, an
international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee as
well as a member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental Group
Company Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited); and an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of Wai Kee Holdings Limited
and Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited (both listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was an
Independent Non-executive Director of eForce Holdings Limited (listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wong
is the Managing Director of Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited and a Director
of Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public Accountants Limited, both being
professional accounting firms, and a Founding Director and member of
Francis M C Wong Charitable Foundation Limited, a charitable institution.
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Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 41, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Ni received her J.D. Degree from the University
of Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor’'s Degree in Applied
Economics and Business Management from Cornell University. Ms. Ni
joined the Company in September 2010. Currently, Ms. Ni is the Chairman
of Inspire Capital. From August 2004 to January 2008, Ms. Ni served
as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for Cogo Group Inc. (“Cogo”,
now known as Viewtran Group, Inc.), and subsequently served as its Vice
Chairman until early 2009. Prior to joining Cogo, Ms. Ni spent six years
as a Practicing Attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
in New York and Hong Kong, specializing in corporate finance. Prior to
that, Ms. Ni worked at Merrill Lynch’s investment banking division in New
York.

Ms. Ni is currently serving as Independent Director and acting as the
Audit Committee Chairman as well as Compensation and Nomination
Committee member at JA Solar Holdings, Co. Ltd.,, a NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: JASO) and ATA Inc., a NASDAQ-listed company
(NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni is also an Independent Director at KongZhong
Corporation, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: KONG). Ms. Ni was
previously a Non-executive Director and a member of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee and the Compensation Committee of
ChinaCast Education Corporation (the shares of which were withdrawn
from listing on NASDAQ, USA in 2012).

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)
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Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, aged 49, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Ong holds a Master of Science Degree and a
Bachelor of Science Degree major in Electrical Engineering from Columbia
University (New York City). He is acting as the Responsible Officer (Types
1 and 2) of Licensed Corporation for Alpha Securities Company Limited
and Alpha Futures Company Limited respectively under the registration
of Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ong joined the
Company in September 2010.

Mr. Ong awarded the BBS, Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong SAR in 2008. Mr. Ong served on the board of The
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 1998 to 2008 and took the chair of
the board from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Ong also joined the Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals advisory board from 2008 to 2009. Mr. Ong served on the
hospital governing committee of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from
2002 to 2013. He is also a Founding Member and Chairman of the Green
Investment Promotion Association.
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Dr. LIU Yun, John, aged 50, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He has been and is currently the Chief Business Officer
of Qihoo 360 Technology Co. Ltd. since 2014. Prior to that, he held
senior positions in various renowned companies in the communication or
networking or software arena as follows: Corporate Vice President and
Head of Greater China of Google Inc. from 2008-2013; Chief Executive
Officer, China Operations of SK Telecom Co., Ltd. from 2002-2007;
General Manager, Greater China of FreeMarkets Inc. from 2000-2002;
Chief Executive Officer, China Operations of SITA Communication from
1999-2000; General Manager, Telecommunication Group of The Lion
Group from 1997-1999 and Country Director, Greater China of Singapore
Telecommunications Limited from 1994-1997.

Dr. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Mathematics in 1983 and obtained his Ph.D in Telecommunications
Network Management from Technical University of Denmark in 1997. In
2011, Dr. Liu undertook a Senior Executive Program of Harvard Business
School.

Dr. LIU Yun, John
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
COMPANY SECRETARY
NEWEBHE

Company Secretary
REME

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 47, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with
a Bachelor’'s Degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 24 years of experience in financial management and corporate
administration. He is mainly responsible for the financial reporting and
listing issues of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of corporate
governance so as to enhance its transparency, accountability and
corporate value to the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices
set out in the “Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report” (the “Code”) and contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013 (the "Reporting
Period”), the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the Code throughout the Reporting Period, except for the following
deviations from certain code provisions with considered reasons as given
below:

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed for
any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the Chairman of the Board
or the Managing Director) are subject to retirement by rotation at each
annual general meeting in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
(the “Bye-Laws”) and shall be eligible for re-election. The Board considers
that the retirement of Directors by rotation at each annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws has given the shareholders of
the Company the right to approve the continuation of the service of the
Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Under the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office, the
Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director shall not, whilst holding
such office, be subject to retirement by rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei,
the Chairman of the Board, shall not be subject to retirement by rotation.
Given the existing number of Directors of the Company, not less than one-
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at each annual
general meeting, by which each Director (other than the Chairman of the
Board) will retire by rotation once every three years at the minimum.
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Code Provision A.5.1 stipulates that company should establish a
nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board
or an independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive directors.

The Company does not establish a Nomination Committee at present.
The Company considers that the setting up of a Nomination Committee
may not be necessary as the Board has the power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board according to the Bye-Laws, therefore,
the Board has been able to assume the responsibilities of a Nomination
Committee. The Board will identify and assess whether the candidate
has the balanced composition of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the businesses of the Company and suitably qualified to
become board members.

Code Provision D.1.4 stipulates that directors should clearly understand
delegation arrangements in place. Company should have formal letters
of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions of
their appointment.

The Company has not entered into any written letters of appointment with
its Non-executive Director or any Independent Non-executive Directors.
However, the Board recognizes that (i) the relevant Directors have already
been subject to the laws and regulations applicable to directors of a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, including the Listing Rules as well
as the fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders; (i) all of them are well established in their professions
and have held directorships in other listed companies; and (i) the current
arrangement has been adopted by the Company for years and has proved
to be effective. Therefore, the Board considers that the relevant Directors
are able to carry out their duties in a responsible and effective manner
under the current arrangement.

Moreover, the Company publishes quarterly financial results of the Group
by way of announcement which exceeds the code provisions set out in
the Code. However, the Company does not publish and distribute report
for quarterly financial results of the Group as the Board is of the view
that publication of quarterly financial reports does not bring significant
benefits to shareholders, but at the cost of their own.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as its code of conduct for Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
as set out in the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the end of Reporting Period, the Board comprised eight Directors,
including three Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and four
Independent Non-executive Directors. An additional Independent Non-
executive Director was appointed with effect from 25 March 2014 and an
existing Independent Non-executive Director has tendered his resignation
to take effect from 26 May 2014. To the best knowledge of the Company,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the heading
“Directors and Company Secretary” on pages 33 to 42 of this annual
report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall strategy
and the leadership and control of the Group such as the Group’s long
term objectives and strategies, the approval of the Group’s corporate and
capital structure, financial reporting and controls, internal controls and risk
management, material contracts, communication with the shareholders,
the Board membership and other appointments, remuneration of Directors
and other key senior management, delegation of authority to Board
committees and corporate governance matters.
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During the Reporting Period, one general meeting was held and the Board
held three regular meetings at approximately quarterly intervals and one
ad hoc meeting where the Directors attended the Board meetings either
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in person or by other means of electronic communication. The individual FEEZE&&:% -  KEEZEALFIHEEYIW
attendance records of each of the Directors are set out below: ™
Number of Number of
Board meetings general meeting
attended/held attended/held
HE BT HiE 2T
ExE B A E
Directors = EEAH ERE
Executive Directors HITEE
GUO Wei (Chairman) R (EE) 4/4 1/1
LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer) W5 (BE#HTE) 4/4 0/1
YAN Guorong (President) B () 4/4 0/1
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Andrew Y. YAN & 7k 2/4 0N
Independent Non-executive Directors B ITEE
HU Zhaoguang #A A & 4/4 1/1
WONG Man Chung Francis =R 4/4 1/1
NI Hong (Hope) {52, 4T 4/4 1/1
ONG Ka Lueng, Peter F XK 4/4 1/
Appointments and Re-election EEREE

The Board is empowered under the Bye-Laws to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Only
the qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board for consideration
and the selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment of their
professional qualifications, experience and their possible contribution to
the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company
throughout the Reporting Period had four Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group are
segregated, which are held by Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN Yang respectively.
Mr. GUO is responsible for the strategic development and management
of the Group whereas Mr. LIN is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 with specific written terms
of reference. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee
comprised three members (namely, Mr. HU Zhaoguang (Chairman), Mr.
WONG Man Chung, Francis and Ms. NI Hong (Hope)) and all of them
are Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter (an
Independent Non-executive Director) was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 25 March 2014 while Mr. HU Zhaoguang
has tendered his resignation as an Independent Non-executive Director
and thus Chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 26 May
2014 upon which Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis will take the role as
Chairman.

The latest Terms of Reference for Audit Committee is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements of the Group; reviewing the Group’s
financial controls, internal controls and risk management systems;
reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function and ensuring co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and performing the Group’s corporate governance function
delegated by the Board.

Corporate Governance Function

Under the Terms of Reference for Audit Committee now in place, the Audit
Committee has been delegated by the Board to perform the corporate
governance function to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board. The Audit Committee shall also review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; review and monitor the Company’s policies and
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practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and review the Company’s
compliance with the Code and the disclosure in this Report as set out
under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three regular
meetings at approximately quarterly intervals where the members
attended either in person or by other means of electronic communication.
The individual attendance records of each of the Audit Committee
members at the Audit Committee meetings held during the Reporting
Period are set out below:

ERRERFMANAE) : Rigs AR R ETR
i £ AR RIBH 8% + 0 AR B A ST ARV IR R R AE AR
HEARHEE -

RBERAR > ERREERTZRAEHEH(X
MEBFE—R) KEOBRSIAEMCETBA
FTREE - REMA EERZEEXNERE
“EZBeeRmcEALFERERIWNT:

Number of Audit
Committee meeting
attended/held

HiE 217
Audit Committee Members ERZEZESERE BERZEEEERAY
HU Zhaoguang (Chairman) R E (£ &) 3/3
WONG Man Chung, Francis X R 3/3
NI Hong (Hope) 157 4T 3/3

For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed with senior
management and the Auditors of the Company their respective audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
legal and regulatory compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control,
risk management and financial reporting matters. The Board has, through
the Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on the effectiveness of
the internal control system of the Group and discussed matters related
to corporate governance function during the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditors of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 August 2006 with
specific written terms of reference. Throughout the Reporting Period,
the Remuneration Committee comprised three members with majority
of Independent Non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
is currently chaired by Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, an Independent Non-
executive Director, with Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director and
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, an Independent Non-executive Director
as members.

48 Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

EREH EVZEQCEARASEEREA
BERREMEARSEEZERER  ~A&E
Rz etRAINER  ZEREEARER
WHEARBEZ NP - EiRE R KM%
FHREFH EFSCEEBELRZES TSR
A RSB A R A BPES 1 R AT 2 BORRUA K
AmEEEEERRENEIR -

AR B X BED 2 R - BB AE - BEAE R AR ES
ERLREERETEYERR DK

FWEES
FEEEeN_TTRNFNA=FT—HKL"
VHEREEmBESRE NEERSH  H
MEEGm=RKEAK AEOKERBIL
FATEF - FTHEZESRABUFRTES
ITRERERTER FATEFHULER
BUFRTEFTEXROCEEELKE -



~

Corporate Governance Report 1> % &8 &

The latest Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among others, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy. The Remuneration Committee shall also make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management, which includes
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments and on the
remuneration of Non-executive Director.

As there was no major change in the remuneration policy, no
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the Reporting Period are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive induction on
appointment to ensure understanding of the directors’ responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company also organizes and arranges seminars for and provides relevant
reading materials to Directors to help ensure they are apprised of the
roles, functions and duties of being a director of a listed company and
the development of their knowledge on the regulatory updates whenever
necessary or appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has provided training materials
for the then Directors, namely Mr. GUO Wei, Mr. LIN Yang, Mr. YAN
Guorong, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, Mr. HU Zhaoguang, Mr. WONG Man Chung,
Francis, Ms. NI Hong (Hope) and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, to keep
them abreast of the latest development of legal, regulatory and corporate
governance. The Company has received the records of training from all
Directors.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting diversity among the Board and
has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) effective
on 20 August 2013. The Board Diversity Policy outlines the Board’s
commitment to fostering a corporate culture that embraces diversity and,
in particular, focuses on its composition.

The Company recognizing and embracing the benefits of having a diverse
Board values increasing diversity at Board level which is perceived to be
an essential element in achieving a sustainable and balanced development
of the Company. In determining the Board composition that best suits
the Company, a wide spectrum of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background, skills, regional and
industry experience, professional experience, length of service and other
qualities of directors will be considered. All Board appointments shall
be made on the basis of meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

As at the end of Reporting Period, the Board comprised eight directors.
One of them is a woman. Among them, five are either Non-executive
Director or Independent Non-executive Directors, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age,
cultural and educational background, professional expertise and skills.
The Board endeavours to steer forward and ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of aspects appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the Reporting Period, remuneration to Auditors of the Company was
approximately HK$4,921,000 for audit services and HK$550,000 for non-
audit services (HK$300,000 on agreed-upon procedures on quarterly/
interim results and HK$250,000 on tax retainer service).

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Principle

The Board should ensure that the internal control of the Group is solid,
sound, effective, so as to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets.
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Internal Control

A well-designed internal control system is very important to the protection
of the Group’s assets, the reliability of its financial statements, and its
compliance with legislation and rules. As such, the Group is committed
to establishing and maintaining a sound internal control system to
provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against any serious
misrepresentation or loss, and to manage, though not eliminate, any risk
of serious mistakes regarding the operation system and the objectives
of the Group. The Board also perceives its overall responsibility for the
internal control, financial control and risk management, and will review its
effectiveness from time to time.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department, which is responsible for
the internal audit of the Group, independent assessment of risks, and
internal control procedures and system, and reports its findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

The Internal Audit Department will assess the risks to which the Group
is exposed, and formulate an audit plan on that basis annually, so as
to ensure that the internal audit covers all areas of high risks. The audit
plan will be submitted to the Audit Committee for approval. The scope
of audit review is determined based on the risk assessment results.
Special reviews will be conducted on matters which are of concern to
the management or the Audit Committee.

Monitoring Procedures
The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control system
through the following principal procedures:

(1)  Establishing a reasonable and effective organisation structure with
clear functions, responsibilities and authority;

(2) Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation and
budget management; formulating business plans and financial
budgets annually; rationally adjusting the organisation structure
based on business planning; ensuring the effective operation of the
organisation; reviewing the implementation of budgets and making
reasonable adjustment based on the latest conditions;

(8)  The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing the
comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring of principal
business, reporting its principal findings, with recommendations, to
the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis; and

P &P S i
RATEZABEEZRGUREAEEE -
RV EHRERASEEARETEIRRIER
EZ - QL AKRBR IR II%H*“E%W
NEBEIE ARG - UIRHAEMIEBH ZRE
IR ERBREBROER - EEEW#H
BREFZHLEREEMEBRHEBRERRZA
2 EFESNMAREHRMERE  MBES R
RERERBREME LSRR EMEE -

P &R & 5t

AEEREABEND  AEANKBRILEX
KB RN ARBEERFRES > LR
FERBERZEGEREZERNEZS -

ANEEeREASEEH 2 Bk ETT
e REmEHEBEEZE  MERAEAA
HEZIEREMAE=RKEE - BZTEFE
hx%ﬁiﬁam& BB ZE@EIZR

S ETE R T ﬁAI$AEF%§V§AE
%%&Z%E TR RIS

BEERRF
EFSBEBUTIBRERFRRILE
ME AR

MRRIEHN

(1) RUAEARHHEBER
£ BE RIER:

B - LRI BRBMEY

A=
>

@) EBEENBESEREEERERF  SLE
ﬂﬂi%ﬁﬁ%&%%ﬁg'ﬁﬂﬁiﬁ
ﬁﬂAﬁﬂ¥% L RIE MR AR A A BUE

TRABERITER UREBESRHER
ﬁéﬁﬂ§’

@) AMEH - BUNBIBRBEELZ
TRERYE  BFEAERLZECER
TEERREZE R

HMNBEERARAR 51
20134 4R



Corporate Governance Report 1 % &8 &

(4) The Auditors — making a “Management Proposal” in its audit
of annual results, recommending ways to address some internal
management areas which are correspondingly weak; the
management making serious reviews, and making and submitting
improvement proposals to the Audit Committee.

Assessment of Annual Internal Monitoring

For the Reporting Period, the Internal Audit Department adopted a risk-
based methodology to focus on and monitor principal workflow, and
reported the internal audit results to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis. Through the Audit Committee, the Board reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. The internal control system
covers all important matters to be monitored, including finance, operation
and compliance matters, risk management functions as well as the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern basis
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The statement of the Auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 64 to 65 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the Shareholders
of the Company is the Annual General Meeting and all corporate
communications of the Company, including but not limited to interim
reports, annual reports, notices of meeting, announcements, circulars
and other relevant Company’s information are available on the Company’s
website (www.digitalchina.com.hk).

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy to
handle enquiries put to the Board.
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The Company believes that communicating with Shareholders through
its website is an efficient way of delivering information in a timely and
convenient manner. Information on the Company’s website will be
continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that information is current,
or appropriately dated and archived.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and encourages
Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable
to attend the meeting. The general meeting provides an important
opportunity for Shareholders to express their view to the Board and
management and to exercise Shareholders’ rights. Under the Bye-Laws,
Shareholders have the rights to convene a special general meeting and
put forward agenda items for consideration by Shareholders. The latest
Bye-Laws has been uploaded onto the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange respectively.

Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at meetings to
ask questions about or comment on the results, operations, strategy,
corporate governance and/or management of the Group. The Board
members, in particular, either the Chairmen or members of the Board
committees, appropriate management executive, external auditors and
legal advisers shall be available at general meetings to answer questions
from Shareholders.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the nine months ended
31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the sale and distribution of general information
technology products and systems products, and provision of supply chain
services and information technology services.

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December
2013 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the nine months ended 31 December 2013.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2013
and the state of affairs at that date of the Company and the Group are
set out in the financial statements on pages 66 to 222 of this annual
report.

The Directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 17.80 HK cents (31 March 2013: 38.80 HK cents) per share
in respect of the nine months ended 31 December 2013 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 30 May 2014. This recommendation has been incorporated in the
financial statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the consolidated and company statements of financial position
respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages
225 and 226 of this annual report. The five-year financial summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the nine months ended 31 December 2013 are
set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the nine months ended 31 December 2013 are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefore, in the share
capital of the Company during the nine months ended 31 December 2013
are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the nine months ended 31 December 2013 are set out in note 36
to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity set out on pages 71 and 72 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted
to HK$1,417,563,000, of which HK$190,037,000 has been proposed
as a final dividend for the nine months ended 31 December 2013. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$2,060,433,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the
laws of Bermuda although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of Bermuda.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the nine months ended 31
December 2013 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YAN Guorong (President)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HU Zhaoguang®

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis

Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

Dr. LIU Yun, John?

*

Mr. HU Zhaoguang will resign as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company taking effect from 26 May 2014.

# Dr. LIU Yun, John was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 25 March 2014.
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Mr. LIN Yang, Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng,
Peter will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Bye-Law 99 of
the Bye-Laws and Dr. LIU Yun, John who was appointed as a director with
effect from 25 March 2014 will hold office until the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with Bye-Law 102(B)
of the Bye-Laws. All of them being eligible will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Changes in the information of Directors required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company,
was appointed as the Chairman of Digital China Information Service
Company Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co., Ltd. and
listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) with effect from 22 January
2014. Besides, DigiWin Software Co., Ltd. of which Mr. GUO is a Director
was listed on the ChiNext of The Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 27
January 2014 and became a public listed company.

Mr. LIN Yang, the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of
the Company, was appointed as a Director of Digital China Information
Service Company Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co.,
Ltd. and listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange) with effect from 22
January 2014.

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as a Director of China Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd. (listed on
The New York Stock Exchange) with effect from 13 November 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall continue in force unless and
until terminated by (i) either the Company or the Director serving on each
other of not less than three months’ notice, or (ii) his retirement as a
director without being re-elected as a Director by the Shareholders of
the Company in an annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-
Laws, or (iii) in the event of the Director’s default under the terms of the
said service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December
2013 or at any time during the nine months ended 31 December 2013.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of the share
option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the “2002 Share Option
Scheme”) and the other share option scheme was adopted on 15 August
2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”), each with life span of ten years.
Details of movements in the share options during the nine months ended
31 December 2013 are set out in note 35(a) to the financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “RSA
Scheme”) on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and motivating,
among others, Directors (including executive and non-executive) and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with
the shares of the Company. Details of the RSA Scheme are set out in
note 35(b) to the financial statements.

EE 2R iR

ARRBMRTEFHRARR G L — MRS
W YREFARENEAM— R TELT
PR=ERAZEBM  K()RARAMAEEEES
B MUY KRERRBFREHEARARR
ERET RNEFERRBHER 2GR -

R EXFEEEI  BRARF RIS EIT 2K
REFAGLBEEEEZARREETHELEN
RARIAA R —FARIEMBBAIMEEOCX
TERRERIN 2 R 1=

EERAaHzER
ARRFEEAMBARR-_T—=F+_A=
T—HXBE_FT—=F+_A=t—HLNE
AZEAERA  SETIEMNERELD &K
SARRZEFEERRMBEEBTERAES -

R iz 12

AR e A M ERE B AT 8l o Erh— fE R A T
EN_ZET_FLATN\BRM(-ZZT_FB
& m—EABKREFEINR_F——F
NATHRARB((ZE——FEREFE]) &
ERBMAETFE REBE_T—=F+"A=+
—HBIENAEABRAZ EBRELESFHEIHIIRN
KB 75 i 5 MY 7E35(a) ©

X PR 1 i 63 2% B 5t 21
ARAR-B——F=ZA+\BRHKT-EX
PR 1 B £ 22 B =t &1 (T BRI B 0 22 Bt &1 ) -
HEMERE TARRA]Z I IAZE & 3B (K
FEB)ARAREMNBARNE S (BERT
RIEATIRBT(28E]) - ZRHIRNERE
ot &I 515 D AR B 7 #R R M 5E35(0) ©

HNBEERARATF 57
20134 4R



Report of the Directors & F& ¥ &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive of the Company and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were required to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive were
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFQO), or
which were required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:
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Approximate

Number Percentage
Number of of RSUs of Aggregate
Personal Corporate Outstanding Granted Total Interests (%)
Name of Director Capacity Interests Interests Share Options (Note 10) (Note 1) (Note 11)
BEFZ EEES
3% BR zZB4
HERTHEZ BROEBE B H 5 b (%)
EsEH & & BA#EZE ASHER FEREHE (Kt at10) (#tat1) (Ht7E11)
GUO Wei Beneficial owner and interests of a 1,504,000 69,414,286 960,000 2,000,000 73,878,286 6.76
controlled corporation (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
B ERBFEAARIEER 2% (Ht5t2) (H15£3) (Wt at4)
Andrew Y. YAN Interests of a controlled corporation — 119,111,744 = — 119,111,744 10.92
(Note 5)
B ¢ FipkE 2 (W36
LIN Yang Beneficial owner 56,000 — 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,056,000 0.19
(Note 6) (Note 7)
W5 EmnEAA (¢ 5t6) (Htat7)
YAN Guorong Beneficial owner 50,000 — 793,000 1,000,000 1,843,000 0.17
(Note 8) (Note 9)
R B &8 BEmEAA (Ktit8) (H17£9)
58 Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013



Report of the Directors & SH& ¥ &

Notes:

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the
Company.

These 69,414,286 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Kosalaki
Investments Limited (“KIL"), of which Mr. GUO Wei is the controlling shareholder and
also a director of KIL, therefore, Mr. GUO Wei was deemed to be interested in such
shares in which KIL was interested.

These 960,000 share options held by Mr. GUO Wei were granted on 21 May 2008.
These share options are exercisable from 21 May 2009 to 20 May 2016 at an exercise
price of HK$5.89 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

These 2,000,000 restricted share units (“RSUs”) held by Mr. GUO Wei were granted
on 13 April 2011 under the RSA Scheme of the Company, which will be vested on 1
August 2014 subject to fulfillment of certain performance targets.

These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Sparkling
Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL”), which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Il L.P.. SAIF
Partners Il L.P. is controlled by SAIF Il GP, L.P., and SAIF lll GP, L.P. is indirectly
controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF Ill GP Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr. Andrew
Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such shares in which SIBL was interested.

These 1,000,000 share options held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted on 21 May 2008.
These share options are exercisable from 21 May 2009 to 20 May 2016 at an exercise
price of HK$5.89 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

These 1,000,000 RSUs held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted on 13 April 2011 under
the RSA Scheme of the Company, which will be vested on 1 August 2014 subject to
fulfillment of certain performance targets.

Out of these 793,000 share options in aggregate held by Mr. YAN Guorong,

i. 125,000 share options were granted on 21 May 2008. These share options
are exercisable from 21 May 2009 to 20 May 2016 at an exercise price of
HK$5.89 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company; and

ii. 668,000 share options were granted on 11 January 2011. These share options
are exercisable from 11 January 2012 to 10 January 2019 at an exercise price
of HK$15.04 per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.
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9. These 1,000,000 RSUs held by Mr. YAN Guorong were granted on 13 April 2011 under
the RSA Scheme of the Company, which will be vested on 1 August 2014 subject to
fulfillment of certain performance targets.

10. Each RSU granted under the RSA Scheme of the Company adopted on 28 March
2011 represents one ordinary share of the Company and will be held by the trustee
until vesting in accordance with the provisions of the RSA Scheme.

11. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of
the shares/underlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the
aggregate nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same
class immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 352 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which the directors and chief
executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2013, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company,
had the following interests and short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed
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to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section

336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name

&5

Kosalaki Investments Limited
(Note 2) (W #£2)

Sparkling Investment

(BVI) Limited

SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd.

JPMorgan Chase & Co.

Matthews International Capital
Management, LLC

Allianz SE

Templeton Global Advisors Limited

Legend Holdings Limited
B8R IR B BR A &) (now known as
Legend Holdings Corporation
WIBEARERROERAR)
(Note 7) (K1 7#7)

GEPOIEXVERFE2R B30 MWE TARE - KA
RIEZBS R BAEGPIEXVEEI36KE TFEZ

Bk 2 AT #ZE KRR

Capacity

5

Beneficial owner

EmEAA

Beneficial owner

BERmEAA

Interests of a controlled corporation
REEE 2R

Beneficial owner/Investment manager/
Custodian corporation
Approved lending agent
ERBEAANRELRE
REAN — ZE
ZEREHRE A

Investment Manager
RE KL

Interests of controlled corporations
RIEAE 2w

Investment Manager
REKE

Beneficial owner/Interests of a controlled
corporation

EalBA/ ZEEBAZER

Approximate
Percentage of
Number of Aggregate Interests

shares (%)
(Note 1) (Note 9)
HeHfERZ
edn g 4= 48 9 Ltk (%)
(Htat1) (K :#9)
69,414,286 6.35
119,111,744 10.92
(Note 3)
(H1:£3)
119,111,744 10.92
(Note 3)
(H1:£3)
Long Position & 8.07
88,219,377
Short Position % & 010
1,045,000
Lending Pool 7.66
A8 8 AR 15
83,805,086
87,811,000 8.03

(Note 4) (K1 i#4)

86,135,000 7.88
(Note 5) (K1 :%5)

78,563,150 718
(Note 6) (H1:%6)

35,013,077/ 5.16
21,368,642
(Note 8) (H1:%8)
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Notes:

Save
been

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the
Company unless otherwise specified.

KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei who is a director of the Company and KIL.

These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by SIBL, which is
wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Ill L.P.. SAIF Partners Il L.P. is controlled by SAIF Il
GP, L.P,, and SAIF lll GP, L.P. is indirectly controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through
SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested
in such shares in which SIBL was interested.

Matthews International Capital Management, LLC was interested in an aggregate of
87,811,000 shares by virtue of the SFO. Those interests were held in the capacity of
investment manager.

Out of these 86,135,000 shares in aggregate, 81,028,000 shares were held by RCM
Asia Pacific Ltd., 3,614,000 shares by Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd., 485,000
shares by Allianz Global Investors Singapore Ltd., 520,000 shares by Allianz Global
Investors Europe GmbH, 403,000 shares by Allianz Global Investors U.S. LLC
and 85,000 shares by Allianz Global Investors Fund Management LLC. All of the
aforementioned companies were indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

Templeton Global Advisors Limited was interested in an aggregate of 78,563,150
shares by virtue of the SFO. Those interests were held in the capacity of investment
manager.

The English names are direct transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

These 21,368,642 shares of the Company were held by Right Lane Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary and a controlled corporation of Legend Holdings Limited (now
known as Legend Holdings Corporation), and therefore Legend Holdings Limited (now
known as Legend Holdings Corporation) was deemed to be interested in such shares
by virtue of the SFO.

The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate nominal value of
the shares/underlying shares comprising the interests held as a percentage of the
aggregate nominal value of all the issued share capital of the Company of the same
class immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the register maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO.

as disclosed above, at 31 December 2013, the Company had not
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in

shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DONATIONS
During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the Group made
donation of HK$10,159,000 (31 March 2013: HK$3,077,000).
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Report of the Directors & & & 5§ &

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers was less than 30% (31 March 2013: less than 30%) of
the Group’s total turnover for the nine months ended 31 December 2013.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers was approximately 22% (31 March 2013: approximately
30%) of the Group’s total purchases and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately 6% (31
March 2013: approximately 8%) for the nine months ended 31 December
2013.

None of the directors, any of their associates or shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s major
customers or suppliers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended 31
December 2013 of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the nine months ended 31 December 2013 and up to
the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REEFES

ij
GUO Wei 585
Chairman F /&

Hong Kong 25 March 2014
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To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital China
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 66 to 222, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
nine months ended 31 December 2013, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report ¥8 37 4% 8 il 3R &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the nine months ended 31 December 2013 in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

%,j_\ :\/;’%

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 {2 —ZF—=F+_-_A=+—HIt @A

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HE-ZT—=% HE_Z—=F
+=-HA=+—H8 =A=+—H”
IEA{E B IEFE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
iokza BETT 7SI oT
REVENUE ' PN 5 52,264,534 73,498,913
Cost of sales $HE KA (48,885,928) (68,128,346)
Gross profit E A 3,378,606 5,370,567
Other income and gains H b Y A R = 5 872,063 822,607
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEHER (2,041,846) (2,939,133
Administrative expenses T E R (366,297) (647,570)
Listing expense relating to the Absorption WA EEZ FTHEH
and Merger 19 (1,216,133) =
Other expenses, net B & R (806,162) (492,463)
Finance costs Bl & AR 7 (178,741) (293,205)
Share of profits and losses of: FE1E T O A7 2% F &
18
Joint ventures BEDE (4,893) 6,997
Associates Bt & A &) 72,004 23,474
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BT (B1E) 6 (291,399) 1,851,274
Income tax expense e A 10 (171,245) (332,122
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/ AHE EERA
YEAR (E518) (462,644) 1,519,152
Attributable to: BN
Equity holders of the parent & A ) iR A i 11 84,103 1,367,369
Non-controlling interests FE 2 % HE 2 (546,747) 151,783
(462,644) 1,519,152
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss %1 & 18 33 3%
Nine months ended 31 December 2013 B2 — T —=9+-_A=+—H1t @A

BASEBERR
FE 16 55 Bz 2 #

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic AR

Diluted

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE-T—=% HE-_ZT—=F
+=-—H=+—H —A=+—H
IEAE A IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR ok e

7.87 HK centsiEfll 128.01 HK cents&

7.76 HK centsi# 1l 126.37 HK centsi& il

N B 2 R IR
2013



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EEW @K

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 EH ZE T —=F+=-_A=+—HIE @A

Nine months ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE-E-=% Hz_T—=%
+ZB=+—H =R=+—H
ER@EA THEE
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
Vo3 BRI BETT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR XEE EERH (5 (462,644) 1,519,152
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Rip2mls (B1R)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified ~ EBAIEEHHEZE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: BazEmeEkE,/
(B#8)
Available-for-sale investments: HRHEEZERE:
Changes in fair value AFEEED (111,983) 58,931
Reversal of revaluation gain B Y R E - (110,578)
Reclassification adjustments for losses included in BRENGRERRLZ
the consolidated statement of profit or loss BN ERABEAE:
— impairment loss - HEBE 74,592 -
— loss on disposal - HEBE 867 -
(36,524) (51,647)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BIEBREZELEZE
operations 88,397 49,348
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be HENRwai s BEEs L
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods Hozmks/ (BE)FE 51,873 (2,299)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE CNRBENFERE £8
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR, NET H2mis (BE)
OF TAX 51,873 (2,299
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR  A#if /&£E2EKE /(Ei8)
THE PERIOD/YEAR Fox] (410,771) 1,516,853
Attributable to: BER:
Equity holders of the parent A ET T 11 144,167 1,361,113
Non-controlling interests FEE R (554,938) 155,740
(410,771) 1,516,853
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RE B S AR R &R

31 December 2013 —E—=F+=-A=+—H

31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —E—=F
+-—HA=+—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 EETT FE¥EF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment Y RN R E 14 1,505,445 1,515,037
Investment properties "EYE 15 755,383 335,197
Prepaid land premiums AR LS 16 196,498 508,849
Goodwill kS 17 243,670 239,012
Other intangible assets ,Etﬁiﬂﬂ FEE 18 36,566 10,079
Investments in joint ventures REELEZRE 21 163,275 126,601
Investments in associates B/\\E’g‘ﬁ /NG s &< 22 1,035,300 681,976
Available-for-sale investments AHEEZ’E 23 517,500 473,952
Deferred tax assets EREF IR & B 24 194,916 78,567
Total non-current assets BIERBE E 4,648,553 3,964,270
CURRENT ASSETS mBEE
Inventories FE 25 5,635,678 5,726,876
Properties under development EEME 26 393,562 66,866
Trade and bills receivables JE U B 5 R 7k & e U 1% 28 11,494,720 10,324,760
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIA - e REME
receivables & @r:] 3,617,912 4,082,068
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIA 31 113,378 53,511
Available-for-sale investments AHEZIRE 23 301,959 —
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 29 3,894,211 4,189,519
Total current assets BB EE 25,451,420 24,443,600
CURRENT LIABILITIES HENE
Trade and bills payables e B SR M B R & 30 11,092,793 10,873,485
Other payables and accruals Hib e sRIE R TERE A 3,499,189 3,041,381
Tax payable JE 48 %4 18 384,241 306,462
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WEIEITER 32 3,719,187 2,765,891
Bond payable FE &+ 33 — 37,023
Total current liabilities BREAE 18,695,410 17,024,242
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETE 6,756,010 7,419,358
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERARHEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,404,563 11,383,628
?ﬁid‘l‘@kﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁgfgé‘g 69



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %34 Bf #5 ik o0 3%

31 December 2013 —E—=F+=-A=+—H

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Deferred income

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent

Issued capital

Reserves
Proposed final dividend

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

LT

GUO Wei 385
Chairman F /&
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i

LIN Yang # 5
Director &%

31 March
2013
—E—=%F
—A=+—H
HK$'000
BT T

11,383,628

2,712,494

2,712,494

8,671,134

109,346
7,302,560
414,592

7,826,498
844,636

8,671,134



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREHX

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 B ZE —ZT—=F+_-_A=+—HI1t @A

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BRARREE
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based  investment Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Capital share  compensation  revaluation Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account  reserve trust reserve reserve  funds reserve profits  dividend Total  interests equity
DRAXA m#HEZ
BE#T  RH €& EBZ REz  HE ELED R Bk R 35

RE  RER AAGE BEEE  MeRR BEER  Es BEEM RERE & CH I
Notes  HKS'000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000  HK§'000 HKS000  HKS000 HKS000 HK§000 HKS000  HKE000  HKS'000
M BETR A¥Tn R%Tn BMTT  BETn  BMTR BMTR RRTn BETr BETn ARTn BETn BRI

At 1 April 2012 R-E-—%mA-A 109,273 2,052,706 901,639  (359,914) 104,279 26,904 263,373 268,297 3029644 424986 6,821,187 702,240 7,523,427
Profit for the year AEERM - - = = = = = - 1,367,369 — 1367369 151783 1,519,152
Other comprehensive income/ ~ AEEEM2 AR/
(loss) for the year: (BR):
Available-for-sale A EZ
investments: RE:
— Changes in fair value - AT EE
25 - - = = = 63,248 - - - - 63248 (4,317) 58931
— Reversal of - e
revaluation gain e = = = = = (110,578) = = = —- (110578 - (110,578
Exchange differences in ANEBBREL
translation of foreign EXEE
operations - - - - - - - 44,074 - - M0 8274 49,348

Total comprehensive income/ rEE2EAE/

(loss) for the year (BR)B% = = = = = (47.330) = 4,074 1,367,369 - 1361113 165740 1516853
Exercise of share options e BRE 34 73 5,630 = = (1,391) = = = = - 4312 - 4312
Share-based compensation IRAZMzBE 3% = = = = 64,987 = = = = - 64,987 - 64987
Disposal of subsidiaries LEZMNBAR 37 = = = = = = = = = = - (13344 (13344
Change in net assets of an BERFZ

associate FEERD = = (115) = = = = = = = (115) - (115)
Final 2011/12 dividend —F——/-ZF

FERE = = = = = = = = —  (424,986) (424,986) —  (424,986)
Proposed final 2012/13 BE-Z--/-Z

dividend XBRE 12 - - - - - - - — 14592 414592 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BREGEAS = = = = = - 10759 - (10759) = = = =
At 31 March 2013 RZ%-=

=R=1-H 109,346 2,058,336 901,524 (359,914) 167,875 (20426 370968 309371 3874826 414592 7826498 844636 8,671,134
#¢I‘I§kﬁ%@ﬂ§§f§§§ 71
B



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #7 & # %5 & &) X
Nine months ended 31 December 2013 # 2= —=F+=-A=+—HIt LA A

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
BAGRRES
Available-
Employee  for-sale
Share Employee  share-based investment Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Capital share compensation revaluation ~Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account  reserve trust reserve reserve  funds  reserve profits ~ dividend Total interests  equity
URBXR THEEZ
EEfT Bt L] B2 &z HE ERED RE Bk k2R B
k% BER SFHE REES Heke HERS -3 (11 B RERE & 44 a8
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B EETR  BETR AETR BETR ERTn  ERTR ERTR  AMTRn  EWTR ERTR REETR  ERTn ERTR

At 1 April 2013 R=F-=%£HA-H 109,346 2,058,336 901,524  (359,914) 167,875 (20,426) 370,968 309,371 3,874,826 414,502 7,826,498 844,636 8,671,134
Proft/loss) for the period RHEEA /(BB - - - - - - - - 84003 84103 (546,747)  (462,644)
Other comprehensive income/ FEME2ERE/
(loss) for the period: (F#):
Avallable-for-sale e RE:
investments:
— Changes in fair - AFER
value 29 (97,951) (O7,951) (14,032 (111,989
— Impaiment loss - BEEE 74,592 74,592 74,592
— Loss on disposal - tEER 59 529 338 867
Exchange differences in BNEBREL
translation of foreign 353
operations

Total comprehensive income/ rHE2ERE/

(loss) for the period (BB)eE - (22,830) 82,804 144,167 (554,938  (410,771)
Exercise of share options EERE 34 (506) - 1,619 - 1,619
Share-based compensation kG zME 3% (34,684) - (34,684) (34,684)
Contrioution to an employes EERZELHN

share trust 35(b) (9,983) (9,983) (9,983)
Disposal of subsidiries HESHNELT 37 - (4529 (4529
Contrioution from non-controllng ~ MEAFERRRE 2

shareholders of a subsidiary FEER 18,508 18,508
Acqisition of non-controling WEEERER

interests (3129 (3304 (3495 (5799
Equity transaction relating to the ~ RMAHEEZ

Absorption and Merger E&X% 216,156 216,156 1,020,329 1,236,485
Final 2012/13 dividend —2--/-=f

KBRS (414,592)  (414,502) (414,592)
Proposed final 2013 dividend RE-F-=%

FERE (190,087) 190,037
Transfer to reserve funds EREGRES (86,269) -

At 31 December 2013
109,374  2,060,433*  1,114,551*  (369,807)* 132,685*  (43,256)° 457,056*  392,265* 3,682,629* 190,087 7,725877 1,320,511 9,046,388
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 EH E T —=F+=-_A=+—HIE @A

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HE-ZT—-—=% HEZ—=F
+=HA=+—H =A=+—H”
IERE R IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 BETR BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING HEXBHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax Br# A= R (& R) (291,399) 1,851,274
Adjustments for: TR
Finance costs B & A 7 178,741 293,205
Share of profits and losses of joint ElhE & ﬁ% i
ventures and associates /N T 2 A % B 18 (67,111) (30,471)
Interest income AW A 5 (49,566) (95,561)
Dividend income from an available-for- AHEEZREZ
sale investment % 24 A 5 (2,683) —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME - WEKRRK
property, plant and equipment pd E-VAC €D 6 7,830 (4,233)
Fair value gains on investment properties REMEZANFEE
& 5 (11,709) (15,954)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZREWBARZ
Wz 5 (13,637) (251,012)
Gain on disposal of associates TEZHBE AR Z
Iy 2= 5 - (573)
Gain on deemed partial disposal of the 5 [R & — B & AR
equity interest in an associate H ot m 2 W 5 (60,025) —
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale HE—HAHEE 2K
investment B2 BB 6 1,072 —
Depreciation e 6 123,625 159,749
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums TE A 4 #h 78 & 5 5 6 3,882 4,128
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b B 6 6,321 916
Provisions/(reversal of provisions) for and REGFEEE
write-off of obsolete inventories (P& 5 1% [m]) K2 it 6 6 101,157 (2,597)
Impairment of trade receivables U E 5 IRFZORE 6 105,258 116,948
Impairment of an investment in an R ERaE 21w ERE
associate 6 - 110,620
Impairment of an available-for-sale AfEEZIRERME
investment 6 74,592 —
Impairment of prepayments A RIERE 6 84,960
Share-based compensation PARR 1D 15 2 Bl & 6 (34,684) 64,987
Listing expense relating to the Absorption RWEHEEZ EH 1,216,133 =
and Merger 2R 19
1,372,757 2,201,426
?$/)I\|§M%}'§HQ§E§§E 73
¥



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows & 4B 4% 8 %

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 H E—FT—=F+-_A=+—HIt @A

Nine months

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HEZT—=% HEZZ—=%F
+=A=+-—H8 =A=+—H
IE @A IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T ok
Increase in inventories FEEMN (154,521) (637,321)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills FEULE 5 1R 51 & FE I
receivables S®E LD, (EM) (1,715,781) 280,557
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TENFIE e hEfE
deposits and other receivables WK B R (38 hn) 175,501 (468,149)
Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial PTEEBMT AR
instruments (3 hn) (59,867) 38,929
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills BB SRR R ENEE
payables &0, Ol 4) 775,052 (1,412,142)
Increase in other payables and accruals Hin BB RERE R
& 313,783 624,912
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ & & 8) 2 & & 558 (23,195) 7,844
Cash generated from operations KREFMEZIRE 683,729 636,056
Interest received B W F B 64,198 108,535
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) BiRE (B BB
M5B 7,411 (3,950)
Mainland China income tax paid B84 AR B K BE BT 1S B (221,044) (271,579)
Net cash flows from operating activities KELBABSRERE
ek 534,294 469,062
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/LEF'

Nine months ended 31 December 2013 B Z — T —=F+=-_A=+—HB 1 @A

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Additions to investment properties

Additions to properties under development

Additions to prepaid land premiums

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Additions to other intangible assets
Disposal of subsidiaries

Proceeds from disposal of investments in
associates

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Dividends received from associates

Dividends received from an available-for-
sale investment

Investments in joint ventures
Investments in associates

Investments in available-for-sale
investments

Increase in other receivables

Net cash flows used in investing activities

REEFIHRERE

BADE BERK

NEREYH
NETLEME
ANEBENLHES

HEME  BEMREBZ

Ffr 1% 5k 18
//J\E/E;ﬁﬂﬂﬁ/ﬁé
HEZHENBA

ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬂj&ﬁz

P S 58

HEZRARHEZRE

2 SR E

W ER 2 ] Bt 2 R ) 2 BB

B4

WA EZREZ

L@,
m%%@%Zﬂﬁ
%EQTZ&ﬁ

H b FE M R IR AN

KEEHARER
/?%E

=

==8

Year ended

31 March

2013
HE-Z—=%F
=H=+—H
EFE
HK$’000

BB T

Notes

Hr &t

(548,994)

(317,173)

727
18 (6,313)
37 197,185

11,896

8,141

(99,354)
(9,029

(310,458)
(324,157)

(1,397,529)

N RER A
134 3
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Nine months ended 31 December 2013 B Z — T —=F+=-_A=+—HB 1 L{@A

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Exercise of share options

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Dividends paid

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of a subsidiary

Net cash flows from the Absorption and
Merger

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing
activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period/year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD/YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position and the consolidated statement
of the cash flows

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

MAETHHRLSRE

1T BB A

H g RITE R

BERITER

2 F 8

EfAE

Yo B R4 B

— P8 AR IR
ZHE

R EFFEIR

RenEF8

MEFHME (AR

TREFR

BeERBeEFEBMRD
B

HE FENzRE IR
T HEY

ERESH FEFHE

B FERZESRIR
E%5EY

BeRBeFEYMZE
B8 5

Be RBITHEER
BRI E TR

KA BB R K
HERERERMEZ
RBekREEFED

Year ended

31 March

2013
HE—_ZET—=£
=A=+—H
EFE
HK$’000

BT

Notes

B it

34 4,312
10,718,304
(9,162,206)
(293,205)
(424,986)

19 —

842,219

(86,248)

4,253,966

21,801

4,189,519

29 3,630,666
29 658,853

4,189,519
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31 December 2013 —E—=F+=-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables
Due from subsidiaries

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals

Due to subsidiaries

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES
Net assets

EQUITY

Issued capital
Reserves

Proposed final dividend

Total equity

Fox

GUO Wei 385
Chairman % &

ERBEE

WME - BENRE
NN VNI &
BOERBEE
nREBEE
BARIE - BZEREA
J& W R IR

& W Bt /B8 & R R IR
ReRREEHEY

BREEE
nEBER
Hitp e RIANTERE R

J& 1~ B /B8 72 ) IR
ff B R1TE R

BRBAE
REBAEFE
BEERRHER

BEEEE
i
BEHITHRA
ff 18

B R H B

i

Notes

H1 &t

14
19

20
29

20
32

34
36(b)
12

’

A

LIN Yang # 5
Director %

31 March
2013
—E—=%F
=A=+—H
HK$'000
BT T

230

902,576

902,806

20,019
3,936,457
1,912

3,958,388

15,945
894,949
738,751

1,649,645

2,308,743

3,211,549

3,211,549

109,346
2,687,611
414,592

3,211,549

27
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Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office and principal
place of business of the Company is located at Suite 2008, 20/F.,
Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong
Kong.

During the period, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the sale and distribution
of general information technology (“IT”) products and systems
products, and the provision of supply chain services and IT
services.

Pursuant to the resolution of the board of directors of the Company
dated 19 November 2013, the Company’s financial year end date
has been changed from 31 March to 31 December. The change
is to align the financial year end date of the Company with those
of the principal subsidiaries of the Group in order to facilitate the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and for the benefit of the overall development of the Group in the
long run.

Accordingly, these financial statements cover a period of nine
months from 1 April 2013 to 31 December 2013. The comparative
amounts presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated
statement of cash flows and the related notes, which covered the
year ended 31 March 2013, are not comparable to the current
period.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and certain equity investments which have been
measured at fair value as further explained in note 2.5. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # ¥R 3% Bff 5%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the nine
months ended 31 December 2013. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
(“OCI”") are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policies for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwilll and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets and liabilities.
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The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current period’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HK(FRIC) — Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
— Government Loans

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 — Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
in June 2012
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Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKFRS 13 and HKAS
1 Amendments, and certain amendments included in Annual
Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs
are as follows:

@)

HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting
for consolidated financial statements and addresses the
issues in HK(SIC) — Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. It establishes a single control model used for
determining which entities are consolidated. To meet the
definition of control in HKFRS 10, an investor must have (a)
power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. The changes introduced by HKFRS
10 require management of the Group to exercise significant
judgement to determine which entities are controlled.

The application of HKFRS 10 does not change any of the
consolidation conclusions of the Group in respect of its
involvement with investees as at 1 April 2013.

RN XGE — AL & 8 B 5 S RIS
105% - BAEM B RELERFE NG - FAEH
BHREERNF125 - BEMBREEE
13 M BB G EAFIR ZMEFT - AR
BRER-_EENFE_E——FHHZF
BHENETIERTZRZEI KA EM
KRB RTH) & 76 B 75 3 15 28 Bl 4t 5 B 765
BREBEAMBEE -

BR AR Ut 5 3 98 1 S IRIE RT B B M 15 e
EEAZFTEZEMT

@ BEMBHREENFIORMAEFE
ST ERNETRAF AR IB L EH
KARRG AW RIS IE
RBZBOARHEETE(RHRE
%89 — REF2NAEGS — #
HAEMEERDAMEE - %G
YRNETEHREAKRZERNE—
ZHERN - AT EBREMBHREE
A0 EHIEZ TR RESE
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HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 /nterests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC) — Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for
joint arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two
forms of joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations and joint
ventures, and removes the option to account for joint ventures
using proportionate consolidation. The classification of joint
arrangements under HKFRS 11 depends on the parties’
rights and obligations arising from the arrangements. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the joint operators
have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of
the arrangement and is accounted for on a line-by-line basis
to the extent of the joint operators’ rights and obligations
in the joint operation. A joint venture is a joint arrangement
whereby the joint venturers have rights to the net assets the
arrangement and is required to be accounted for using the
equity method in accordance with HKAS 28 (2011).

HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HKAS 28 /Investments in Associates. It also
introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for these
entities. Details of disclosure for subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates are included in note 19, 21 and 22 to the
financial statements.
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HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is required
to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how fair
value should be applied where its use is already required
or permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is applied
prospectively and the adoption has had no material impact
on the Group’s fair value measurements. As a result of the
guidance in HKFRS 13, the policies for measuring fair value
have been amended. Additional disclosures required by
HKFRS 13 for the fair value measurements of investment
properties and financial instruments are included in notes 15
and 43 to the financial statements.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Iltems that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, exchange
differences on translation of foreign operations, net movement
on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale
financial assets) are presented separately from items which will
never be reclassified (for example, the revaluation of land and
buildings). The amendments have affected the presentation
only and have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group. In addition, the Group has chosen
to use the new title “statement of profit or loss” as introduced
by the amendments in these financial statements.
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Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle issued in June 2012
sets out amendments to a number of standards. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments have had
a significant financial impact on the Group. Details of the key
amendments most applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required comparative
information. Generally, the minimum required
comparative period is the previous period. An entity
must include comparative information in the related
notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily
provides comparative information beyond the previous
period. The additional comparative information does not
need to contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning
of the preceding period must be presented when
an entity changes its accounting policies; makes
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications,
and that change has a material effect on the statement
of financial position. However, the related notes to
the opening statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the preceding period are not required to
be presented.

. HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity
holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing income
tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to
apply the requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax
arising from distributions to equity holders.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

RZE——FNABEBHN=ZFZEA

EoF——FHHZFERES
P ZIF AR EE] - ZRIBERHF
B B o FNEBDIEET 7]
RESERSBRES  EZFE
I T EHAREEKE NV B
2. REBARAEBNEEEETF
IR U INE

s BREGHEAFIRIFHA
Z 25 EEBREREIINLE
ERERERELRER ZH
MER - —KRME - KIERE
LR A EEEE - EEE
B AR it - (BB R IA SN Y L
BRE - HARMBRERAE
B R S ALLRE R - BN
HBREHNBABE T BUBR
% o

BEoN - RIERIER BEERE
HESFEE - (FHEHES
SETEF LR MARES
HBUBRARERERNTE
- RIZA 25 EEHIRE 5
MEIIM SRR R © AT - £
11 57 3 A 4 s B0 B 40 B4 5 7R
REOEBHERIBEZS -

s BAREGEAFERREAT
A2 BEREZFBA
TR K P EE £ PR 1S TR 1R
ER T ENBE12REHA
1R o ZIEFTBREL G ER
FIFHREAMEHMRE - A
EREEHAESFEAEL
7K B B A O AEAA] P 1S B 2R
EREE ST ERFE125R AR

E °



Notes to Financial Statements Bt # ¥R 3% Bff 5%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39

Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

(2011) Amendments

HKFRS 14

HKAS 19 Amendments

HKAS 32 Amendments

HKAS 36 Amendments

HKAS 39 Amendments

HK(FRIC) — Int 21

Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

Financial Instruments?

Hedge Accounting and amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011) — /nvestment Entities’

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits — Defined Benefits Plans:
Employee Contributions®

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’

Amendments to HKAS 36 /mpairment
of Assets — Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets’

Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Novation of Derivatives
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’

Levigs’

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
in January 20142

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #5 £k 7% M 5
31 December 2013 —E—=F+-_A=+—H

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016
& No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available

for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1
of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the classification and
measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements
of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made to
the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these
FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that
is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI.
The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or
loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability’s credit risk in OCl would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts which have been designated under the FVO
are scoped out of the Additions.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

In December 2013, the HKICPA added to HKFRS 9 the
requirements related to hedge accounting and made some
related changes to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 which include the
corresponding disclosures about risk management activity for
applying hedge accounting. The amendments to HKFRS 9 relax
the requirements for assessing hedge effectiveness, which result
in more risk management strategies being eligible for hedge
accounting. The amendments also allow greater flexibility on the
hedged items and relax the rules on using purchased options and
non-derivative financial instruments as hedging instruments. In
additions, the amendments to HKFRS 9 allow an entity to apply only
the improved accounting for own credit risk-related fair value gains
and losses arising on FVO liabilities as introduced in 2010 without
applying the other HKFRS 9 requirements at the same time.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before
this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on impairment of
financial assets continues to apply. The previous mandatory effective
date of HKFRS 9 was removed by the HKICPA in December 2013
and a mandatory effective date will be determined after the entire
replacement of HKAS 39 is completed. However, the standard is
available for application now. The Group will quantify the effect in
conjunction with other phases, when the final standard including all
phases is issued.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an investment
entity and provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for
entities that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate
them. Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the
disclosure requirements for investment entities. The Group expects
that these amendments will not have any impact on the Group as
the Company is not an investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.
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The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has
a legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application
of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such
as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments are
not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2014.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Subsidiaries (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of associates and joint ventures are included in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments in associates
and joint ventures are treated as non-current assets and are stated
at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair value of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at the
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual items, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
market for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lower level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties
measured at fair value and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expenses categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for the revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or close member of that person’s family
and that person,
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);
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Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

(vij a person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the assets as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair
value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment
are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If
the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an
individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the
statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit
previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between the
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and
the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease terms or 2% to 5%,
whichever is shorter

Land and buildings

Over the lease terms or 20% to
33%, whichever is shorter

10% to 33%

Leasehold improvements

Fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the period/year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

M - WERRERITE R
HEERETUERELGEEZATEE
HEHREAETEENEZR - WX BEK
RHEEEZY MEEEERREED
BRI - HEEAERTEARBERNEEZ
Bt - RIEBHE AR D S B IR RNk
mEREREGBRERZ LR TAAINE
Mz ERAABEGR BEEMRRGEE
HERERANNFREERIEEMREE
ZIREERZEECKRAEBNER ZE
BMEL - REEEMEER @ sLEAIG
BEEREEEMEHHEABBH/EA
REGIERFERBED -

FEDNEREZRBREYNE  BERERE
Z TR A B M8 L A AN E = LRI BR
BENE FEBCEEZNEFENOT:

FHE i & %2 78 40 B R 3 2% B 5%
EF (AE & A %)
HEXEE LA HAE220% E33%
(AE R & A %)
EERPHAE 10%=33%
B
RE 10% £ 20%

% ~ BB KREEE S 2B
FHIAAHER - AZIRB & BOZKAE
FEEHRGEEEDER - MEHOKIE
ERATE - RIKEE  FIEAFHRTE
TEELREBEMREER RS  £EE
BT INATEE -

EVE BELARBEEBRENIERZ
EMERHH RO EHMGFTEERI L
ERRTHBEEALEMNAR AT BE
R -RNEETERABE FEER
BRERZEMHELRERE VAR
BEZHEMGREFREREER
EH



Notes to Financial Statements Bt # ¥R 3% Bff 5%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment property comprises completed property and property
under construction or re-development. Investment properties are
interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under
an operating lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the
period/year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
period/year of the retirement or disposal.

Investment property under construction is valued at fair value if
it can be reliably determined. If a fair value cannot be reliably
determined, then investment property under construction is
measured at cost less impairment. The fair value of investment
property under construction is either determined on the basis of the
discounted cash flow or the residual methods. However, using either
method to value investment properties under construction also
requires considering the significant risks which are relevant to the
development process, including but not limited to construction and
letting risks. The key judgments and assumptions used for valuing
investment property and investment property under construction are
set out in note 15.
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Investment properties (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of five years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Research and development costs (Continued)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five
years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of
ten years.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated
at the cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS
39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with positive net changes
in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net
changes in fair value presented as other expenses in the statement
of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
expenses.

Avallable-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time
and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other income and
gains, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when
the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or
loss in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding
the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the
ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification
becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on
that asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the
asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
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Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financing difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the assets in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.
If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on
a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Avallable-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss
— is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective

hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,

interest-bearing bank borrowings and bond payable.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because that specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

TTESMIARYGE ()

VIR R LB E ()
TEmAVFEEEIMELEZETARE
BEERAAREBRRA -

#k
17 & Ty A LR B B E I 2 B
AR - A RIS -
535 5 (8 12 T8 81 4 (AL £F 17 5% 7R
AL 2 A -

HERBEEEEY
IRERERERMNE  BEMREFE
MEFHERE LEHER A RABRY
BRENBEREMEEXEEBZ IR
B B—RREBFE=EARNZIHZ%EH
SERERKE - HANMBRNERKEER
VWRAEERCEREIZHMHIRITE
% o

RHBRARME - RELBREFEYE
EFRARSMRITER  EFEREHE
RRMEERRGBUMERIBE &
E o

#iE
ERBEEMHEBRAEEREERE
mA&AIGEARDBERBETEREET B
BEREEM SRR MG - BIZARER
B -

EFRNTEERE  HBEEERANS
BOERAERRBTEERATHIR
HBEPRRNBE - ARBHRBEZBINR
ENSREMEN  SEENBREROE



Notes to Financial Statements Bt # ¥R 3% Bff 5%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(b)  from contract revenue, on the percentage of completion basis,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Contract
accounting” below;

() from the rendering of services, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Contracts for services” below;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

() dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise equipment and
material costs, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the percentage
of completion method, measured by reference to the proportion of
work completed to date to the estimated total work of the relevant
contract.
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Contract accounting (Continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus
is treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed
contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise labour and
other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services
and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on
the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided that the
revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion
can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is
established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared
to the total costs to be incurred under the transaction. Where the
outcome of a contract cannot be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible
to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated
as an amount due from contract customers. Where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to
contract customers.

Equity-settled awards

The Company operates two share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments. Further details of which are
given in note 35(a) to the financial statements.
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Equity-settled awards (Continued)

The Company operates restricted a share award scheme (the
“RSA Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. An employee share trust is established
and administered by an independent trustee and is funded by the
Group’s cash contributions. The considerations paid (including any
related transaction costs) by the Company to purchase shares of
the Company for the RSA Scheme are deducted from equity as
an employee share trust. The administrator of the employee share
trust purchases the Company’s shares in the open market as award
shares to employees upon vesting. Upon vesting of the award
shares, the corresponding amount in the employee share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to the employee share
trust. Further details of which are given in note 35(b) to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled awards with employees for grants after
7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled awards is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled awards at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled awards where vesting is conditional upon
a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

VA B 0 32 14 B8 Bh (48)
ARARTRAHAREEG 2 RINELER
BlzaBER2EERHEREDLORME
1 52 BR il A 22 Bh =t &1 (152 R Il B 17 22 iy
ElD - KUBERMEES Y HBYEE
ABRE AAEEURESHR - "RFX
NHREREMEHERZER)BEA
ARBIRDIEZ RSB BT E - W
BaBTEERRESAMG - EEK
RESHREAR AN SBEARB RN
ERARFBEENERRD - REBE
BIROE  ABRHXNEEZHMEFEED
HECESBREZ2EERRES - #£—
5 B #U L B 75 i R BT RE35(0)

RIZBZE_F+-ALBRBERARLMERE
BETZUBROINEBZKA  TH2R
RERHPZATFEBEMAE - A FEEH
SN fEERTER A A E o

PARSU A7 S A 8RB 2 B AN - 328 [F) 4 2 4 P 3
mEty  EERKR S LRG G ESE
TZHRANEERNERER - £FB
B EART - & E RS AR ARER ZARND X
NEBZ 2 RREBHCZ R
DEAREHRRKERB 2 TAK
Bz &ERMAF - EX - HHEARERSEXR
MZNBRFRAER » TIRIR R 5 FI R H 7
HEHREREZED o

BENARKEBZRE  TeBAEM
FAS - BRFHIHHIFERB G TRE R
BT 2 AR A BB AIBRON o A%
HERE  REMEEMB RN, IR &
HELEX  TwmESIEFBIEMTLE
ER B RERECRE -

A

HMNBIBERERD
20134 4R



Notes to Financial Statements Bf #5 £k 7% M 5
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

Equity-settled awards (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.
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Pension schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate has been
applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary item measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item measured at
the fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the period/year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
these properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue withholding
taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by certain
subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted in the
jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the distributions
of dividends.
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Judgements (Continued)

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a
majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls Shenzhen Techo Telecom
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Techo Telecom”) even though it owns less
than 50% of the voting rights. This is because the Group is the
single largest shareholder of Shenzhen Techo Telecom with a
4517% equity interest. Other than four other shareholders who
collectively hold 37.78% equity interest in Shenzhen Techo Telecom,
the remaining 17.05% of the equity shares in Shenzhen Techo
Telecom are widely held by many other shareholders, none of
which individually hold more than 1% of the equity shares (since
the completion date of the Absorption and Merger (defined in note
19 below) when the Group obtained the 45.17% equity interest in
Shenzhen Techo Telecom). In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the equity holdings in Shenzhen Techo Telecom are
dispersed in a way that other shareholders have not organised and
cannot easily organised their holdings in such way that the Group
can exercise more voting power than the minority shareholders.
Therefore the directors of the Company are of the view that the
Company has de facto control over Shenzhen Techo Telecom.

Recognition of employee benefit expense for equity-settled awards
compensation costs

The Company operates two share option schemes and the RSA
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
employees. The fair values of these equity-settled awards were
valued by an external valuer using the binomial model. These
valuations require the Company to make estimates about certain
key inputs, including the dividend yield, expected volatility, risk-free
interest rate and expected life of options, and hence they are subject
to uncertainty.

Besides, the grant of share options and RSUs and share options
is conditional upon the satisfaction of specified vesting conditions,
including service period and performance condition linked to
financial performance measure. Judgement is required to take into
account the vesting conditions and adjust the number of RSUs
and share options included in the measurement of share-based
compensation costs.
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Judgements (Continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for equity-settled awards
compensation costs (Continued)

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-settled rewards
at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period. No expense is recognised
for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Further details are given in notes 6 and 35 to the financial
statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for trade receivables of
the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of trade receivables and on the judgement of management.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required. Net impairment of
trade receivables of HK$105,258,000 (year ended 31 March 2013:
HK$116,948,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the nine months ended 31 December 2013. The
carrying amount of trade and bills receivables as at 31 December
2013 was HK$11,494,720,000 (31 March 2013: HK$10,324,760,000).
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the
Group and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified that are no longer suitable for sales. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
A considerate amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these inventories. If the market conditions
were to change, resulting in a change of provision for obsolete items,
the difference will be recorded in the period it is identified. Net
provision of inventories of HK$101,157,000 (year ended 31 March
2013: net reversal of provision of inventories of HK$2,597,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
nine months ended 31 December 2013. The carrying amount of
inventories as at 31 December 2013 was HK$5,635,678,000 (31
March 2013: HK$5,726,876,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, certain
investment properties including completed investment properties
and investment properties under construction are revalued at the
end of the reporting period on an open market, existing use basis
by independent professional valuers. These valuations were based
on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement,
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are
used. The carrying amount of investment properties measured at
fair value at 31 December 2013 was HK$355,294,000 (31 March
2013: HK$174,660,000). The significant methods and assumptions
used by valuers in estimating the fair value of investment properties
are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Investment properties under construction is measured based on
estimates prepared by independent real estate valuation experts,
except where such values cannot be reliably determined. As at 31
December 2013, certain investment properties under construction
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$400,089,000 (31 March
2013: HK$160,537,000) were measured at cost less impairment
because their fair values could not be reliably determined because
it was in an area in which the surrounding properties were under
development and reliable estimates could not be made.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Recognition and allocation of construction cost on properties under
development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties under
development during the construction stage and will be transferred to
completed properties held for sale upon completion. Apportionment
of these costs will be recognised in the statement of profit or loss
upon the recognition of the sale of the properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the
sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the development
projects into phases. Specific costs directly related to the
development of a phase are recorded as the cost of such phase.
Costs that are common to phases are allocated to individual phases
based on the estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related cost allocation
is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease in
the development costs and other costs would affect the profit or
loss in future years.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2013 was HK$243,670,000 (31 March
2013: HK$239,012,000). Further details are given in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax
asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. Certain
entities of the Group were recognised as “High New Technology
Enterprises” in Mainland China and entitled to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15% for a three-year period. The
tax regulations call for a renewal process after the expiry. For the
measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, judgement is
required to determine whether these entities will continue to meet
the criteria of “High New Technology Enterprise” and estimate the
tax rates expected to be applied. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised based upon
the likely timing and amounts of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of net deferred
tax assets at 31 December 2013 was HK$194,916,000 (31 March
2013: HK$78,567,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses and
certain deductible temporary differences at 31 December 2013 was
HK$102,988,000 (31 March 2013: HK$108,764,000). Further details
are given in note 24 to the financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various regions. As a result
of the fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes have
not been confirmed by the local tax bureaus, objective estimates
and judgements based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining the provision
of corporate income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will impact the corporate income tax and tax provisions
in the period in which the differences realise.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments

Where the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded
in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation techniques. The inputs
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations
of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
values of derivative financial instruments.

Percentage of completion of contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts. The stage of completion is
estimated by reference to the proportion of work completed to
date to the estimated total work of the relevant contract, and the
corresponding contract revenue is also estimated by management.
Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in these contracts,
the date at which the activity is entered into and the date at
which the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting
periods. Hence, the Group reviews and revises the estimates of
both contract revenue and contract costs for each contract as the
contract progresses. Where the actual contract revenue is less than
estimated or the actual contract costs are more than estimated, a
foreseeable loss may arise.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognises movements of its fair value in equity. When the fair
value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment
that should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The
Group also recognises unlisted equity investments as available-
for-sale and states them at cost less impairment. Losses arising
from the impairment of such investments should be recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. The aggregate carrying amount
of available-for-sale financial assets measured at cost less
impairment is HK$521,331,000 (31 March 2013: HK$214,207,000),
of which HK$219,372,000 (31 March 2013: HK$214,207,000) and
HK$301,959,000 (31 March 2013: Nil) are included in non-current
assets and current assets, respectively, at 31 December 2013.
Further details are contained in note 23 to the financial statements.

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of
their operations, target customer segments and the products and
services they provide. Each of the Group’s reportable operating
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other reportable segments. Particulars of the
Group’s four reportable operating segments are summarised as
follows:

(@  the “Distribution” segment, with a primary focus on the SMB
& Consumer markets, focuses on meeting the demand for
IT products from SMB and consumer markets, and also
explores new opportunities in mobile internet devices and
their applications with the implementation of the Sm@rt City
strategy. It engages in the sale and distribution of general
IT products which consist of notebook computers, desktop
computers, peripherals, accessories and consumer [T
products;
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(b) the “Systems” segment, with a primary focus on the
Enterprise market, focuses on meeting the IT demand from
the urban information infrastructure construction, as well as
the enterprise market and also makes direct sales to regional
customers to enhance direct control over the demand of
the enterprise market. It engages in the sale and distribution
of systems products which consist of servers, networking
products, storage products and packaged software;

(c) the “Supply Chain Services” segment, with a primary focus
on the Hi-tech Industries, Branded e-Commerce Platform
Operators and Branded Service Providers, is targeted at
manufacturers of IT and other high-value density products
manufacturers and industry customers, branded e-commerce
platform operators and branded service providers, providing
one-stop consultancy and execution services in logistics,
business flow, capital flow and information flow; and

(d) the “Services” segment, with a primary focus on the provision
of urban information infrastructure and Sm@rt City services
to the Industry market, focuses on the provision of urban
information infrastructure and Sm@rt City services targeted at
large-scale industry customers, offering products and services
in IT planning and IT systems consultation, design and
implementation of industry application software and solutions,
outsourcing of IT system operation and maintenance, as well
as system integration and maintenance.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on the reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that unallocated interest income, unallocated
finance costs, unallocated corporate income and gains, listing
expense relating to the Absorption and Merger (defined in note
19) and unallocated corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, derivative financial
instruments, cash and cash equivalents, properties under
development, available-for-sale investments and other unallocated
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, bond payable and other
unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on

a group basis.

The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset,

4.

e HEFR (R
ABEETREREEEELTEEN
BEBE  EHESRAMAARATE

E o

TRENAEBBE_T—=Ft_A=

liability and expenditure information for the Group’s operating +—HIEAERAR=S —:¢: A=+—
segments for the nine months ended 31 December 2013 and the HEFELEDBIWA - BN RETE
year ended 31 March 2013. E -BEREARAER -
Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
by ] R HRERYE R &8
Nine months Nine months Nine months Nine months Nine months
ended  Year ended ended  Year ended ended  Year ended ended  Year ended ended  Year ended
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2018 2013 2013 2013 2018
HE BE BE S BE BE S
—%¥-=f CZE-ZF —¥-Zf ZZ-Z=f -8-= —¥-Z& ZZ-Zf
+-B=+-B =A=t-B +=A=t-8 =A=t-B +-A=t-H +-A=+-8
LrfER IHFE AR Jl:3: LtafEA HFE LAfA IHFE LA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRL BT EETR BB BETR BETT BB BETR EETR BB
Segment revenue: BB

Sales to external customers HEFHIES 26,254,130 37,656,787 17,638,370 25,618,478 1,064,603 1,211,041 7,307,431 9012607 52,264,534 73,498,913
S gross profit ABEF 613,999 1,239,269 1,424,442 2,444,860 205,148 245,540 1,135,017 1,440,898 3,378,606 5,370,567
Segment results AREER 17,380 413,916 489,953 1,198,531 51,678 47,637 336,472 468,073 895,483 2,128,157
Interest income, unallocated income FIEWA - ®PBEHRAR

and gains Yz 452,385 354,582
Listing expense relating to the RREHERL FTER

Absorption and Merger (R ERATEE19)

(defined in note 19) (1,216,133) =
Other unallocated expenses EthRAERR (311,504) (368,731)
Finance costs HERK (178,741) (293,205)
Share of profits and losses of: EETIRRZEFR

e

Joint ventures RERE - - - = - = (4,893) 6,997 (4,893) 6,997

Associates BEAR - - - - - - 72,004 23,474 72,004 23,474
Proft/{loss) before tax BB AER/ (B8) (291,399) 1,851,274
Income tax expense FEHER (171,245) (332,122)
Profit/{loss) for the REE/ERER/

period/year (B H8) (462,644) 1,519,152
Assets and liabilities BEREH
Segment assets PEBEE 6,425,648 595,383 8,566,146 8,357,682 285,941 293,529 5355219 4844748 20,632,954 19,454,342
Investments in joint ventures A%@%z&é - = - - - = 163,275 126,601 163,275 126,601
Investments in associates BENRZRE - = - = - = 1,035,300 681,976 1,035,300 681,976
Avallable-for-sale investments mw%zhs - - - = - = 819,459 473,95 819,459 473,952
Unallocated assets KAREE 7,448,985 7,670,999
Total assets BEE 30,099,973 28,407,870
Segment liabilities ABEE 5,189,027 4,648,083 4,455,331 5,276,006 260,305 303,518 4,936,401 3,700,738 14,841,064 13,928,345
Unallocated liabilities *AEAR 6,212,521 5,808,391
Total liabilities BaE 21,053,585 19,736,736
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128

Distribution

i |

Nine months
ended

31 December
2013

0z
Z¥-zf
+2R=+-8
LAEA
HK$'000

ERTR

Nine months
ended

31 December
2013

BE
—§-=%
tZA=t-H
LAER
HK$'000

ERTR

Year ended
31 March
2013

#z
—T-Z%
=ZA=t-~R
JIZ:3:4
HK$'000

EETT

Systems

R4

Supply Chain Services
BEERS

Nine months
ended

31 December
2013

HE
—¥-=%
tZA=t+-B
LrEA
HK$000

ERTR

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 March

2013

#z
—F-=%
=A=t+-AR
I3
HK$'000

BETT

Year ended
31 March
2013

#Z
—3-=f
=A=t+-AH
fl%:354
HK$'000

AETT

2013

5z
Z%-=f
+2R=+-8
LABR
HK$'000

ERTR

31 December

Services

Year ended
31 March
2013

#z
—T-Z%
=ZA=t-AR
JIZ:3:4
HK$'000

EETT

Consolidated

L]

Nine months
ended

31 December
2013

BE
—§-=%
tZA=t-H
LAER
HK$'000

ERTR

Year ended
31 March
2013

HK$ 000
BBETT

Other segment information:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Unallocated amounts

RS BENH:
0% BERRHEZ
i

4,309
K5 BAG

4,563 15,496

17,87 12,488 15,313 49,326

66,912

81,619
42,006

104,659
55,090

123,625

159,749

Amortisation of other intangible
assets

Amortisation of prepaid and
premiums — Unallocated

Capital expenditure *

Unallocated amounts

ARV EAERY

BtpAcER
- KB

AARx
KD EET

22,135 31,496

112,439

6,321

3,882

82,532
502,536

916

4,128

204,936
752,279

585,068

957,215

Impairment/(reversal of
impairment) of trade
receivables

Provisions/(reversal of provisions)
for and write-off of obsolete
inventories

Impairment of an investment in an
associate

Impairment of an available-for-sale
investment

Impairment of prepayments
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(120) 25,423

74,502

191,604

4,196

110,620

105,258

101,157

74,592
84,960

116,948

(2,597)

110,620
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Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue from external customers
is generated in Mainland China and over 90% of the non-current
assets of the Group (except for investments in associates) are
located in Mainland China, no geographic information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013 and the
year ended 31 March 2013, there was no revenue derived from
transactions with a single external customer which individually
amounted to 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the invoiced
value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts
and the value of services rendered to customers, net of business
tax and government surcharges.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 5. WA~ Eb A R = (&)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: Ha AR 2 o :
Group
AE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HE-T—=% HEZ—=F
+=-HA=+—H =A=+—H”
IEA{E B IEFE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 BETT &M T T
Other income Hib i A
Government grants? B ALt 115,615 121,234
Interest income F B WA 49,566 95,561
Gross rental income AU A 7,976 29,569
Dividend income from an available-for- AHEEZIREZ
sale investment A% 2 U A 2,683 —
Others Hfth 77,185 52,150
253,025 298,514
Gains W 2=
Fair value gains on investment properties & ME v A FEEYKZE 15 11,709 15,954
Gain on derivative financial instruments T4 £ 8 T A gz 31 206,247 113,981
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZHWB AR 2 Wam 37 13,637 251,012
Gain on disposal of associates HEZEBE AR 2 Kka - 573
Gain on deemed partial disposal of the 18 [A & — R Bk & A 7
equity interest in an associate o m 2 W 60,025 —
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE V2= R 304,021 134,691
Others E A, 23,399 7,882
619,038 524,093
872,063 822,607
t Various government grants have been received for the sale of self-developed t AEEEEHEREANRLME ([HE]) R

software products approved by the tax authority in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”), the development of software products in Mainland China, and
the investments in specific provinces in Mainland China. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

BRBEATER, (&)
AREZBBARF (5B E @M,/

(crediting): (GTA) :
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE-S-=f£ Hz-T—=F
+=-A=+—-8 =A=1+—H
LEAEA EFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HrF EETRT BET T
Cost of inventories sold EHMEE 2R 47,038,133 66,200,901
Auditors’ remuneration ZE ML 4,921 5,200
Depreciation e 14 123,625 159,749
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums BT HHEEEH 16 3,882 4,128
Research and development costs* R kKA 422,472 255,384
Amortisation of other intangible assets* HEHEEHE 18 6,321 916
Minimum lease payments under operating leases in =~ T REFZ SELEHE
respect of land and buildings e 113,594 150,039
Listing expense relating to the Absorption and RBEHER L LTMER
Merger 19 1,216,133 =
Provisions/(reversal of provisions) for and write-off of REGFEEE /(BERE) R
obsolete inventories* EEh 101,157 (2,597)
Impairment of trade receivables* e E 51k FUR B 28 105,258 116,948
Impairment of an investment in an associate* REE AR 2 BB RE - 110,620
Impairment of an available-for-sale investment* ARHEZRERNE" 23 74,592 =
Impairment of prepayments* BN FIERE 84,960 -
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale investment*  HE&E—FAHEEZHE 2
BB 1,072 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant ~ HEWE - BMERREZ
and equipment B/ () 7,830 (4,233)
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EEGHAZ(BRESHE
remuneration (note 8)): (H1i#8)) :
Wages and salaries IERE® 1,437,907 1,898,218
Share-based compensation WRHZH 2z e (34,684) 64,987
Pension scheme contributions* RIS F B 148,124 180,845
Other benefits Hib@7l 274,539 369,146
1,825,886 2,513,196
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and ARIESHNRENENEE
maintenance) arising on rental-eaming investment ZEERA(BERERN
properties RE) 971 4,855
Rental income on investment properties less direct & BMEHL WA R EES
operating expenses of HK$971,000 (year ended EERER971,0007T (B2
31 March 2013: HK$4,855,000) I N = A
2 : E#4,855,0007T) (7,005) (24,714)

HNBEERARATF
20134 4R

131



Notes to Financial Statements Bf 7 i 3% [ff %
31 December 2013 —E—=F+-_A=+—H

6.  PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. Bﬁ* FiAl (B8 RF(E)
The amortisation of other intangible assets, the provisions/(reversal of HihELEESRY MRETEREG (BER
provisions) for and write-off of obsolete inventories, the impairment of trade )R HMisH - B ESIRZFRE  REEE AR
receivables, the impairment of an investment in an associate, the impairment ZERERE AIHEEZRERE  BIX
of an available-for-sale investment, the impairment of prepayments, the loss E R E ﬁ%—fﬁiﬁfa%Z&EZEﬂﬁ &I
on disposal of an available-for-sale investment and research and development &Faﬁﬁé‘%$a‘+7\i¢"?é\ BaRPZ[HMEA
costs are included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of FEIA
profit or loss.
o At 31 December 2013, the Group had no material forfeited contributions > R-ZE—=F+_A=+—H AEEITES
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years AR R RFEE 2 RIK@ 5 SR 2 5%
(31 March 2013: Nil). BREERR(CE—=F=A=+—H: %)
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WEKAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEK AR DT
Group
EE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE-T—=% HE_ZT—=%
+=—HA=+—H =A=+—H
IEA@EA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT ST T
Interest on bank borrowings wholly ARAFANBHEENRITER
repayable within five years A2 139,383 180,874
Interest on a bond payable ETEHTF A 645 1,932
Interest on discounted bills BRI EEF B 54,714 124,794
Less: Interest capitalised B B A A (16,001) (14,395)
178,741 293,205

1 32 Digital China Holdings Limited
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the period/year, disclosed pursuant to BREBBEERSHMER AT BLFLETR
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange BI(ME 22 pr ([T 48 A D) R & B A 7 &
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) FIEI6HE B BRAEIH FEANZES
and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as [k U
follows:
Group
xE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HEZ_FT—=F HEZZ—=F
+=ZHA=+—H —A=+—H
IERER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BT T
Fees Gk 1,125 1,500
Other emoluments: H A B2 :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREVET
in kind 8,764 7,947
Performance related bonuses FRIBEE A - 3,346
Share-based compensation (note) AR 19 245 2 B <& (B 7)) (7,259) 7,712
Pension scheme contributions RINEFTEIH R 105 82
1,610 19,087
2,735 20,587
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (&)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BWIAFEHRITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during RABE FEAE XN FBLIE
the period/year were as follows: WITESZHESWT:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE_FT—=5 (BT —=F
+=-HA=+—H2 =A=+—H
IEA@EA WFEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
HBETT BT T
Mr. HU Zhaoguang tH AR & % A& 225 300
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis BHXOREE 225 300
Ms. NI Hong (Hope) 172 9T /)N 48 225 300
Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter ERELE 225 300
900 1,200
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent REEZT—=F+-A=A=1+—
non-executive directors during the nine months ended 31 B 1EAE A A8 ST 8 S IE B
December 2013 (year ended 31 March 2013: Nil). TEEENEMLHe EEZZE—=
F=ZA=A=+—HLEFE: 8-
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) BITEERIHTESE
Salaries, allowances Performance Share-based Pension scheme Total
Fees and benefits in kind related bonuses compensation contributions remuneration
#HeE He EUREPEN REEBZIEL URGHIGZHE BHRESHFIHER & E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT EETT BETT EETT
(Note)
Nine months ended HE-T-=
31 December 2013 +=B=+-H
LEAf@EA
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. GUO Wei 1y Yt - 3,692 - (3,827) 35 (100)
Mr. LIN Yang* WG R A - 3,039 - (1,914) 35 1,160
Mr. YAN Guorong* EEE Y - 2,033 - (1,518) 35 550
- 8,764 - (7,259) 105 1,610
Non-executive director: FRITES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN Bkt E 225 - - - - 225
225 8,764 - (7,259) 105 1,835
# Appointed on 1 April 2013 i RZE—=FNA—HEZE
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

8. EEM=(A)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) BITEERIHITEEE)
(Continued)
Salaries, allowances Performance Share-based  Pension scheme Total
Fees and benefits in kind  related bonuses compensation contributions  remuneration
e Fe REREVEN REBBZEL UROIGzZME RASHEER Hewn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BT BETT
(Note)
(Hit)
Year ended BE-T-=%
31 March 2013 =B=+-H
LtEE
Executive directors: HITEZE:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE - 5,276 2,437 5,138 4 12,892
Mr. LIN Yang* s = 2,671 909 2,574 #H 6,195
- 7,947 3,346 7,712 82 19,087
Non-executive director: FMITES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN Ak E 300 = = = = 300
300 7,947 3,346 7,712 82 19,387

Mr. LIN Yang is also the chief executive of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or a chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the period/year.

Note:

In prior years, certain directors were granted share options and
restricted share units (“RSUs”), in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share option schemes and the RSA scheme of the
Company, respectively, further details of which are set out in note 35
to the financial statements. The fair values of such options and RSUs,
which have been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled, were determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current period is included
in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

The cumulative expense recognised for these equity-settled rewards
at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period. No expense is recognised for
awards that do not ultimately vest.

R

T

Wt -

MG R ETNBARRAHITHRAH

HE/FERN EFHTHRA
5T S PN ER 2K R B EE A AR A
g7

RBEFE ETEFEAREAAE
[ 12 4t AR 7% M 0 BUAR 13 A A B BB A A
A8 R RREIAD R A B R ER
BEXBEHBROTEREER]) &
B — BN Y B MR S5 -
ZEBBRERZREKROZ A FEE
TRRERHEHERE  YEREKRRR
R /SRBOGEBANERRRARE
R MAARPEI B REZEEE
HALBMEEHESERH -

REREHMREEHE BB ARH
SN REFAERZ RAXRREE
HREREL ARAKEHKKE
BreREETABANREMBTER-
RE-HHENBEERAMNBRTAZ
AN ZE R R 8 RE#ER
REAFAXHED RRRBEHB K
BI2RX T TR -

MBI ERERAE
20134 3R
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Without considering the effect of the reversal of the share-based
compensation relating to the equity-settled awards as further
explained in note 35(b) to the financial statements, the five highest
paid employees during the nine months ended 31 December 2013
included three (year ended 31 March 2013: two) directors and
chief executive, detail of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (year ended
31 March 2013: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company for the period are as

follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind # 4 2B R B W&

Performance related bonuses
Share-based compensation (hote)
Pension scheme contributions

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

REMRMEZIEL

AR An S 2 B & (B 22)

EYANC AT RPN

fie AN & B Utk B 75 5 3R B FE35(0) AT — &
338 [B] B2 DA B A0 ST 2 22 B 4 B ) DA B
MXNZHMEBERT  REBEE-_F—=F
ToA=+T—BLENEAAZ A KEE
HWEEEE="2#EHE_T—=F=A=+
—AUEFE - MB)EEFRTRES  BF
Z M IE N EXHE8A o AN B &R
THEBEEZZ—=F=ZA=+—HILF
B ZR)&=FMER (LIFARRNE
FRITRAF) CHESFBHAWT

Year ended

31 March

2013
BE-T—=%
=A=+—H
IEFE
HK$’'000
AT

3,399
1,462
10,741
124

15,726
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The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

HK$2,000,001
HK$2,500,001
HK$3,000,001
HK$3,500,001
HK$4,000,001
HK$4,500,001
HK$5,000,001
HK$5,500,001
HK$6,000,001

Note:

to HK$2,500,000
to HK$3,000,000
to HK$3,500,000
to HK$4,000,000
to HK$4,500,000
to HK$5,000,000
to HK$5,500,000
to HK$6,000,000
to HK$6,500,000

78 #2,000,0017T & % #2,500,0007T
78 #2,500,0017T & 7% #3,000,0007T
75 3,000,0017T = 4 #3,500,0007T
75 3,500,0017T = % #4,000,0007T
75 4,000,0017T £ /% #4,500,0007T
75 4,500,0017T £ 78 #5,000,0007T
75 #5,000,0017T = 7% #5,500,0007T
75 #5,500,0017T £ 7% #6,000,0007T
& #6,000,0017T £ 7 #6,500,0007T

In prior years, certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

employees were granted share options and RSUs, in respect of their services
to the Group, under the share option schemes and the RSA scheme of the
Company, respectively, further details of which are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements. The fair values of such options and RSUs, which have
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, were determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current period is included in the above non-director and non-chief
executive, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

ERFMEESTRIFTRAHERE ZA
B HmENT

Year ended

31 March

2013
HE-_ZT—=%
=A=+—8
IEFE

Brit: RBEFERN ETRESFHIFEERIT

BAZESAKESAEEREERL MDA
R AN R BE BRAE AT 8 R X R 6 A 0 2 B 5
BEXBRERZBRGIRD AL FF
BN UL B TS MR AT AE36 - ZSHBRER T
BRHENHZAFEBEDANREAREE X
ERERRAR /RGO FBHNERS
RABR  MAARPEEBREZEHEE
AL ESHMEEERIETRERER
BeErH -

HMNBEERARAR
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Group: AEH:
Current — Hong Kong RE — BA
Current — Mainland China NE] — AR K RE
Deferred (note 24) I SE (Hf i24)

Total tax charge for the period/year

@)

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013 and the
year ended 31 March 2013, Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong.

PRC corporate income tax represents tax charged on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In
general, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25%
except for certain subsidiaries which are entitled to preferential
tax rates.

The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures of
HK$387,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: HK$597,000)
and the share of tax charge attributable to associates of
HK$21,115,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: HK$12,297,000)
are included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures”
and “Share of profits and losses of associates”, respectively,
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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AEE FERBEXHAG

Year ended

31 March

2013
HE-_ZT—=

=A=+—H

EE

HK$’000

BT I

805
377,122
(45,805)

332,122

REBEE_T—=F+-_A=+—HL
NWEARR -—ZT—=F=F=+—HiIt
FEN BENESRNIREEEE
2 h AT R R 15 16.5% 2 T =
ATE o

FRCEMERIENTFEANEES
ZAE ET IR B % A BT i 2 B I o
BETHBARZEHEERIN
REEBEFRBEAELENHEQR
—MABWNTECEMBR ZHE
5525% °

EREEtXZHRBEILABK
387,000 (HBE=ZZE—=F=HA=+
—HIEFE : B #597,0007T) M B &
NaElZFIB X AB ¥21,115,0007T
(Bz=Z—=F=A=t+—HL#F
JE : 7##12,297,0007T) © 22 BIFEA
REEGBRRRPZEHEEREZ
A R SR R E AE 25
F Rk EEIA -
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FREHRERE)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before REBEARB R KNS HENB AR ERE
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company EEAERERFERBANEF(E18)
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense ZBIESE  BEREBRREFECHIAS
at the effective tax rates is as follows: HEIR AT
Group EE
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 2013 31 March 2013
BE-F—=% HE-_T—=
+=-HA=+—H =—A=+—H
IEA@EA IEEE
HK$°000 %  HK$000 %
EETRT BEoH BETT Bk
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AT =R (& 1R) (291,399) 1,851,274
Tax at the applicable tax rate REABERTE 2 FRIE (72,850) 25.0 462,820 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific provinces 45T & ki 5 R4 T2
or local authority AR B R (174,198)  59.8  (214,518) (11.6)
Profits and losses attributable to joint & & ¥ R Et & A &) 2 B
ventures and associates A K B 1R 2,476 (0.8) (622) (0.0)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERZKREARIEBEZ
recognised MR E 39,162  (13.4) 21,174 1.1
Income not subject to tax AR WA (77,407) 26.5 (72,744) (3.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 53 466,288 (160.1) 170,289 9.2
Tax losses utilised from previous AABAFPMZHIAEREIE
periods (12,226) 4.2 (562,591) (2.8)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on & — T BB AR 25 IKE
dividend income declared by a PRC BB A GTE10%TEFFE 2
subsidiary Ta - - 18,314 1.0
Tax charge at the Group’s effective ~ EAEEERHERAFEZ
rate I8 32 171,245  (58.8) 332,122 18.0
%ﬁid‘l‘I%ﬁE%EHnggé‘% 139
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The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent for the nine months ended 31 December 2013 includes
a loss of HK$39,392,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: loss of
HK$63,905,000), which was arrived at after deducting dividend
income received from a subsidiary and other intercompany
income totalling HK$635,641,000 (year ended 31 March 2013:
HK$547,753,000) from the Company’s profit of HK$596,249,000
(year ended 31 March 2013: HK$483,848,000), and has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 36(b)).

AARRABBEENBE_S—=F
+—A=+—HIEABEANTFARKE
EEERE R A - KB ARRRE M BB
596,249,000t (B EZ—ZT—=F=H=+
— B IEFE : 45 %483,848,0007T) 1 31 Br
REHBAFRERARERIEA AWK
A 5T #635,641,000 (B E—Z—=
F=H=1T—HIEFE : B%547,753,000
J0) 1% © B 18 &7 #39,392,000 T (B ==
E—=—FE=ZA=+—RILEE:FIEAB
#63,905,0007T) (Ff 7£36(b)) °

Proposed final dividend — 17.80 HK
cents (year ended 31 March 2013:
38.80 HK cents) per ordinary share
based on issued share capital at the
end of the reporting period

Less: Dividend for shares held under
the RSA Scheme at the end of the
reporting period

The proposed final dividend for the period is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.
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Year ended
31 March
2013
HE—_E—=%
=A=t—AR
HEE
HK$’000
ik e
BRARBARKRBE RS EER
MEZRTRASR L BR
17.808 Il (BE-—ZT—=F= A
=+—HIEFE 3880 l)
424,264
B X R AR () B AT B R RS
BRFT IR w9 % B
(9,672)
414,592

AEEBRRRAPREALRARARRE
AR RTIRRBFAG LA -
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The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the nine months ended 31 December
2013 attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$84,103,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: HK$1,367,369,000),
and the weighted average of 1,068,011,559 (year ended 31 March
2013: 1,068,181,622) ordinary shares in issue less shares held under
the RSA Scheme during the period.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for the
nine months ended 31 December 2013 is based on the profit for
the nine months ended 31 December 2013 attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$84,103,000 (year ended 31
March 2013: HK$1,367,369,000) and the weighted average of
1,088,825,536 (year ended 31 March 2013: 1,082,073,741) ordinary
shares, which represented 1,068,011,559 (year ended 31 March
2013: 1,068,181,622) ordinary shares in issue less shares held under
the RSA Scheme during the nine months ended 31 December
2013, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average of 15,813,977 (year ended 31 March 2013:
13,892,119) ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares relating to the Group’s share-based incentive
schemes into ordinary shares.

HEABKREMN I ZEZ_T—=F+_A=
+—B - AEA 2 &R R E R R RS
A BB #L4103,000T (BE_Z—=4%
= A=+ —HLEFE : #%1,367,369,000
L) AERREBE-_ZTE—=F+-_A=+
—H 1N E A A B AT E B AR R PR
B% 19 2% B 51 8 BT 5 B 0 2 I #E F 5 &
1,068,011,550 (BLZ—FE—=F=A=+
—HIEEE : 1,068,181,6220% ) 51 & -

HE-_ZT—=%+-A=t+—BIt N
Az s5RAERN  DEBEE-ZT—=
F+-A=+—HIEABEAEZBAAX
| A% IR B FE 15 % 7 A B 84,103,000
TEHE-_ZE—=F=A=1+—HL*F
€ : 7 #1,367,369,0007T) & f0 #E F 15 2
1,083,825,536 K (Bl ZE—F —=F= A=
+—HBIEEE : 1,082,073, 741 8% ) &8 ML &1
o WBRHEBEAREAFEELRSRAT
MRBE-_ZE—=F+-_A=+—HI1Ah
& B Az B 317 8 B8 S BR il B 10 52 B)
sHEIFT R 1D 2 1,068,011,5590% (B 2 — T
—=F=A=1+—HI-%% :1,068,181,622
B8 A RBEAER 2 REREE 2
FIERBE#ENEBRERBETE
WERHR A EERITL B Z NETFHEH
15,813,977 (B E—E—=F=H=+—
B E - 13,892,1190%) 2 4240 °

27

HMNBIBERERD
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142

Leasehold
land and
buildings

HEL®
RigF

HK$'000
EETR

Leasehold
improvements

HERE
HK$'000
BRTR

Fixtures
and office
equipment

KER
WAERE
HK$’000
EEFT

Motor
vehicles

RE
HK$'000
EETR

Construction in
progress

ERIE
HK$'000
ERTR

Total

it
HK$’000
LA

31 December 2013

At 31 March 2013 and
at 1 April 2013:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Z¥-=§+=-R=t-H
RZE-—=F=A=+—-HBR
R-Z-—=FMA—R:
KAE
Rt E

833,260
(48,712)

156,817
(109,722)

968,429
(560,427)

47,588
(26,102)

253,906

2,260,000
(744,963)

Net carrying amount

REFE

784,548

47,095

408,002

21,486

253,906

1,515,037

At 1 April 2013, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposals

Disposal of subsidiaries
(note 37)

Transfers

Depreciation provided during the
period

Exchange realignment

R-F—=4MA—8:
MR R4 &

NE

M B AR

HE

o B A R (7 7237)

B
AHREAE

B 33 %

784,548
5,793

150,582

(16,672)
15,157

47,095
11,187

(2,735)

()]
31

(14,878)
844

408,002
47,706
53
(17,104)

(2,157)
3,424

(87,572)
7,435

(4,503)
372

253,906
74,058

(185,882)

1,515,037
139,889
53
(19,924)

(2,745)
(31,907)

(123,625)
28,667

At 31 December 2013, net of
accumulated depreciation

RZE—=F+=A=+—H"

Mk 2t &

939,408

359,787

146,941

1,505,445

At 31 December 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

RZZ—=F+-R=+—H:
BRAME
2imE

1,005,783
(66,375)

165,152
(123,673)

972,906
(613,119)

47,353
(29,523)

146,941

2,338,135
(832,690)

Net carrying amount

Digital China Holdings Limited
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REF E

939,408

41,479

359,787

17,830

146,941

1,505,445
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: e o A oy
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 4. Y% - BERRZE (&)
Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Leasehold Fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Construction in
buildings improvements equipment Motor vehicles progress Total
HE T £ER
REF HEXE HAZERMB "B EEIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT BETT BT
31 March 2013 —®¥-=#=A=+-H
At 1 April 2012: RZT——FWMWA—H:
Cost B AN ME 588,537 140,623 908,532 48,175 207,988 1,893,855
Accumulated B i
depreciation (35,494) (98,621) (501,872) (21,393) = (657,380)
Net carrying amount IR EFE 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
At 1 April 2012, net RZZT——FMA—8

of accumulated MR BT 8

depreciation 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
Additions AE — 11,143 104,266 2,475 501,867 619,751
Disposals HE - 8) (14,052) (897) - (14,957)
Disposal of subsidiaries & BB A |l (A7 2£37)

(note 37) (67,906) (5,235) (13,709) (436) (840) (88,126)
Transfers 4 308,726 17,378 36,216 = (456,320)  (94,000)
Depreciation provided NEEFE

during the year (18,712) (18,506) (115,853) (6,678) == (159,749)
Exchange realignment FE 3, 38 & 9,397 321 4,474 240 1,211 15,643
At 31 March 2013, R-Z—=F=A=+—H"

net of accumulated MR R E

depreciation 784,548 47,095 408,002 21,486 253,906 1,515,037
At 31 March 2013: R=ZF—=F=A=+—8:

Cost KA E 833,260 156,817 968,429 47,588 253,906 2,260,000
Accumulated 2 E
depreciation (48,712) (109,722)  (560,427) (26,102) —  (744,9693)
Net carrying amount 5 % A 784,548 47,095 408,002 21,486 253,906 1,515,037
The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are situated in Mainland AEB7HETHEEFAHACRFEAK
China and are held under medium term leases. B SWLAFREAFRAOHE A o
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14.

144

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Group (Continued)

At 31 March 2013, certain of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with a net carrying amount of HK$25,721,000 were
pledged to a third party for the guarantee given by that third party
to a bank for certain bank loans granted to the Group (note 32).

14 M¥E BEKRRXRE(E)
AEEE)
MR-Z—=ZF=ZA=+—0 A&£EBEIK@A
HE R B 05 721,000 2B TWE - B
EREHETFURFEFE= A EIEHTR
TER FAAEEESETRITER

2 R (P 5E32) »
Company AT
Leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
HERKE WAEGR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETRT BETXx
31 December 2013 —E—=%+=-H=+-—H
At 31 March 2013 and at R—ZT—=F=F=+—HEK
1 April 2013: RZE—=FMH—A8:
Cost B AN 2,990 1,233 4,223
Accumulated depreciation REtiTE (2,990) (1,003) (3,993)
Net carrying amount R B - 230 230
At 1 April 2013, net of R-_ZTE—=%FMWA—H "
accumulated depreciation Mk BT & - 230 230
Additions NE - 19 19
Disposals k= - (1) (1)
Depreciation provided NEEITE
during the period - (73) (73)
At 31 December 2013, net of RN_E—=F+-_A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation MR RETITE - 175 175
At 31 December 2013: RZE—=F+="A=+—8:
Cost DN =] 2,990 1,182 4,172
Accumulated depreciation MR R E (2,990) (1,007) (3,997)
Net carrying amount i EF B - 175 175
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 ¥ - BERRZREE)
Company (Continued) EAT(E)
Leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
MEEE WAZERME Fels
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ook BT BETT
31 March 2013 —E—=%=HA=+-—8H
At 1 April 2012: R-oZE——&FmA—Q:
Cost BN 2,990 1,187 4177
Accumulated depreciation REtIE (2,990) (915) (3,905)
Net carrying amount i EFE = 272 272
At 1 April 2012, net of RZE——FHHA—H -
accumulated depreciation Mk 25T & — 272 272
Additions NE = 66 66
Depreciation provided during the AREEFE
year — (108) (108)
At 31 March 2013, net of R-E—=F=ZA=+—8"
accumulated depreciation MR RETITE = 230 230
At 31 March 2013: RZE—=F=ZA=+—8H:
Cost XA {E 2,990 1,233 4,223
Accumulated depreciation MR REITE (2,990) (1,003) (3,993)
Net carrying amount iR % B = 230 230
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REY =
Group
F£H
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 March 31 March 31 March
2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013

—E-=& —B-=F —B-=f% —Z—=F% —T-=F ZZT—=F
+=A=+-8 +=A=+-B +=A=+-B =ZA=+-HA =A=t-B =A=+-A

Investment Investment
Completed properties Completed properties
Investment under Investment under
properties  construction Total properties  construction Total
ExERK EE B fE2
BREME BEmE Fobs REME REME agt
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETRT BB T BEF T BT
Carrying amount at the beginning 7 # % 114 2 IR &
of reporting period 136,452 198,745 335,197 305,005 = 305,005
Additions RE - 295,095 295,005 = = =
Transfer from an owner-occupied EREEENE
property/prepaid land BNLAE
premium - 104,951 104,951 118,685 198,323 317,008
Transfer to an owner-occupied BERZAENE
property - - - (304,526) = (304,526)
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value BATEEARZFRE/
adjustment (note 5) (B 18) (1 :#5) 11,359 350 11,709 16,289 (335) 15,954
Exchange realignment R 2,659 5,772 8,431 999 757 1,756
Carrying amount at the end of RBEHRIREE
reporting period 150,470 604,913 755,383 136,452 198,745 335,197
The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China AEBZIEMEHD MR P BIARE - WA
and are held under medium term leases. RHAIEOFER °
The directors of the Company have determined that the investment ARABESREBESWE LS - FEHEE
properties consist of one classes of asset, commercial properties, R EREVERR-RUZEE 1B
based on the nature, characteristic and risks of each property. EL7/E
As at 31 December 2013, certain investment properties under R-FE—=F+-"A=t—H ETHE#Z
construction are carried at cost of HK$400,089,000 (31 March 1B W) 2 A AR E A7 400,089,000 T (=
2013: HK$160,537,000) because their fair values could not be L —=F=A=+—H: #%%160,537,000
reliably measured due to the unique nature of the properties and T ARENBREERZTHERZR
an absence of transaction activity in that market. Management has a8 HRAFEETEREAE - B§F
not identified any indicators of potential impairment. B A IR EERETR
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Except for certain investment properties under construction which
were measured at cost less impairment, other investment properties
were revalued on 31 December 2013 by Vigers Appraisal and
Consulting Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$355,294,000 (31 March 2013: HK$174,660,000). Each year, the
Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer decide,
after approval from the audit committee, to appoint which external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results once a year when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting.

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 39(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2013, the Group has not yet obtained the real
estate ownership certificates of the Group’s investment properties
with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$604,913,000
(81 March 2013: HK$198,745,000) from the relevant government
authorities.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties:

BERATFEBEFER:

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Commercial properties [BEXZES

During the period, there were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level
8.

BrE T 12 9% B W 2 4= B AN B R R B 5T
BN EMBEMERZT —=F+=
A=+ —BRBILEXSEEKGERE
R EENHERBRAREGRABE
355,294,000 (ZE—=F=HA=+—Q:
75 #174,660,0007T) - FFEKLEZE S HLE
% AEEMESERUBBERES
EINEDIHERR B B ANE B 2 INEb ¥ 2l
B ZEEZEBREMSNG B2 B
MARBEKERTBUNER - REBF—
R EENBREETHER  ~N&E 2
%%Wﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁeﬁﬁ@%%%ﬁ
BRERMELERETIR o

ETREVEZEEMERTE=7 &
HE— S RFBHN P B WK E39)

R-ZE—=F+ZA=+—HB Xx&EEH
R B 18 B BAT #4 8 ph AN £R B O T BB
#604,913,000L(ZE—=F=A=+—

H : 5%198,745,0007T) 2 R E W EESF
m?%ﬁ%h°

AEEEFR
TRINTASEZREVENRAFEE

AAEER:

RAHEA m%& SHh- R E
BRAFEEE EM=TEBA
HEH -

N RER A
134 3
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Commercial
properties

HEME
HK$’000
AT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2013 RZE—=FMA—HBZIREE 174,660
Additions NE 58,974
Transfer from prepaid land premium EEEBEM LA 104,951
Net gain from a fair value adjustment RATEBERAE TN 11,709
Exchange realignment b 5 58 & 5,000

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 AZTE—=F+=A=+—H
Z WREE 355,294
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Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key

AT R EEMEOFEZFE TR

inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REZHRE:
Significant Range
Valuation techniques unobservable input (weighted average)
T B E EXTOUHRIMAR BFE(MEFEH)
Commercial properties Discounted cash Estimated rental value 2.04
EEX/ES flow method (per s.g.m. and per month)
BRIRIR M B IE EHHEeERE
(BFHARKREZR)
Long term vacancy rate 16%
REIEEX
Discount rate 6%—6.7%
BEER &
Commercial properties Hypothetical Unit rate (per s.q.m.) (HK$) From 7,900
EEX/ES development method BB R to 14,000
BRERZE (BFHKR)(EET) 7,900%14,000
Construction costs From 5,000
(per s.g.m.) (HK$) to 52,000

KA 5,000&52,000
(BEFREBIT)

Other costs and expenses/ From 24.67%
construction costs to 29.09%
Hthp AR EEKAR 24.67% £ 29.09%

Discount rate
BE IR %

From 5% to 10%
5% Z=10%

AEBCHERSIEMELRBEDER
AERMZERREERERKERBIE
EEMBRZZEME - ERRBEFRE ¥
W EAZITAEA ©

The Group has determined that the highest and best use of the
industrial properties and commercial properties at the measurement
date would be to convert those properties for residential purposes.
For strategic reasons, the properties are not being used in this
manner

AT

HMNBIBERERD
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Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership
over the asset’s life. This method involves the projection of a series
of cash flows on a property interest. A market-derived discount
rate is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish the
present value of the income stream associated with the asset.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment and refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow is
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses,
collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs, agent and
commission costs and other operating and management expenses.
The series of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate
of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period,
is then discounted.

In the case of investment property under construction, estimates
of capital outlays and construction cost, development costs, and
anticipated sales income are estimated to arrive at a series of net
cash flows that are then discounted over the projected development
and marketing periods. Specific development risks such as
planning, zoning, licences, and building permits are separately
valued.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the long term
vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rent growth per annum and the discount rate and an
opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Carrying amount at the beginning of the

reporting period
Additions
Transfers
Amortisation during the period/year
Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period

Current portion included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables

Non-current portion

R ¥R & B 2 R E

NE

LLRC
AERRE S Y
0 5 B

REBEHRZIREE

WEE D BRI
54

H{h & U 5K IR

e

The Group’s leasehold lands are situated in Mainland China and are

held under medium term leases.

As at 31 December 2013, all land use rights of the Group’s
leasehold land situated in Mainland China had been issued by
the relevant government authority. While as at 31 March 2013, a
certificate of a land use right with respect to one parcel of the
Group’s leasehold land situated in Mainland China with an aggregate
net carrying amount of HK$317,290,000 had not been issued by

the relevant government authority.

31 March
2013
—F—=F
=A=t—~H
HK$'000
BT

164,510
331,151
14,907
(4,128)
2,350

508,790

St
K>

(4,941)

503,849

AEBEE LR PBEAR - S
THBEOESR -

R-ZE—=%F+-"A=+—H8 BEHF
R A S B8 5 PR B K B 2 7R & £ i 3%
HErE L AEE MR T —=F=
A=1+—H BRABRSHENRALAEE
—RARPERKERIREFELBELES
#317,290,0007T 2 1 & 1 Hb B {1 + i {F
FARERE -

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013
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17. GOODWILL 17. BE
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from the HEZHENBARELEMERNEEEZ
acquisition of subsidiaries, was as follows: EESREMOT
Group
xEH
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—F—-=fF —T—=f
+=-A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
At the beginning of the reporting period: 7 ¥R & Hi44 :
Cost B ARME 258,176 284,107
Accumulated impairment 25 RE (19,164) (47,730)
Net carrying amount IR & 239,012 236,377
Cost at the beginning of the reporting RIUA—BZKAE -
period, net of accumulated impairment Mk 250 RE 239,012 236,377
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 4,658 2,635
Cost and net carrying amount at the end R ¥ & Hi K 2 B A {E K IR 1 F &
of the reporting period 243,670 239,012
At the end of the reporting period: RIMEBHRK:
Cost DN =] 261,262 258,176
Accumulated impairment R2EFRE (17,592) (19,164)
Net carrying amount IR & 243,670 239,012
Impairment testing of goodwill 2 R {E A E
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been EREBEHRBEZHBEDEITERE
allocated to the industry application software and solutions AEGRBATRREEESEN - AR
cash-generating unit, which is under the Services segment, for o Es - AETTRERIE -

impairment testing.
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Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the industry application software and
solutions cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14% and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of
3%.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
industry application software and solutions cash-generating unit.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the gross margins
achieved in the period/year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is after tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

2 R E A (]
TEEABMHARBRTRREELEN
ZAREHE TR B REEEE - mER
BENEAREEMREEER EZRF
HUBBERRA RS RETE - BA
RenEmERzMBRRR14%MEAEB
BRAFHIREREZHEEHIRETE -

AETEREREHRBRIRASELSE
fzEREERSFLERRR -

TXH M EEE 1T ERER AT
AREREMKRBZEREIERE:

BHEEFE — BHENRBEZEEE
EAREREEEN—BFEMREZE
IR - EEA M R 2 1 0 R 5 TS
R -

MEFE — RAZBRERHEHIEIER
X BRBEBEMMAIR ZBFERR
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Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total

BHERFTEE BERERE EXd 4 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
EETR ERTR ERTR ERTR

31 December 2013 —F-=%+-A=+-H

At 1 April 2013: RZE—=FWA—A:
Cost KAE 12,137 35,290 53,091
Accumulated amortisation and impairment BRI BHRAE (6,418) (35,217) (43,012)

Net carrying amount IR EEE 5,719 73 10,079

Cost at 1 April 2013, net of accumulated RZE—=FMA—-HZKA

amortisation and impairment & M2 & 8RR E 5,719 10,079
Additions NE 26,828 32,278
Acquisition of a subsidiary W I A A - 59
Amortisation provided during the period 7 HA ) 8 (4,917) (6,321)
Exchange realignment ERAR 389 4

At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+-A=t—H 28,019 36,566

At 31 December 2013: RZE—=Ff+=-A=+—8:
Cost B AE 38,965 40,799 85,428
Accumulated amortisation and impairment BRI BHRAE (10,946) (35,649) (48,862)

Net carrying amount IREFE 28,019 5,150 36,566
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Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total

FFERFAERE BETEREKA ES LN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT

31 March 2013 —g-=%£=A=+-H
At 1 April 2012: R=ZT—=—FMA—A8:
Cost P& NE 35,290 46,778

Accumulated amortisation and ZEtE#HERRE
impairment (35,184) (42,187)

Net carrying amount R % B 106 4,591

Cost at 1 April 2012, net of accumulated R=-ZT——FMA—HZ KA
amortisation and impairment B+ 0% 25T & KR E

Additions NE

Amortisation provided during the year REE

Exchange realignment M 538 2

At 31 March 2013 R-—T—=F=A=+—8

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013: R-ZE—=F#=A=+—-HEF
—E—=FmMA—AH:
Cost K ANE 35,290 53,091

Accumulated amortisation and KT RORE
impairment (85,217) (43,012)

Net carrying amount 73 10,079

ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁ = 155
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19.

156

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RFBRARAIZRE
Company
AT
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —E—=F
+=-HA=+—H —A=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok mubv
Unlisted shares, at cost JELEMRRD - K AE 699,407 699,407
Capital contribution in respect of LD NEEZHEERHE
employee share-based compensation 176,462 203,169
875,869 902,576
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBRARFIBHOT:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value
of issued and

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
AL ERTRHARE AATELE
Z8 BERREBHHE BEZzEE HzETL TEEH
Direct Indirect
=g ;3 =
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 — Investment holding
EBERRES 5125% 7T REZER
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
NS F R AR BB B2 RE R
Digital China (China) Limited** PRC/Mainland China HK$1,000,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
TN E0ES (R ED) B R A HE B KR 7% %1,000,000,0007C 2 #ITE @
Chengdu Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China HK$30,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
PR 1 N B B R R A BB K R 75 #30,000,0007T D HITE &
Shenyang Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China HK$39,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
ORI C R NG BB KR # #39,000,0007T DHITE &
Shanghai Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China HK$285,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products

EsmMNEEER AR

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Name

E-1 1

Digital China (Shenzhen) Limited**
)N 2085 ORI B BR A Al

Xian Digital China Limited**
7o % 18 M B A R AR

Nanjing Digital China Limited**
7 e )N BRS A BR A Al

Guangzhou Digital China Limited+*-
J& M A8 N S A BR A R

Jinan Digital China Limited**
B A N B A PR A A

Digital China Marketing & Services Ltd.

Digital China Technology Limited
HINBES R R AR QA

Digital China (HK) Limited

MBS (BR)BRAR

E-Olympic International Limited

Digital China Networks, Ltd.
HMINBTBER/EBRAFA

Digital China Networks (HK) Limited

BMNBIERE (FB)BRAA

Digital China Networks (Beijing) Limited*~
MMBHEBE AR BRAAE-

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

s AL
BREREHHE

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

PRC/Mainland China
B B K BE

PRC/Mainland China
B B K BE

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

British Virgin Islands
RERBRES

Hong Kong/
Mainland China
&8/ AR

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands
REGBARKE

British Virgin Islands
EEBREBARES

Hong Kong/
Mainland China
B/ EARE

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

Nominal value
of issued and
paid-up capital
EBTRHERE
BAzEE

HK$12,000,000
7% #12,000,0007T

HK$10,000,000
7% #10,000,0007T

HK$3,000,000
78 #3,000,0007C

HK$12,000,000
75 1612,000,0007T

HK$6,000,000
7 #6,000,0007T

US$1
17T

HK$50,000,000
7 #50,000,0007T
HK$10,000

75 #10,0007T

US$1
17T

US$10,000,000
10,000,0003 7T

HK$810
7S #8107T

HK$3,409,091
78 #3,409,0917C

TEMBRARFEBMT : (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

EAFIRE
HEZESE

Direct Indirect

=k B =

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

— 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal activities

FEEH

Distribution of IT products
7 $HITE f

Distribution of IT products
2 88 IT 2 f

Distribution of IT products
2 88ITE M

Distribution of IT products
2 I E &

Distribution of IT products
7 $HITE f

Investment holding

BEER

Distribution of IT products
2 81T E &

Distribution of IT products
2 $HITE f

Holding of trademarks

FAEEE

Investment holding

REZK

Investment holding and distribution

of networking products

REEBER D HBEER

Development and distribution of

networking products

RBERDHEBKER

HMNBIBZERERAT
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued) FEMBRARFBAOT : (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value
of issued and

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
EMAT ERTRHAR AATE
&% BREREBME BAzEE HZESL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HiE %
Grace Glory Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding
BEMERRRAFA EEEBREE 1%7T BE =R
Beijing Digital China Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
RSN BB R QA B K B AR 2 81T E f
1,000,000,0007T
Beijing Digital China Supply Chain PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
Services Co., Ltd.* B K A R #10,000,0007TC 2 8#ITE @
16 e M 20ES (R S RS A R A A
Shenzhen Instant Logistics Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 = 100 Provision of logistics services
FRYIBEY RABR QA B B K R A K #50,000,0007T R R
Digital China (Zhengzhou) Limited* PRC/Mainland China RMB5,100,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
)N B (B M) B IR AR FE R B K B A R #5,100,0007C 2 81T E &
Talent Gain Developments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding
EEEBRHE 1%7T B E =R
Power Gateway Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 — 100 Investment holding
EBERRHES 1003 7T BEZER
Guangzhou Digital China Information PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
Technology Co., Ltd.* el N 50,000,0003 7T 2 HITE @
Bt MBS R AR AR
Hangzhou Digital China Limited** PRC/Mainland China HK$3,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
N A N B85 5 IR A FE B K BE 7 #£3,000,0007C 2 881 &
Digital China Software Limited*# PRC/Mainland China US$6,000,000 = 100 Investment holding
NS M B R QA BB K R 6,000,000 7T & R
Digital China Macao Commercial Macao MOP1,000,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
Offshore Limited R JEL P9 #1,000,0007T 2 8EITE @

HINEIERPIREF X R BB A
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Name

E-1 1

Fuzhou Digital China Company Limited**
BN M BB AR QA

Changsha Digital China Company
Limited**
&8 N B85 B BR A Al

Digital China (Hefei) Company Limited**
1IN ES () B R A A

Cellular Investments Limited

BREERRAR

Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co., Ltd.
(Now renamed as “Digital China
Information Service Company Ltd.”)

AT ARAKXEERHERAR]
(REA R8N ETEE S RBRG
BRRA D

Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.
HNBB S ERBEBRNERAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

s AL
BREREHHE

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R
PRC/Mainland China

B K

Hong Kong
BB

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

PRC/Mainland China
BB K R

Nominal value
of issued and
paid-up capital
EBTRHERE
BAzEE

HK$10,000,000
7 #10,000,0007T

HK$20,000,000
7 #20,000,0007C
HK$10,000,000

75 110,000,0007T

HK$1
LA

RMB431,214,014
AR #431,214,0147T

RMB60,060,000
A R #60,060,0007C

TEMBRARFEBMT : (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

AATELE
HzESL
Direct Indirect
HiE B
== 100
— 100
= 100
- 100
— 4517
— 4517+

Principal activities

FEEH

Distribution of IT products
7 $HITE f

Distribution of IT products
5 88 IT 2 &

Distribution of IT products
2 8HITE

Investment holding

RAEEK

Systems integration services,
application software development,
maintenance and outsourcing,
consultancy and training services
RERERRY -

FE R R B 3 -

RE RN RS

i o I 35 | AR 7

Technology development and
promotion, technology consultancy
and services, computer systems
services and business of financial
specialised equipment

B9 R B B HE

BT E RS
ATEMARRRE

VA K & R B B 2% 6 48 B X 15

HMNBEERARAR
20134 4R
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their
Chinese registered names.

A The Chinese names are the trade names but not the official names of these
companies.
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

~ Registered as Sino-foreign joint ventures under PRC law.

Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co., Ltd., a Shenzhen listed company, is accounted
for as a subsidiary of the Group even though the Group has only a 45.17%
equity interest in this company based on the factors explained in the note
below and in note 3 to the financial statements.

> This company is the wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Techo Telecom
Co., Ltd. and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the
Company’s control over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
period/year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Digital China (HK) Limited, Digital China Limited, Digital
China Technology Limited, Digital China Advanced Systems
Limited, Digital China Networks (HK) Limited, Digital China Macao
Commercial Offshore Limited and Cellular Investments Limited, the
statutory audits for the above subsidiaries were not performed by
Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst &
Young global network.

In August 2013, Digital China Information Service Co. Ltd. (“DCITS”),
an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an absorption and merger agreements (the “Absorption and
Merger Agreements”) with Shenzhen Techo Telecom in relation to,
among other things, the merger of DCITS into Shenzhen Techo
Telecom by absorption (the “Absorption and Merger”) pursuant
to the terms of the Absorption and Merger Agreements and
the asset restructuring of Shenzhen Techo Telecom (the “Asset
Restructuring”). Shenzhen Techo Telecom is a company with limited
liability established under the laws of the PRC and its A shares are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Pursuant to the Absorption and Merger Agreements and the Asset
Restructuring:

@

Shenzhen Techo Telecom issued 21,186,440 ordinary shares
to Kunshan Shenchang Technology Limited, the existing single
largest shareholder of Shenzhen Techo Telecom holding
19,897,057 A shares of Shenzhen Techo Telecom, for a cash
consideration of RMB200 million;

DCITS merged into Shenzhen Techo Telecom by absorption in
accordance with the relevant PRC laws and all of its assets,
liabilities, business (consisting of the IT Services Business)
and employees were injected or assumed by Shenzhen Techo
Telecom. Meanwhile, the then 60.98% and 39.02% equity
interests in DCITS held by Digital China Software Limited
(“DCSL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the other shareholders of DCITS (the “Other Shareholders of
DCITS”), respectively, were also cancelled and DCITS was
deregistered pursuant to the applicable PRC laws; and

a total number of 319,399,894 ordinary shares (the
“Consideration Shares”) were issued by Shenzhen Techo
Telecom to the then shareholders of DCITS in following
manner:

(i) 194,770,055 ordinary shares to DCSL; and

(if) 124,629,839 ordinary shares to Other Shareholders of
DCITS.

As part of the Absorption and Merger, each of the then shareholders
of DCITS entered into a profit compensation agreement (the
“Profit Compensation Agreement”) with Shenzhen Techo Telecom.
Pursuant to the Profit Compensation Agreement entered into
between DCSL and Shenzhen Techo Telecom, DCSL agreed to pay
a share-based compensation to Shenzhen Techo Telecom by way of
selling such number of the Consideration Shares held by it back to
Shenzhen Techo Telecom at an aggregate nominal price of RMB1.00
(the “Compensation Shares”) and such Compensation Shares to be
repurchased by Shenzhen Techo Telecom will be cancelled.

REREEHGBEREESA:

@ FIKKE 1*inﬁi1ﬂa‘}\ﬁﬁzzoo
E%EﬁtbmmEﬁaﬂﬁ’iﬁﬁE
2%1721,186,440 % & 38 P% ,\XEé//Lij'|
AKEEENE—STARE  #48
FI K E1519,897,057 % AR o

(b) ?$ﬁ%1§%ﬁiﬁ%)ﬂ?&§qﬂI*ﬁﬁﬁ}ﬂi
AR 5 A RYI KK E(E
EHEE  BE - %W(EITHE%’I%
AR FE X AR EE K
BRI AREEAE - B AR
AEEMNBRREMNBEBEFER
/AET(WW%E’MCH)@@%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%
HAp I R ([R5 45 B ARG E AR )
7 B+ B B 15 85 15 B IR 7560.98% K
39.02% M HE S - (58 R
BRBERNTEZRETHERL M

© IFRIAAREBEERAT AR ASEEE
ﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁ & #£319,399,894
% 38 A% (R E RG]

() AR E(HEE1T194,770,055/%
LB &

(i) AP E R RS AR R AT
124,629,839/ & i i °

ERTEEHFFEN D - BB EER
BERBARRERNNKXEFEFT LB
Bz (BN ERZ]D o REBERHBHRM
BRI KR EEFT LA B A fE ez -
BEHtRE ﬁ/ NWARREBENABRGD R
HEtomE  LNATRBEREEARY
1.007T - Hﬁﬁﬁhﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁ’ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁ(wﬁﬁ
fo’ﬁj)%@é&ﬂllkt E(S - WRIRINA N
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The number of the Compensation Shares for each of the relevant
financial years shall be calculated based on:

(@ any shortfall between the projected net profits of DCITS for the
year ended 31 December 2013 and for each of the financial
years ending 31 December 2014 and 2015 and the actual net
profits of DCITS for each of these financial years (the “Income
Approach Compensation”); and

(b) any audited decrease from the estimated asset value of
the non-controlling interests invested by DCITS in DigiWin
Software Co., Ltd., a limited liability company established
under the laws of the PRC, and SJI Inc., a company listed on
Jasdaq, the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc. as at 31 December
2013, 2014 and 2015 set out in the valuation report (the
“Market Approach Compensation”).

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, no
compensation is considered necessary to be accrued in relation
to the Income Approach Compensation and Market Approach
Compensation.

Upon the completion of the Absorption and Merger, the indirect
holding by the Company in approximately 60.98% equity interests
in DCITS was effectively exchanged to approximately 45.17%
equity interests in Shenzhen Techo Telecom, and Shenzhen Techo
Telecom became an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. As a result, DCSL became the single largest shareholder
of Shenzhen Techo Telecom and DCSL has rights to nominate
three out of the six non-independent directors and two out of the
three independent directors of the board of directors of Shenzhen
Techo Telecom upon the completion of the Absorption and Merger.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the equity holdings
in Shenzhen Techo Telecom are dispersed in a way that other
shareholders have not organised and cannot easily organised their
holdings so that the Group can exercise more voting power than the
minority shareholders. Therefore the directors of the Company are
of the view that the Company has de facto control over Shenzhen
Techo Telecom. Further details are included in note 3 to these
financial statements.

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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Prior to the Asset Restructuring, Shenzhen Techo Telecom is
principally engaged in the trading business of liquid crystal
film display panel products and after the Absorption and
Merger Agreement became effective, Shenzhen Techo Telecom
discontinued its existing business. As a result, the Absorption and
Merger does not constitute a business combination under HKFRS
3 Business Combinations and was accounted for in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a continuation of the financial
statements of DCITS, together with a deemed issue of shares by
DCITS. This deemed issue of shares by DCITS is accounted for as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction whereby DCITS
has received the net assets of Shenzhen Techo Telecom, generally
cash, together with the listing status of Shenzhen Techo Telecom.
As the listing status does not qualify for recognition as an asset,
and therefore was expensed in profit or loss as listing expense of
HK$1,216,133,000, which was calculated based on the fair value of
the shares that are deemed to have been issued by DCITS, less
the fair value of the net assets of Shenzhen Techo Telecom, as at
the completion date of the Absorption and Merger.

Further details of the transactions are included in previous
announcements dated at 1 August 2013 and 26 August 2013.

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:

Shenzhen Techo Telecom AN AR ERE

DCITS 5= B R

FEEEAZR  BINKKEEEERS
R EERNERERNESER B8R
WA HmEERE  FINAREERILEHE
WEES - Bt @ thARKA FEETE
REBVIERELENFEIRLESHRT
NEESH  MREEAEEREMEHRER
FEAMBEEREVHERENEE K
B4R 55 15 B RIS UL R ZEATRR D - 1 I5E R
RIS NGB R BETROER AR ERS &
BRRHOIZARS - @i EEREIG
FIAKREENFEE  FERFEHESR
FEYNARABEEH ETHAL o AR LTz
THAEEEMRERIGE A LmEBRB
#1,216,133,0007Tt% & AL E B = R P &2
IR ZeBeERRAFEEZZERKA
ERENEEREERBETRMNATE
BEREFIAKRESEFEENAFER
EA -

B ZNFABABRE ZME_—F—
=FNA-—BRZZF-—Z=FA\HAZ+XH
E SN

BEEAFREBRE 2 ARERBAR
ZREMT

31 March
2013

=A=+-8
HK$'000
AT

FEREREANBREADL

60.98%
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

164

19. RNBAR 2R & (HF)

Nine month

ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
HEZT—-—=% BEZZT—=
+=-A=+-—H =R=+—8
IEAE R IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT &M
Profit/(loss) for the period/year allocated 7 # P FE 1= A% #E 25 2 AR RS,/
to non-controlling interests: FEHAN(FB) :
Shenzhen Techo Telecom FINTARAER (544,671) -
DCITS 5= B R - 152,471
Accumulated balances of non-controling R ¥R&EHIH 2 FF#ERAEF A 25t
interests at the reporting date: BR7E -
Shenzhen Techo Telecom IR AER 1,269,153 -
DCITS 15 1= SR — 799,217

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any

inter-company eliminations:

TRINTAEE LB AR ZHEER
ME - REMKERASAR]ZEHATH

Shenzhen
Techo Telecom DCITS
FINHmKAER 15 15 B AR 15
Nine month
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BHE-T—=F BE-ZT—=
+=-HA=+—H =A=+—H
IEA@EA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST oT
Revenue B A 7,307,431 9,012,607
Listing expense relating to the Absorption RWAHEBEZ tTEA(HEEH
and Merger (defined in note 19) RHFFE19) (1,216,133) —
Total other expenses HEbFAZ A (884,089) (1,283,250)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year NEARE FEE = A (ER) (902,919) 368,012
Total comprehensive income/(loss) KM EFE2EKE S (EE)
for the period/year 48 %8 (925,444) 356,946

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

19. RNBAR 2R & (HF)

31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—F—=% —==
+-HA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BETR BT T
Current assets mEEE 6,491,887 5,057,965
Non-current assets FEMEBEE 1,058,030 1,089,998
Current liabilities nBEE 5,126,479 4,087,361
Non-current liabilities FERBAR 43,322 =
Nine month
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE_T-=% HE_ZT—=F
+=-HA=+—H =A=+—H
IE {8 B IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Net cash flows from operating activities EEEKAERESREFHE 723,403 684,073
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing & ESHRE(FFA)RERE
activities HER (285,304) 35,019
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BB EEFTE(FIBE)IRE R E
activities e 472,399 (442,713)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRFESEEWEINFRE
equivalents 910,498 276,379

20. DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

20. FEUWR (FEA) M B A B = IE
RN () BB AR ZOR SR - &

EREREEEES -

HINMRERERDF
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31 March
2013
—E-=F
=A=t—H
HK$’000
BT T
Share of net assets JEIEEEFE 126,601
The Group's trade receivable and payable balances due from/ REERK (B ZHEEEEEZRY
(to) joint ventures are disclosed in note 28 and 30 to the financial BIRARERNBEDIRAKE S D B 5 EE
statements, respectively. I B 75 3 3% M9 3£ 28 % 30 ©
Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures are as follows: AEBENEFEGERLEZFBEOT:
Percentage
of ownership
Place of Particular interest
registration and of registered attributable to the
Name business capital Group Principal activities
HMELR BREEMEER FEEELRE
&% EBHE B HEDESE TEEH
Digital China Technology Industry PRC/ Registered capital 49 Investment, development
Investment Co., Ltd.*" Mainland China RMB100,000,000 and management of technology
HNBBR B ELREEREMTRE" PR HEAREE T E A industry projects
A R #100,000,0007C MREXHEENRE
Fe B L 3R
Digital China (Shanghai) Capital PRC/ Registered capital 49 Capital management, and enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.*" Mainland China RMB50,000,000 management consultancy
WNEE () EEERBERAR"  HEPEKE & A BEEEMMCEEELS
A R #50,000,0007C
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of their + ZERRZEXNERBREZEEMEBL 2F
Chinese registered names. P ER
A Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the A FHRBEBL KSR EHAR L KRS
Ernst & Young global network. B E 2 BRABER K BT B ©
The Group’s shareholdings in the joint ventures are held through REBREELECREDEBEART
the subsidiaries of the Company. 2B ARFESE -

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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21.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
period/year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All the joint ventures have been accounted for using the equity

method in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material:

REEREZRE(A)
EFRBLEMAZAREAL LY
AREAN EE 2 EMEBATEN
HARBEEFELEABN - EFR
BIFIHR A SO EER  HERER
RIE -

FERE LRI RER AN UMK R
RIIMR -

FRIRAEEAE R % GEAANER)
BHS AR A 3

31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —ZT—=
+=RA=+-—H —A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBREELEZRER
Group’s investments in joint ventures IREEA T 163,275 126,601
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
HEZT—=% BEZZT—=
+=A=+—H —A=+—8
It 7L {8 A IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Share of joint ventures’ profit/(loss) for  JE{h& & ¥ 2 ANERE
the period/year FERF(EE) (4,893) 6,997
Share of the joint ventures’ total EEAELE AR
comprehensive income/(loss) FE2ENKE (BB RE
for the period/year (4,893) 6,997

HNBEERARATF
20134 4R
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Share of net assets

Goodwill on acquisition

EHEERE
REBEL ZEE

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances due from/
(to) associates are disclosed in notes 28 and 30 to the financial

statements, respectively.

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Name

&

DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.*"
SRERHEROBRLE"

HC International, Inc.”
EREERAFN

Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

EMI
BEREREBRE

PRC/Mainland China
RE B K BE

Cayman Islands

HERS

Particular of issued
shares held/
registered capital

BRAEEBTRE
EMERFE

Registered capital
RMB90,000,000

A ER

A R #90,000,0007T

Issued share capital
HK$65,957,962
2EITRMD

78 #65,957,9627C

329,388
352,588

681,976

REERU A (FER) Z M E AR 2 B
BHRARENEZRAIEH DB E
B 1t B 7 3 3% BT 5E 28 &30 o

TEBRERTZIFBET:

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to the

Group

*REEIGERSE
HEZESH

16.03%

20.89%

Principal activities

EBERH

Provision of ERP software and
related services

1= HLERPE (& & B AR 75

Service provision of B-to-B

e-commerce

REPLERFZFE
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+ The English name of the company is direct transliterations of its Chinese

registered name.

# These companies are accounted for as associates of the Group as the Group
is able to exercise significant influence over the companies because it holds

20% of the voting power of the companies.

A Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the

Ernst & Young global network.

* Listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The total market value of the Group’s listed shares as at 31 December

2013 was HK$1,416,153,000.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
period/year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All the associates have been accounted for using the equity method

in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group’s associates that are not individually material:

Aggregate carrying amount of the

Group’s investments in associates

AR BB D
IR E A i

AlZE

+ ZATZEXEEWNEZFAREMERL 2P X
E

# AREBEEE IS RFI20%H RORKE - S AT
EBEAYE RULEFARANERLEE

BB B RT -

2 FMBBL KM EBARL KGNS
BRI EM 2SR BRKR B ER

* REBHEXSMERARAIZER LM - ®
—E—=F+ZA=t+—H AEELTKRE
2 T {E ¥ %8 /& 7% %1,416,153,0007T °

EERR/LRFB2AEEBERAY
AEERFEZEEREAZERER
SEEEFEZIEARND EFRRIM
FIHE B E AR AR - S ERIEBRIT
E o

B B2 R R0 B R R 50 10 U BE 7S
RIIMR -

TRIRAEEEL AR GEERNEA) 2
B ERI A

31 March
2013
—T—=F
=A=t—~H
HK$'000
BET T

681,976

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. REtERNTI2RE(EF)
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
HE-E—=% HE-ZT—=F
+=-—A=+-—H =A=+—H
IEAE A LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST
Share of associates’ profit JEAG B & N E) 2 AR
for the period/year FEHA 72,004 23,474
Share of the associates’ total JE/L B E DAl 2 AERE
comprehensive income FEHEW =B
for the period/year 72,004 23,474
23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 23. AItHEZRE
Group
P
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% 2=
+=HA=+-—H =A=+—8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&7 it BETT BT I
Current &)
Bank wealth management products, IRITEMEM - BRAE
at cost (@) 301,959 —
Non-current RS
Listed equity investments, EERIEE
at fair value: BAFEE:
Hong Kong BB 200,395 119,700
Japan HAR 97,733 140,045
298,128 259,745
Unlisted equity investments, FELrmERKRE -
at cost DN =] 180,622 175,457
Convertible promissory note A] 82 10 49 F (& 55 38,750 38,750
(b) 517,500 473,952

1 70 Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

23. AfEHEZ®RE(E)

Bt -
Bank wealth management products of HK$301,959,000 (31 March 2013: Nil) (@) £ #A#301,959,000 L (ZE—=F+=A=
were issued by reputable banks in Mainland China and had original maturity of +—H:EATEARESEFBRITEENR
less than three months when acquired. All of these bank wealth management TEMER HREINHABAIR=EA - it
products matured in February 2014. SHRTEBEVERBNR-T—NF=-AZH -
The movements in non-current available-for-sale investments during the (o) RAHE FEA FRBDAHEECRE
period/year are as follows: ZEMT
Revaluation Impairment
Cost gains/(losses) loss Total
HEk
KARE (&5 1#8) VERIN SE i) @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2012 R-_ZE——FMmMA—H 187,417 26,904 — 214,321
Additions 30 310,458 — — 310,458
Changes in fair value NEEBEEZS = 58,931 — 58,931
Transfer to the investment in an 3 i /NG|
associate ZRB 211,712) (110,578) — (322,290)
Transfer from the investments in EEAREE AR
associates ZRE 212,532 = = 212,532
At 31 March 2013 and RZZE—=F
1 April 2013 =A=+—-8K
—T-—=#mA—~” 498,695 (04,743) — 473,952
Additions 30 169,109 — — 169,109
Changes in fair value ATFEEEZS = (111,983) = (111,983)
Disposals k== (14,445) 867 = (18,578)
Impairment A = 74,592 (74,592) —
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F
+=A=+-@ 653,359 (61,267) (74,592) 517,500

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were
designated as available-for-sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity
date or coupon rate.

There was a significant decline in the market value of certain listed equity
investments during the period. The directors consider that such a decline
indicates that the listed equity investments have been impaired and an
impairment loss of HK$74,592,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: Nil), which
included a reclassification from other comprehensive income of HK$74,592,000
(year ended 31 March 2013: Nil), has been recognised in the statement of
profit or loss for the period.

LR ERERRESFRE  ZERERE
ERAIHHESREE -

ETLEmERRERZBEZTEEEANE
T EERAEZNKBERLMESEED
B KR (A B 18 B 7S #574,592,000 T (B = =
T——F-fA=1+—HILFE &) HEER
B Hth 2 4R 25 B 574,592,000 (B2 ==
—=F=A=+—HALtFE: B 2EFHE "
ERAHMBERER -
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172

Losses
available for
offsetting
against
future taxable
profits
SRR
KIRFERB
mAZEE
HK$’000
EETRT

31 December 2013
—g—=%+=-H=+—H

Asset
provisions

EERG
HK$’000
EETR

Others

Hit
HK$’000
BT

“Bst
HK$’000
EETRT

At 1 April 2013

Deferred tax credited to the
statement of profit or loss
during the period

Exchange realignment

R_ZT—=
bH—H
RNE A E
B ERFETA
ZIEET I
e H

127,217

21,766
2,589

208,260

105,560
4,604

Gross deferred tax assets at
31 December 2013

Digital China Holdings Limited
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R-E—=4
+=-A=+—8”
ZIEERRITE A E
ko

151,572

161,455

318,424
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Unrealised
losses from
intragroup Revaluation
transactions of properties Others
KEAXS
EEZR
BHEE MEER Hit “Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR EETR EETR EETR

At 1 April 2013 R-E—=fF
PMA—H 129,693
Deferred tax charged/ AEBAEERE
(credited) to the statement kR (GEA)
of profit or loss during the ZEER IR
period (16,188) (8,805)
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B 850 2,620

Gross deferred tax liabilites HR-ZT—=
at 31 December 2013 +=—A=+—8H
2B IBEBE
] 123,508

Net deferred tax credited AEEANTE
to the statement of profit BmEAFPETA
or loss during the period 2 ESE T R R
(note 10) (114,365)

Net deferred tax assets
recognised in the
consolidated statement of FEFEE BN
financial position at KPR BT
31 December 2013 BIH & BEFHE 194,916
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31 March 2013
—T—=%#=HA=+—H
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future Asset
taxable profits provisions Others
AT AP K 8H
IR FE R
& N 2 B 1R BERME Hit Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T

At 1 April 2012 RZE——F
gH—H 159,575
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AREFRNEBF R
the statement of profit or loss FREFA L (FOBR)
during the year 2R I8 46,671

Exchange realignment b 5 58 B 2,014

Gross deferred tax assets at R-ZE—=
31 March 2013 —A=t+—H
ZIRET IR R B
FEk) 127,217 208,260

1 7 4 Digital China Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 24, IE FE Bl 1H (4])

Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities FEEHIEE E
Unrealised
losses from
intragroup Revaluation of
transactions properties Others Total
SEARSGESE
ZARELRERE )2 E i HAh BEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2012 RZE—=F
A —H 39,239 30,487 57,714 127,440
Deferred tax charged/ AEBANEERR
(credited) to the statement Rk, (EEA)
of profit or loss during 2 R SE T IE
the year 13,839 3,460 (16,433) 866
Exchange realignment bE o 3 & 417 340 630 1,387
Gross deferred tax liabilities MZ=T— =4
at 31 March 2013 =A=+—A”
ZIEERRIBAG
R 53,495 34,287 41,911 129,693
Net deferred tax credited to  ZAN4F E A #E
the statement of profit or BmiRPEA
loss during the year BT R TR R R
(note 10) (Kr710) (45,805)
Net deferred tax assets RZE—=%F
recognised in the =A=+—RA%
consolidated statement of RE BRI E
financial position at FRERZIELTH
31 March 2013 HEEFR 78,567

MBI ERERAE 175

20134 R



Notes to Financial Statements Bf #5 £k 7% M 5
31 December 2013 —E—=F+-_A=+—H

Group (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

The Group’s tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$81,895,000
(31 March 2013: HK$86,072,000) which are due to expire within five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the subsidiaries
in which the losses arose, have not been recognised as deferred
tax assets. These tax losses and certain deductible temporary
differences of HK$21,093,000 (31 March 2013: HK$22,692,000)
have not been recognised as deferred tax assets since they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been making losses for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement has become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rates are 5%
and 10%.

At 31 December 2013, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled HK$1,617,306,000 at 31 December 2013 (31 March 2013:
HK$1,228,713,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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*&5H&E

FEEFHIEERE(E)
AEEREFEREZHREABERBER
81,895,000t (ZE—=F=A=+—0:
78 #5:86,072,0007T) + A AR K 35 & 4 B 18
ZHBARZ RAKERTGA - KA
FRER  LARERSELHEEE - B
P I 3 7 TH B 18 I B T R AR E B =
B R8121,093,000 (ZE—=F=H=
+—H : B #22,692,0007T) TR B E & &
B-REEZHMBLAR WA AEIARE
EMIBEE - AR EEEA KA LB E
RSN AEE AT B ABIEE R -

RIEBFPEEERMESHE > REKRKEZI
BRECEXAIINBEREEDKKE &
B10% 2 M EHBWEIH - ZRER_-F
ENF-A-HAEEAERLERAR_ZET
TtFT A=+ —HZERELEZBF - &
REBARB BEREFARN B AR 2 B
AREHR-ZETN\F-A—BEBELZEF
FIDIRT 2B BABRRBIN - MET
BAREEINEREEIRBEERA R
IR WS TERZEMBEEAT
PRAK - NEE 28 B X R5%K%10% °

R-ZE—=F+"A=+—H  BAEEN
A B K B 2 B B A B 8 aR A oK T HH & F
ZENTEMREmE - ARERE (A IETER
H - BERB EAURBEKR  ZZEMEBER
AR AERIRZEHN RZE—=F+=
A=+—H BERPEREZHBARZ
S EAR 2 E R E R R (R REREM
FEIEFIBE A E) 5B %1,617,306,0007T (=
T—=F=HA=+—H : %#%1,228,713,000
JT) °

ARRABRRZNZBE  TEHBMRE
BER o
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Group

K
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—F—-=f —T—=F
+=A=+-B =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFRT ok S

Trading stock i=t 5,635,678 5,726,876

Group

TEE
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—=% —E—=&
+=H=+—H —A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRT ok e

At the beginning of the reporting period 7 %} & Hi #4 66,866
Construction costs incurred EEZEERKRAE 108,659
Transfer B 214,707
Interest capitalised &AL F B 3,330

At the end of the reporting period REREHR 393,562

ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁ = 177
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27. DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

21. BW, (B ENEFZN

i}
Group
&
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—g—-=F —E—=F
+=-A=+-—H = EI=a=E
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT T T
Gross amount due from contract BT A Efth B U 3R I8 2 B UR
customers included in other BHREREZREE
receivables 431,505 388,985
Gross amount due to contract customers 2 &t A E fth FE {~F 1B 2 FE
included in other payables BRI 2 B (1,423) (39,660)
430,082 349,325
Contract costs incurred plus recognised IRBEFE E 4 2 & 45K AN
profits less recognised losses to date B R m A B E e R E 8 2,493,503 1,830,785
Less: Progress billings R R (2,063,421) (1,481,460)
430,082 349,325
=
28. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 28. EWESRAREWEE
Group
rE
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—Eg—-=F — T =4
+=-HA=+-—H =A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBETT BT
Trade and bills receivables FEWE SRR 12,416,718 11,147,895
Impairment VERIEL (921,998) (823,135)
11,494,720 10,324,760

1 78 Digital China Holdings Limited
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The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, AEBFEUEEAXNBEERTPIIEES
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally B E—RFERFRELBENKIE - 5
required. The credit period is generally 30 to 180 days. The Group EH— MR B30E180K ° A& B ¥ H R
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and ClEWRIEEmRE ZBE  TRER
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue BEEEM  BRBEERRBAERK -
balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group does EEEgTHRITAMNSRE AEEK
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade Bk F A AR A (K 4 on 3k B B H At A0

receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. BEERNE BUWESRRILENES -
An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end REEHR - RBEEAFERNRRE
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of B2EWEZIRANERZER 2RI D

impairment, is as follows: MEEBRT

31 March

2013

—T—=fF

=A=+—H

HK$'000

ok b

Within 30 days 30K A 5,013,732
31 to 60 days 31E60K 1,396,454

61 to 90 days 61£90KX 816,325
91 to 180 days 91 180K 1,671,920
Over 180 days 78 #@180K 1,426,329
10,324,760

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013
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The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥k 245 Hi 14
Amount written off as uncollectible Rz i H & 58

Impairment losses recognised (note 6) TR 2 R E k18 (M i76)

Disposal of subsidiaries &M B A A
Exchange realignment [ H 3 =
At the end of the reporting period JinER=R =

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$15,473,000 (81 March 2013: HK$21,135,000) with a carrying
amount before provision of HK$25,236,000 (31 March 2013:
HK$29,285,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables related to customers that
were in financial difficulties and only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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EWE SRR 2 REEE 2 EHFIEW
T

31 March
2013
—E—=F
=A=+—H
HK$'000
BT I

725,908
(10,906)
116,948
(15,892)
7,077

823,135

LA _E BTk B IR E B IR X 2 R E B E R RN
R B 5 AT IR E{E A 8 #525,236,0007T (=&
—=ZF=Z A=1+—H: 5%29,2850007T)
ZERNEKRZE SRR ZRERERBE
15,473,000t (—E—=F=H=+—8:
75 #21,135,0007T) °

EREEEZRRZBRETARTFPHR
AR BN B - SRR {0 FE OIR SR IR I AT R
@ o
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The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

are

AEH B REE
8 8 D IRB0K

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 30 days past due

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent

history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of the balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts due
from associates and joint ventures of the Group of HK$2,271,000
(81 March 2013: HK$1,772,000) and HK$43,346,000 (31 March
2013: HK$78,000), respectively, which are repayable on similar credit

terms to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

THEERBEEBKRE SRR LK EREE
ZIWREDITEEIBAT

not

31 March
2013
—ET—=%F
=A=+—8H
HK$’'000
BT T

8,501,130
814,584

9,315,714

AEHERBEZEBEERRTRES A
TEFAR  HFEOHALBERFTIAL
RCER o

B MARMEL B|BE BRIRFR RS
THEIEFEH ZEFEFPEAKERNA
RFMERRLE - REBEBELSR - ARQF
EERRERZSHEB T EFTEELRE
B ZAREREPZEEEEYESEX
Y88 B T SR BN AR R R AR AT IA 2 B[] o

AEBERZESEREERZEESES
RRVAEE 2 ZHEBE AR REZEEGE
¥ Z2REH R AE2271,000T (ZF
—=F=A=+—8: #¥1,772,0007T) &
43,346,000 (ZE—=F=A=+—
B : B¥78,0007T) « thEE R TIIBRBIR M
FAREBEZRFZHEUGEEKRREE -

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013
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Financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2013, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable
accepted by reputable banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised Bills”)
to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables
due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate
of HK$190,344,000 (31 March 2013: HK$184,290,000). The
Derecognised Bills have a maturity from one to six months at
the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised
Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors,
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the
associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised
Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the
Continuing Involvement, both during the period or cumulatively.

Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHEH

Time deposits TE HA 17 3k

Cash and cash equivalents HekREE
BEY

Digital China Holdings Limited
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ER2BRIEERZEMEE
RZE—=F+="A=+—0 AKEEH
HETHEBREHEEREMNRITER
METEREE(RIEERERE]D - LB
ERIZERERNENSESRR  RE
B 4858 578 190,344,000 (ZE — =%
=A=+—8 : #%184,290,0007T) ° AR
SR RIFBEREENE RPN T —2
ANER - RIBFBRZEE - MZSHRIR
TR RIEEREER B A NERHE
BERE(FESIR]D -EERE A&
EEEBARARIERZRORIMDER
TER - Al - EERIEFERZRIETER
ERENEEESESIRE miﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AEBREBESREILERZEEARE
BRIMERZENRITIER SR mE Y
MExeEERRESNEREE -E5R
B AEERESRKIIEREENATF
BEITERK -

BE_T—=Ft_A=1t—HLAIEA
N ARETERERKERRECH

R E IR &
RAHEAL R B -

o NGB M B4 AR S K B

31 March 31 March
2013 2013
—2—=% —2—=%
= F=T—E =H=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
3,530,666 1,912
658,853 =
4,189,519 1,912
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At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$3,504,532,000 (31 March 2013: HK$3,880,271,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 30 days 30K
31 to 60 days 31£60K
61 to 90 days 61£90K

Over 90 days B #B90K

RIMEER  REBUARETARE])
EEZASERASEBNALRBE
3,504,532,000C(— B —=F=H=+—
H : 5#3,880,271,0007T) - AREETRE
MABAEMEER - KM - BIEHE KR
ZINEEBIEHI R AEE - HIEREESE
RE AEEEESBERBETINEE
BZRITHBARELBEEME o

RITERTIILE RRITERNERAFEF
KR - BEMERERNEFRHIR—K
E—F1%  KAKENERRESHRM
TE - IR IR AE & B9 A2 B TE B 1 SR M) R R EX
B e SR1T 4 R 17 10 4T B I B G 40 RC %
mEEREZRT

RBEHR  REZREHFAERNE SR
AEBNRERZRE DT FHBOT

31 March
2013

—E—=F
=A=+—8
HK$’000
BT T

5,981,589
1,992,868

1,247,136
1,651,892

10,873,485

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013
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Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts due
to associates and a joint venture of the Group of HK$196,000 (31
March 2013: HK$1,446,000) and HK$35,963,000 (31 March 2013:
Nil), respectively, which are repayable on similar credit terms to
those obtained from the major suppliers of the Group.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
within a period of 30 to 180 days.

Assets BE
Forward currency contracts RHEEEH

The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts to
manage its exchange rate exposure. Net fair value gains of such
derivative financial instruments amounting to HK$206,247,000 (31
March 2013: HK$113,981,000) were credited to the statement of
profit or loss during the period (note 5).

The above transactions involving derivative financial instruments are
conducted with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The Group entered into derivative financial instruments with various
counterparties, principally financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including forward currency
contracts, were measured using valuation techniques similar to
forward pricing models, using present value calculations. The
models incorporated various market observable inputs including the
credit quality of counterparty, foreign exchange spot and forward
rates. The carrying amounts of forward currency contracts were the
same as their fair values.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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AEERENESERZARENEESCEERE
ERAEEZz ZEBE A7 E—He &1
¥ 2R\ R A7B¥196,0007T (ZF—=
F=A=+—8 : B%1,446,0007T) & B &
35,963,000t (ZE—=F=H=+—HQ:
/) WEER DB EAEBEEIEHER
e T2 BUEERREE -

ENESRRABTKE I — K N30E
180K BN 1E -

31 March
2013
—E—=F
=—A=+—H
HK$'000
BT T

53,511

AEBEYZHERPEBSOUNEREE
EKER - ETESRMITANATFEEF
W %5 A& 745 206,247,000 (ZE—=F=
A=+—H:5%113,981,0007T) 5t A A7
B AR 18 2= 3K (BT 3E5) ©

FFRTESMIAEZRSHEEER
BT B R AD Sk 2 IRITHETT ©

AEREETAXZEF (EERAERY
EEARZERBB) T IITESRTA -
TESRMTABREREE AL - AN
EHEERENAERMRAEE - %
FRVEFHASZHEMGABREZAER
BREIXZEFZERER EXZHREE
FMEHE - EHERANZREERASER
HAFEE-
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31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 3. T I A(E)

As at 31 December 2013, the marked to market value of the R-ZE—=F+-_A=+—H  RHmEE
derivative asset position is net of a credit valuation adjustment BZEBEMRATHRTETIAR S
attributable to derivative counterparty default risk. The changes FEAORBREGHZEEFHAERE - RZ4
in counterparty credit risk had no material effect on the hedge FEERRBRZEBDHHIEEBE HREER
effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in hedge METARZRATEERRZHMeR T
relationship and other financial instruments recognised at fair value. B7H A mT AN EERNTE o
= 4 ==
32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 32. HERITER
31 December 2013 31 March 2013
—E—-=%+-H=+-—H —=—=f¢=HA=+—8
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BERAE B A =
(E5EE) FEB BETRT (BEHth) Epi = BT T
Group AEE
Current &
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - |ER 0.96-5.32 2014 2,556,687 0.95-5.60 2013-2014 2,211,709
Bank loans, secured IRITER - KA - 6.30 2013-2014 24,682
Current portion of long term bank  KEHEITER 2R B
loans, unsecured B - mEA 1.34 2014 1,162,500 0.99-1.78 2013-2014 529,500
3,719,187 2,765,891
Non-current FE i &
Bank loans, unsecured RITEHR - EIKH 1.67-2.83  2015-2016 2,314,853 1.34-2.83 2014-2015 2,712,494
6,034,040 5,478,385
Company /NG|
Current FE
Bank loans, unsecured |ITER - |ER —  1.38-1.85 2013 738,751

%MI\I?M%EHQEEE@% 185
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

32. ffERITER(E)

Group Company
x& ¥ ]
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2013 2013 2013 2013
—F-=F —T—=F —F-=F —T—=F
+=—A=+—H8 =A=+—H +=A=+—8 =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR BETT EETR BETT
Analysed into: AT
Bank loans repayable: JEEERITEN:
Within one year —F " 3,719,187 2,765,891 - 738,751
In the second year E-FNR 1,550,005 1,162,500 - —
In the third to fifth FE=FF
years, inclusive FHE (B
BREMF) 764,848 1,549,994 - -
6,034,040 5,478,385 - 738,751
Notes: Htat -
(a) The Company guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans of (a) RIBEHR  RNATFERE TAEFPBTE

HK$4,493,556,000 (31 March 2013: HK$4,459,373,000) at the end of the
reporting period.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2012, a subsidiary of the Group, Digital China
Technology Limited, entered into a facility agreement with a syndicate of banks
for a three-year loan facility of US$150 million for the purpose of financing
general working capital of the Group. Included in the Group’s non-current
bank borrowings of HK$1,163,000,000 (equivalent to US$150,000,000) as at
31 December 2013 was the syndicated loan repayable in three years from the
date of the drawdown and was guaranteed by the Company.

1 86 Digital China Holdings Limited
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KA 75 #4,493,556,000 L (ZE—=F= A=
+—H : #%4,459,373,0007T) {EHE & (R ©

REBEE-_T——H#=A=+—HItEER ' &
EE B RARSMNEBREERERA
BIEEERT— DR E HE - BILSEAI50
BEELZ=-FERRME BEASEN—K
LEBEES  BRER-_ZE—=¢t+-A=t+-—A8
RNEE 2 IERBNRTTE K A #1,163,000,000
7T (#855150,000,0003 7T) A 78 R 12 F A B e
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

At 31 March 2013, certain of the Group’s bank loans of HK$24,682,000
extended by a financial institution to a subsidiary of the Group, Digital China
Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Jinxin”), were guaranteed by Beijing
Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an independent third party.
Accordingly, the Group’s fixtures and office equipment with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$25,721,000 at 31 March 2013 were pledged to
Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd. for securing the aforesaid
guarantee given to bank by Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd.
In favour of Beijing Jinxin.

Except for bank borrowings of HK$900,350,000 (31 March 2013:
HK$1,253,994,000) and HK$5,133,061,000 (31 March 2013:
HK$4,193,538,000) which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars, respectively, the remaining bank borrowings are denominated
in RMB.

33. BOND PAYABLE

32. MRMITERE)

Brat

()

(%)

R=ZT—=F=A=+—H AEBEETR?T
B R ABHE24682000 T 2RSS REBERT
AEEZ— M EQ RSN EE S ER R
HAERAR(ERE&ED X —HBIE=F
IERENBERERERARMELHER -
B AEBUR-_ZT—=F=A=+—HIKHA
{458 58 125,721,0007T 2 £ B R AER
HER T RFEANBBRERERAF - U
ERBAAFRARKRIRESEZERIELZ £
MAEAR ©

B 7 ¥900,350,000(= T — = F = A
=+ — B: # #1,253,094,0007T) & & ¥
5,133,061,0007c (ZE—=F=RA=+—H:
4,193,538,0007T) Z SRITEHABE T R ET
PES  RTHRITEREIUAREIE -

33. EfSES

Group
x5EH
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —E—=%F
+=-RA=+—H =RA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$’'000
EETR BT
Current Vi) - 37,023

HNBEERARATF
20134 4R
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In September 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of the
remaining 89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin Technology Co.,
Ltd. (now named as “Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.”)
from independent third parties (the “Acquisition”). Beijing Jinxin was
owned as to 10.44% by the Group prior to the Acquisition and
subsequent to which, it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group. In August 2010, i.e., before the Acquisition, Beijing Jinxin
and twelve other companies being independent third parties of
the Group (collectively referred as the “Issuers”) issued the “2010
Collective Bonds of Zhongguancun High-tech SME” (the “2010
Bonds”) to institutional and public investors in Mainland China
through the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The aggregate principal
amount of the 2010 Bonds is RMB383 million, of which Beijing
Jinxin accounts for RMB30 million (equivalent to HK$37 million). The
fund raised by Beijing Jinxin was applied to the development of its
ATM network construction project. The 2010 Bonds which carry
interest at a rate of 5.18% per annum, will mature in August 2016,
and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in full with joint
liabilities by Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an
independent third party, from the first to third years of the issuance
(the “ZGC Guarantee”). At the same time, the ZGC Guarantee is
guaranteed by Beijing SMEs Credits Re-guarantee Co., Ltd., and
also guaranteed by Beijing Jinxin for the principal amount of the
2010 Bonds it accounted for (i.e., RMB30 million). The Investors’ Put
Option and the Issuers’ Full Redemption Option in respect of the
2010 Bonds may be exercised under the following circumstances:
if the Issuers can provide a guarantor with good reputation before
the conclusion of the interest period in the third year of the issuance
of the 2010 Bonds, investors may opt to hold the 2010 Bonds in
full or in part and/or exercise the Investors’ Put Option to sell the
2010 Bonds back to the Issuers within five working days from the
publication of the announcement in respect of information regarding
the continuing guarantee; and if the Issuers cannot provide a
guarantor with good reputation before the conclusion of the interest
period in the third year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the

Issuers shall redeem the 2010 Bonds in full.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the 2010 Bonds
of RMB30 million issued by Beijing Jinxin were fully redeemed.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. A
Shares % 15
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —F—=
+=-H=+—8 =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST I
Authorised: VETE ¢
2,000,000,000 (31 March 2013: 2,000,000,000/%
2,000,000,000) ordinary shares of —E—=F=/B=+—8:
HK$0.1 (31 March 2013: HK$0.1) 2,000,000,000/%) & % E (&
each BEEOITT(ZE—=F=A
=+—H: B&o1xT) 2L @K 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITR AR
1,093,738,581 (31 March 2013: 1,098,738,581 % (=2 —=F = A
1,0983,463,581) ordinary shares of =+ —H:1,093,463,581%)
HK$0.1 (31 March 2013: HK$0.1) SEEEBEIT(ZE—=F
each =A=+—8H:B%017T)
2 & AR 109,374 109,346

RE-F-=5+-A=+—AILAEA
EEE-F 4= A=+ —HILEER -

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the nine months ended

31 December 2013 and year ended 31 March 2013 is as follows: RAE R E BT IRA KRB0 % B IR Z B
g
Number of Share
ordinary shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
TEREE BETRA % 17 4 18 R #mEt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2012 R-_ZT——Fm@A—H 1,092,734,581 109,273 2,052,706 2,161,979
Exercise of share TIERE R RE (I at)
options (note) 729,000 73 5,630 5,703
At 31 March 2013 and HRZZ—=%F
1 April 2013 =A=+t—8k
—T—=%1WAH—H 1,093,463,581 109,346 2,058,336 2,167,682
Exercise of share 1715 B AR BE (B 57)
options (note) 275,000 28 2,097 2,125
At 31 December 2013 ~ RZT—=4F
+=—A=+—H 1,093,738,581 109,374 2,060,433 2,169,807

WIS IERERAT]
20134 3§
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Shares (Continued)

Note:

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the subscription rights
attaching to 275,000 share options were exercised at a subscription price
of HK$5.89 per share (381 March 2013: 727,000 and 2,000 share options
were exercised at subscription prices at HK$5.89 and HK$15.04 per share,
respectively), resulting in the issue of a total of 275,000 (31 March 2013:
729,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration of
HK$1,619,000 (31 March 2013: HK$4,312,000). An amount of HK$506,000 (31
March 2013: HK$1,391,000) was transferred from the employee share-based
compensation reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of the
share options.

Share-based incentive schemes
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and restricted share
award scheme are included in note 35 to the financial statements.

(a)

Share Option Schemes

The Company operates two share option schemes. One of
the share option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the
“2002 Share Option Scheme”) and the other share option
scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”) (the 2002 Share Option Scheme together
with the 2011 Share Option Scheme, hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Share Option Schemes”).

The principal terms of the Share Option Schemes are as
follows:

() Purpose

The Share Option Schemes seek to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions or potential contributions
made or to be made by the qualified persons (as
defined below) to the Group, to motivate the qualified
persons to optimise their performance and efficiency
for the benefit of the Group, and to maintain or attract
business relationships with the qualified persons whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of
the Group.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

()

()

)

Qualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or officer or director
(including executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive directors) of any member of the Group
or of any associated company, or any supplier, agent,
customer, joint venture partner, strategic alliance partner,
distributor, professional adviser of, or consultant or
contractor to, any member of the Group, or the trustee
of any trust pre-approved by the board of directors of
the Company the beneficiary (or in case of discretionary
trust, the discretionary objects) of which includes any of
the above-mentioned persons.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares available for issue
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme was 86,303,308
and that under the 2011 Share Option Scheme was
109,206,058, which represent 7.89% and 9.98% of
share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the financial statement respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Schemes and any other share option
schemes of the Company to each qualified person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company then in issue. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting of the Company.

(a)

R Bz 5T 8 ()
n BEBEAL

()

)

AEBEMKE QR HAEM
i /NI R ClR S AR
BEXSRAEXRER(BRE
1T ERITHBUIEATE
) HAKEEAKERF
ZEMgtEn - K2 'R
BEBH  REMBBRA
DB - BEEEAARERSL
EEE AARBEFETEERE
#EM 2 a5 AR L ERA
TZEMAEREHAEERE
FoRAEERENER)Z
HFEAC

=ERDEE
E-_ZZE_FEREFET
AftBETZENERSHER
86,303,308f% * M#E T ——
FREERT 8 T AIHETZ K
19 Fx = 8 H /109,206,058 -
2 RS RN B 75 SRR it B H)
ZARRAEBEITRAT.89% M
9.98% -

BELEBANLAERZRE
A
BEREERALTHEERM+ @
AHIRR R B B AT 8 e AR
A {E fo] i A i =1 81 ] 2 1%
ZBREEREBCTERER
T BEITERTHRETR
BTFETZESRNBETE
BEARRERZHTROZ
1% ° EA#E—FREBIB I
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ARRBRERAEEHAER 77
A{EE -

HMNBIBZERERAT
2013



Notes to Financial Statements Bf 7 3} 3% [ff 3%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)
(V) Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

(Continued)

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(except when the independent non-executive director is
the grantee of such options).

Any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company
or any of their respective associates must, in addition
to obtaining the approval of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company, be approved
by the shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting if such proposed grant of share options,
when aggregated with all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) already granted to such
substantial shareholder or independent non-executive
director during the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant of options, would (i) entitle
that relevant person to receive more than 0.1% of the
total issued share capital of the Company for the time
being; and (i) represent an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 based on the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange at the date of
such grant.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

V)

V)

(V1))

(Vi)

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Schemes
shall be the period set out in the relevant offer letter,
provided that such period must expire on the date falling
on the tenth anniversary of the offer date.

Acceptance of offers

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted by
the grantee on or before the last date for acceptance of
such offer as set out in the relevant offer letter, which
must not be more than 28 business days from the
relevant offer date. A consideration of HK$1.00 shall be
received by the Company on acceptance of each offer.

Basis for determination of the subscription price

The subscription price shall be the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the offer date; (b) the
average of the closing prices of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; or
(c) the nominal value of a share.

Life of Share Option Schemes

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing from 18 July 2002
and 15 August 2011, respectively, being the dates on
which such schemes were deemed to take effect in
accordance with their terms.

(a)

R Bz 5T 8 ()
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The following table shows the movements in the share options
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the period
and the options outstanding at the beginning and end of the
period:

Number of share options

HREYE
Lapsed
Outstanding Granted Exercised during
as at during during the
Grantee 1/4/2013 the period the period period
R-¥—-=%
mA—-H FHE FHE FHEA
ARA CEIR AR H AT & ES: 4
(note iii)
(i 7t i)
Directors S
GUO Wei B 960,000 = = =
LIN Yang w5 1,000,000 = = =
YAN Guorong i 125,000 = = =
YAN Guorong EEES 668,000 = = =
Other employees HibES 2,992,000 - (275,000) -
4,077,000 - - (230,000)
In aggregate &t 9,822,000 - (275,000 (230,000)

Notes:

(i) The subscription price of the options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

(i) All options granted are subject to a vesting period of four years with

25% becoming exercisable on the first anniversary, 25% on the second
anniversary, 25% on the third anniversary and 25% on the fourth
anniversary of the respective dates of grant.

(iii) The weighted average closing prices of the Company’s shares
immediately preceding and at the dates of exercise of options were
HK$8.83 and HK$9.22 per share, respectively.

(iv) No options were granted and cancelled under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme during the period.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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Outstanding
as at
31/12/2013
R-¥-=%
+=A
=+-H
LES i

960,000
1,000,000
125,000
668,000

2,717,000
3,847,000

9,317,000

(a)

R Bz #E 5T 8 ()

TR E T _FHEBEE
THREENRABEAZEE UK
PR ERR) R AR 1 R AT 2 BB AR # -

Subscription
price per
share

BRBEER
(HKS)
(note §)

(B%7T)
(K2

5.89
5.89
5.89
15.04

5.89
15.04

(i

(i)

Date of Exercisable
grant period
RHEBEH TES
(note ij)

(W i)

21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
11/01/2011 11/01/2012-10/01/2019
21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
11/01/2011 11/01/2012-10/01/2019

FE AR A ) AR B B A A B AL AR B K B
AL R A IR AR o 7 Lt 2R B 2 i ]
THE -

AR 2 BRES RGN A B mE
VB - HP25% R & & H A
sm—BEZBRBITE  25%A R
mMBEZ BRETTE - 25% A R
ZIBFZARRITE - R25%AI KWK
BFEZARBITE -

AATIRHDR B EEREREITER
RITERzMEFHRTESNAEE
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(a)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at general meetings.

Since the adoption of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no
options were granted, lapsed or cancelled under the 2011
Share Option Scheme.

The fair values of the share options granted during the prior
years amounted to HK$53,000,000, of which the Group
recognised share option expenses of HK$2,702,000 (year
ended 31 March 2013: HK$2,720,000) during the nine months
ended 31 December 2013.

The fair values of the share options granted under the 2002
Share Option Scheme were estimated as at the dates of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account of the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

Granted on:
RER :

Dividend vyield (%)
R EE(EH L)

Expected volatility (%)
TREKIE(BD L)

Historical volatility (%)

BERE(EDLL)

Risk-free interest rate (%)
ERERANX(EOL)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)
mEFHREERBET)

(a)

R Bz 5T 8 ()
BREYERTHEAEAZTARESL
RBERAE ERENER -

BRM T ——FRRESRE
BEEBRERE T ——FBEKE
IR - KREEUH °

RBEFREAMTHERENAF
BEA & & % #53,000,0007T ° I
HE_Z—=F+-_A=+—HIth
AR NEBERERERAIA
B #2,702,000 (HEZZE—=F=
A=+ —HIEFE : #%2720,000
JL) °

—EE_FREREE TN
BREZAFEEIRNERNRLE
BEA-—BAARAGE  EPEF
KRR 2 R AR - TR
IR ARE 2 BURE

11 January 2011 21 May 2008
—B——F —TEN\E
—HA+—H AHA=+—H

3.5 per annum
FE35

3.5 per annum
B %35

48 per annum
T F48

45 per annum
B 45

48 per annum
T F48

45 per annum
T F45

2.1 per annum 2.6 per annum

FF21 FF2.6
14.98 5.89
14.98 5.89
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(a)

(b)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
9,317,000 (81 March 2013: 9,822,000) share options
outstanding under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 9,317,000 (81 March 2013: 9,822,000)
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of HK$932,000 (31 March 2013: HK$982,000)
and share premium of HK$95,258,000 (31 March 2013:
HK$100,286,000) (before issue expenses).

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company’s RSA Scheme was adopted on 28 March
2011 for the purpose of rewarding and motivating, among
others, directors (including executive and non-executive)
and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Participants”) with the shares of the Company. The RSA
Scheme is intended to attract and retain the best available
personnel, and encourage and motivate the Participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Group and the
Company’s shares by aligning their interests with those of the
shareholders of the Company.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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(b)
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(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to the RSA Scheme, existing shares of the Company
will be purchased by the trustee of the RSA Scheme from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be
held in trust for the relevant Participants until such shares are
vested with the relevant Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the RSA Scheme. The shares of the Company
granted under the RSA Scheme and held by the trustee
until vesting are referred to as the RSUs and each RSU shall
represent one ordinary share of the Company.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the trustee
purchased 1,181,000 shares of the Company at a total cost
(including related transaction costs) of HK$9,983,000 and
no RSUs were granted to the Participants. No share of the
Company had been purchased by the trustee during the year
ended 31 March 2013.

A total number of 1,596,100 (year ended 31 March 2013:
1,067,200) RSUs lapsed under the RSA Scheme during the
nine months ended 31 December 2013 and the number of
RSUs outstanding as at 31 December 2013 was 22,135,700
(81 March 2013: 23,731,800). All RSUs will be vested on
1 August 2014 subject to fulfilment of certain performance
targets.

The fair values of the RSUs granted were calculated based on
the market price of the Company’s shares at the respective
grant dates. The expected dividend yield of 3.5% per annum
and the risk-free interest rates ranging from 0.633% to 1.154%
per annum have been taken into account when assessing the
fair value of these RSUs.

(b)

% PR ) Bz #3 2% By 5t 8l (48)

R IR SR I A 10 22 B =t &) - PRI
Befn 2Rt Bl S FEA K AR K E R

H2RENTH LBEARRFRE
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A BEEREBRORBEXZRGIK
DRI IGTEETERSE
o EXRBIBM BB TET
VYHERAKEEERBEZRNDE
RERBIBA - &R 2R
RER-BARR BT BB ©

REBEE-ET—=F+"A=+—H1
NEAR - LFTEARBKAN(BEE
R 5ER) 59,083,000 7T AL
A F11,181,0008% % 17 K& I £ 1% {1 =2
REIKGHD TLEE REEZZT—
=F=ZA=+—HLEFERN It
AL EEERRF G °

REZE2—FE—=F+=-_A=+—H81
NEREEA - 7R Hl AR 1D 12 B
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ERTERHRMDORIFEEIR
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(b)

(a)

Restricted Share Award Scheme (Continued)

The weighted average fair value of the RSUs granted during
the year ended 31 March 2012 was HK$12.53 per share.
The Group recognised the reveral of RSUs expenses of
HK$37,386,000 (year ended 31 March 2013: recognised the
RSUs expenses of HK$62,267,000) into the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the nine months ended 31
December 2013 because the performance and/or service
conditions for the RSU granted to certain employees are not
fulfilled.

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current period and prior years are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
financial statements.

Reserve funds

Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance with
the relevant PRC regulations applicable to the Group’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China. These reserve funds can be
used to offset accumulated losses but are not be distributable
in the form of cash dividends.
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(b) Company

Share
premium  Contributed
account surplus
&
i & IR PN
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

ik BETT BETT

At 1 April 2012 RZT—=F
MA—H 2,052,706 623,689
Profit for the year and total A% %A R AEE
comprehensive income 2HEWREEE
for the year - -
Exercise of share options 171658 B AR e 34 5,630 -
Share-based compensation LA 5 X+ 2 B & 35 - -
Proposed final 2012/13 BE=Z2——=/
dividend —ZFARHEKRE 12 = =
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE—=F
=ZA=+—H” 2,058,336 623,689
Profit for the period and 7N HA 8 ) S 7R B T
total comprehensive 2HK=ERE
income for the period - -
Exercise of share options 1TE BB R 34 2,097 —

Share-based compensation AR X4 2 B & 35 = =
Contribution to an employee EERZE S H X

share trust 35(b) - -
Proposed final 2013 RE-ZT—=F
dividend RERR B 12 - -
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F
+-A=+-—8” 2,060,433 623,689

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in preparation
for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act
of Bermuda (as amended) and the Bye-Laws of the Company,
the contributed surplus can be distributed to the shareholders,
provided that the Company will be able to pay its liabilities as
they fall due, and subsequent to the distribution, the aggregate
amount of its total liabilities as well as the issued share capital
and premium is less than the realisable value of its assets.

E: N

Employee
share-based

Employee compensation Retained

share trust reserve profits Total
VAR 63 X 4%
BEERE BEZHME
E- ¥ i  REBRH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T B¥TT BTt BETx
(359,914) 104,279 128,369 2,549,129

= = 483,848 483,848
- (1,391) - 4,239
= 64,987 = 64,987

= - (414,592)  (414,592)

(359,914 167,875 197,625 2,687,611

- 596,249 596,249

= (506) = 1,591
- (34,684) - (34,684)
(9,983) - - (9,983)

— — (190,037) (190,037)

(369,897) 132,685 603,837 3,050,747

ARBZHABBRERBERAEREN
X B B A7) FE B SR P E M AR BT i
TZ2—BRBIEAMYENE QA
ZBROERFEBESRAREER
REMBETZIENEEZIESR - R
BEAREQRE(RE)RARTA
ZREAR - BABBRADIK TR
RIMEARFMBBEGRENEED B
ZE®  MEZBRDIKRE @ NAF
ZHBEBEARDETRANRGE TS
BERNHEEENAZRE -

HMNBEERARAR
20134 4R
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(b) Company (Continued)

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises
the fair value of options or RSUs granted under the share-
based incentive schemes which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for employee
benefits in note 2.5 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options/RSUs are exercised/transferred, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options/RSUs
expire or be forfeited.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the Group
entered into the share transfer agreements for the disposal of its
equity interests in certain subsidiaries for total considerations of
HK$140,005,000.
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the net assets disposed of under the share transfer
agreements and the financial impacts are summarised below:

37. HEKBAE (HE)
1895 0% 1 80 33 W 3 P 5 B0 1 6 4 B R B
BEMBYEHEAMT

31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—®—=4 —z-—=f¢
+=—RA=+—H =RA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B it EETT BT T
Net assets disposed of: HEBEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment M BERFZE 14 2,745 88,126
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 11,244 83,522
Inventories T8 144,562 666
Trade and bills receivables FE U B 5 R 3R K JE U
ER 440,563 65,162
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - e REM
receivables & W k1A 166,845 280,717
Trade and bills payables B E SRR R ER
EE (559,869) (29,845)
Other payables and accruals E b BT RIE R
EiREH (75,193) (313,417)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EERITE K - (94,127)
Non-controlling interests JE 22 j% 2 (4,529) (13,344)
126,368 67,460
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZEMNBAR ZMK= 5 13,637 251,012
140,005 318,472
Satisfied by cash SHRBES 140,005 280,707
Satisfied by other receivables AR A L At JIE UL 3R IR - 37,765
140,005 318,472

HNBEERARATF
20134 4R
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. HEKE AT (&)
An analysis of the cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEZRNBARI RS RIREEEYR
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: ANFBZOMTAT
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—g—-=% —T—=
+=RA=+-—H —A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRT BT
Cash consideration ReRE 140,005 280,707
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BHERE KRB ELEEY (11,244) (83,522)
Cash consideration for the settlement of IR &R E AR E M
other receivables JE W 318 38,116 -
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEZEHEBAR 2R S
in respect of the disposal of RBE2EEBMRAZEE
subsidiaries 166,877 197,185

38. AREBE
RE{EER - AR IE SRR BEE 2K

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided

for in the financial statements were as follows: NEREWMT:
Group Company
FEE AAT
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2013 2013 2013 2013
RZB—=% R=FT—=F RZIT-—-=% R-T—=F
+=-A=+—-8 =A=+—8H8 +=ZA=+—-H =A=+—8H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRT BT T BETRT BT T
Guarantees given for BB ARIEER
banking facilities utilised ZIRITREE RS
by subsidiaries ZER - = 6,809,385 6,457,775
Guarantees given to RBARIRET
suppliers for subsidiaries HER 2 R - = 2,745,696 3,236,026
- = 9,555,081 9,693,801
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms of ranging from one to five years. The terms of the
leases generally also require the tenant to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according
to the then prevailing market conditions.

o1

nr

(a)

KEHETH

1’E7§;-‘:H*HA
AEERBELEHERHLEEER
BEYE(ME15) - P e AAOHRE
RE—Z0F - HHBGRBETSE
KHEPXNRESR @ WIASRIE
EETRAERARES -

At 31 December 2013, the Group had total future minimum RZE—=F+=A=+—8 ' R
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with REBEEESFFT 2T AHEZ
its tenants falling due as follows: KEMA  AEBETHEWRER 2R
JK =EEENRAT -
Group
rE
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=f —T—=F
+=-—HA=+—H —A=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETT BT T
Within one year —F R 10,946 10,460
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 _-FZEFERHF
(BEEREMEF) 8,616 11,999
19,562 22,459

%ﬁ’d‘l‘l%ﬁ%&ﬂﬁﬁfgég 203
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204

Within one year

In the second to fifth
years, inclusive
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Group
A5HE

31 December
2013

—F-=%
+=-A=+—H
HK$’000
EETR

—FR
E-_EEFRF
(BREEREMF)

97,696

81,515

179,211

31 December
2013 2013
2= —g-=5
=HA=+—H +=ZH=+-8H
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T EBETT

31 March

107,451

89,161

196,612 6,204

Company

AT

31 March
2013
—T—=
=A=+—H
HK$'000
BET T

6,441

4,594

11,035
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Group Company
AEH EAT

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2013 2013 2013 2013
—F-=§ ZT—=F% —FT-=§ ZT—=F%
+=-—A=+—8 =A=+—H +=—A=+—8 =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR BT T EETR BT T

Contracted, but not DA B KRB
provided for:

Land and buildings +iREF 567,977 630,631
Capital contributions payable A% B & & %
to joint ventures FE 765,277 21,597

Capital contributions payable [f) — & B & A &)
to an associate EE 51,184

1,384,438 652,228

N B 2 R IR
2013
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Transactions with related parties:

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the

N, BEATXRS
(a) EHEEALTZRS:
B b B 7% #h R E b 2010 P 2 51 2 7%
EXHREHRN  AEBEUTE

following material transactions with related parties: RNEFBEAT IR :
Group
&
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE HE
—E—-=%f —FT—=
+=—HA=+—8B =A=+—H
IE {8 B IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i BETR ok i
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.* and its AEEZHEE QA &
subsidiaries, associates of the Group:  EEIFER M AR A7
FEWB AR :
Provision of IT services by the Group 7N 5 B 42 (£ IT IR 7 (iii) 3,221 7,260
PinHu Digital China BoHai Science &  AN&E@® B2 A7 » F
Technology Co., Ltd.*, an associate of ¥t /N £k 15 18 /5 &l &
the Group: BRAA:
Provision of IT services to the Group MAEBEREEITRS (i) 1,271 6,392
NingBo Digital China HongBo Information AN [E 2Bt Q7] @ &
Technology Company Limited*, an BN ESEEE
associate of the Group: AMEMmAERAR :
Provision of IT services by the Group N5 B 42 (£ IT AR 7 (iii) - 1,651
Digital China Chengdu Sobey Science & AN&EE 2 A& % « &
Technology Company Limited*, a joint &8/ & B = BRI &
venture of the Group: BRAR:
Sales of goods and provision of IT REBEHEEZEMR
services by the Group TR ITAR @), (ii) 68,806 —
Purchases of goods by the Group AEBBEZEY (ii) 33,715 —
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) M BAEALRZ (&)
(a) Transactions with related parties: (Continued) (a) HEAEALTZES: (8)
Group
xE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
BE HE
—F—=%K —E—=F
+=-A=+—8B =A=+—H
IE A {E B IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HaF BETR ST T
Jiangsu Intelligent Harbor City Investment AEBE 2 & &% - /T
Development Co., Ltd*, a joint venture  Bx & ZBMIT LR
of the Group: BRAR:
Sales of goods and provision of IT REEHEEZEMR
services by the Group RRHEITAR @), (ii) 13,088 —
Digital China-Octopus Information REBzEEDRE 1
Systems Service Limited* (“DC MEFB N EBEAR
Octopus”), a joint venture of the SRR B R AR ([18
Group: WNAER]
Provision of services by the Group REBE R MRS (i) - 1,993
Provision of services to the Group M) 2 £ B 42 ¢ AR 75 (iii) - 2,449
Digital China Technology Industry REBZREDRE 19
Investment Co., Ltd,* (“‘DCTII") and its MEBRIFEEKRE
subsidiary, joint ventures of the Group: AR EE A &l ([
MEEEREDRH
Bt A A
Interest income of loans ERZHMBHA (iv) 29,860 26,473
Notes: B -

(i) The sales were made with reference to the listed price and conditions
offered to the major customers of the Group.

(i) The purchases were made at prices mutually agreed between the

Group and the corresponding related parties.

(iii) The prices for the provision of IT services/services were determined

at rates mutually agreed between the Group and the corresponding

related parties.

(i)

(i)

ZEHENREBEAREARETERR
R ZRTE R EEMETT

ZEBEDRBEASEEBRAEEA
TETHEZBERET -

RETRSRG < BRIIBREARE
) £2 45 38 R 32 A £ 8877 169 E T B € e

HNBEERARATF
20134 4R
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(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties: (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) The interest income is calculated with reference to the market interest
rates.

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of
their Chinese registered names.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i) Details of the Group’s trade balances with the joint
ventures and associates as at the end of the reporting
period are included in notes 28 and 30 to the financial
statements, respectively.

(i) At 31 December 2013, the amounts due to the joint
ventures and associates included in the Group’s other
payables and accruals totalled HK$2,090,000 (31 March
2013: Nil).

(i)  Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and
other receivables as at 31 December 2013 is a loan of
HK$226,469,000 (381 March 2013: HK$222,140,000) to a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group’s jointly-controlled
entity, DCTII, which is secured by the entire interests
of DCTII held by another joint venturer of DCTII, bears
interest at a rate of 16.15% (81 March 2013: 16.15%) per
annum and is repayable within one year from the end
of the reporting period.

Digital China Holdings Limited
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(a)

(b)

HEAEANTZXS: (&)
ez ()

(iv)  WEEFSWRAAS EHSHEGFH -

+ FZERACEAXEBHIAEZFEEIME
FL 2R X A

BEANLTZEREHE:

() RBEPR AEEHRGED
ERMERRZEHERR
1599 ) B 0 1t B 765 S R Y £ 28
%30 °

iy MW=—ZT—=F+=—A=+—8"
ENAEEEELERBEN
RZRBBEREEAEEZ Hi
FERFRIBERIEIRER @ £iE
#2,090,0007L (Z T —=F =
B=+—H:)-

iy R—E—Z=ZF+-_A=+—
H BREASEZENKE -
o Rk H M ERKREBE
226,469,000 (ZE —=F =
A=-+—8 : #%#%222,140,000
TL) AR AREE S & B
BRI EFEREZEZEFRAIRE
MER - RIMEHR - ZER
HSBRREXREZS—6
B EAER A RSN SR
REXRENE RS ETYE
HIER  FFIL16.15% (==
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Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based compensation

Total compensation paid to key
management personnel

R B R
BIREREMN
B 2 &

XN GEHEREREAR
2 B 48 At

Nine months
ended

31 December
2013

HK$’000
AEETR

105
(7,259)

Year ended
31 March
2013

HK$’000
BT T

25,315

N B 2 R IR
2013
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Financial
assets at fair
value through Available-for-
profit or loss — Loans and sale financial
held for trading receivables assets
BRATFEEFE
BEHWSMEE BERE AHHEZ
- FEEE FE W =R IE SREE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EETR EETR EETRT EETR

Available-for-sale investments AHEEEZERE - 819,459 819,459
Trade and bills receivables FEUE 5 0R R K R = & 11,494,720 - 11,494,720

Financial assets included in prepayments, BaRFERNZIE & E R EM
deposits and other receivables EWHERZ @B EE - 1,080,223 1,080,223

Derivative financial instruments TEemIA 113,378 - 113,378
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY - 3,894,211 3,894,211

RekBReZEEY 113,378 16,469,154 819,459 17,401,991

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBHERAGEHE
ZEREHE
HK$’000

BEFT

Trade and bills payables ERESRA R EMSEER 11,092,793

Financial liabilities included in other BEREMEMNFEBERBERERS
payables and accruals ZEEAERE 2,193,421

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EERITE R 6,034,040

19,320,254
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)  42. 1% %8 7l &l

31 March 2013
Group
Financial assets

i)
—®-=%=A=+-8H
rEEH

TREE

ZERMITA(E)
=

Financial assets

at fair value
through profit or Available-
loss — held for Loans and for-sale
trading receivables financial assets Total
TEEEH
EREE BR Kk AEHEZ
— HIEEE FEW R IE SRl & E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
ST T BT T BT T BT T
Available-for-sale investments AREEZRE = = 473,952 473,952
Trade and bills receivables FEW B 5 iRk R B E & = 10,324,760 = 10,324,760
Financial assets included in prepayments, B&ERNTERKIEA RS R EM
deposits and other receivables BRHEBERZERMEE = 1,097,646 — 1,097,646
Derivative financial instruments PTEESHmTA 53,511 - - 58,511
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEBY = 4,189,519 = 4,189,519
ReRBESEBY 53,511 15,611,925 473,952 16,139,388
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHKAFE

el N =N

HK$’'000

ST T

Trade and bills payables ENESRA R ENEE 10,873,485
Financial liabilities included in other BEREMENKIBREREAF

payables and accruals ZEemas 1,799,830

Interest-bearing bank borrowings WESRITER 5,478,385

Bond payable ERES 37,023

18,188,723
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 42. iR RIZEI 5> €& T & (&)
Company AuF
Financial assets ZHEE
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—E—-=% —E—=F
+=HA=+-—H =A=+—H
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
BERR ,UA&
FEW R IE JE WL 5k
HK$’000 HK$’OOO
BETRT BT T
Financial assets included in prepayments, BaRERRE 4Kk
deposits and other receivables H {th fE U 3k IEEPZEE BhEE 19,279 19,503
Due from subsidiaries JE 5 Bff 8 & B K 3,011,706 3,936,457
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁff&ﬁ@%%% 2,464 1,912
3,033,449 3,957,872
Financial liabilities THERE
31 December 31 March
2013 2013
—F—-=%F —E—=
+=-HA=+—H =A=+—H
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost  amortised cost
¥ 1 8 X A 2 85 R
TEZERERE SHEZERARE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT IT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M ERITE R - 738,751
Financial liabilities included in other payables £ & K £ th f& 4 2k 38 &
and accruals EREAYZEMAE 17,874 15,945
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE$ 542,419 894,949
560,293 1,649,645
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31 December 2013 —E—=F+_-_A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFEEEFEEH
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

HEBHHSE EXTUHE EXTUHE
B 4R 18 FER HER @st

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(F8-) (FH ) (8 =)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EB®TR ERETRT EBTR ER®TRT

Available-for-sale investments: Al E
2B
listed equity investments IhEREE 298,128 - 298,128
Derivative financial instruments $T4 &g T A - 113,378 113,378

298,128 113,378 411,506

N B 2 R IR
2013




Notes to Financial Statements Bf 7 i 3% [ff %

31 December 2013 —E—=F+-_A=+—H

43. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 43. SRt TEAZ A FEESE R

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

Group (Continued)
As at 31 March 2013:

(&)

AFHESR ()

KA FEESRYEE: ()
()

R-¥—-=F=A=+—H:

Fair value measurement using

ANFEEAEER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
EEEME BEAUEBER SHEAPTAIER
) R (B ES R0 7S =S B A= et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E&—) (EH) (EH=)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT TT BT T BT T
Available-for-sale investments: At E
ZIRE
listed equity investments EhERKE 259,745 — — 259,745
Derivative financial instruments 74 4€ 8 T A = 53,511 = 53,511
259,745 53,511 — 313,256
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value RZE—=F+ZA=+—HAK=ZZT—=
as at 31 December 2013 and 31 March 2013. F=ZA=1T—H FTEBELEEMAMARF
BEFENEE -
The Company did not have any financial assets and liabilities RZE—=F+"A=+t—HAKZ=ZZT—=
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2013 and 31 March FZA=1+—H ARARTETAMARF
2013. BEFENEERAE -

During the period, there were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level
3 for financial assets (year ended 31 March 2013: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # ¥R 3% Bff 5%
31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, a bond payable and
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s capital expenditure
and operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally forward currency contracts. The purpose is to manage
the currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its
sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, market risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The
Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in
note 2.5 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings with floating interest
rates.

At 31 December 2013, HK$5,728,461,000 (31 March 2013:
HK$5,243,730,000) of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings bore
interest at floating rates. The Group believes that the exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates is minimal.

BROTAEMIN  AEBEZEZSRTABRRE
MERTER BNEFIREERSE
EBY - ZEeMIANTIERERA/ALE
BrEARXREEEEES - AEHE
BERAMEREENAE  fINEESR
RPERELZRKREIRAMEKRE
BAMEBNEZRALENRERE -

AEBRATUNTETARS EREES
REREREEH  AIBENAEHAEE
EBRERBEMEENINERR -

AEBEMTAMEEZETZRBR AN
XEf - mERER - SNERR - EERR
EnetRk EFeRTEEHRERE
BEERBRZEE  AEBESBNT - K
EENBFRATETAENSHA BRI I
BATS R M 52,5 o

¥l 2 2 B
AEBEPEER 2SN RSB ERE 2R
AEBERIBDHNERAECEREH -

N—E—=F+-_F=+—H AEFZ
B 8 & 3K & & #5,728,461,0007C (= Z —
=H#=A=+—H: ##5,243,730,0007T)
T2 EHEEE - AEBEHEEBRZT
5 F) & 2 B) @ b B B AN o

27
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31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

31 December 2013 —E—=%+=ZHA=+—H
HK$ borrowings B E N
HK$ borrowings B E R
31 March 2013 —T—=F=ZA=+—8H
HK$ borrowings ok A=A
HK$ borrowings BEE R

Market risk

The Group trades in financial instruments including derivatives.

Market risk represents the risk that the fair values or future cash
flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market
variables, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The
Group is exposed to market risk through its derivative financial
instruments.
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RBERR TRETEEARE N KE
By (1 E o B BURF T &) W AR EE IR BLAT
RACEBIHNERES 2 2B HH R
R

Increase/

(decrease)

in profit

Increase/ before tax
(decrease) in for the
basis points period/year
THEE£E

B B A i A

BEEEFA A wm,
(BE 1) (D)
HK$'000

BT T

100 (66,357)

(100) 66,357

i 35 L B
AEEEESRIAGENTETLA -

™ 35 B B 45 | 10 T 45 & Bhoan A = K S E
EPMEREHMTAZAFEEIARRR
ERKBAIELZRR - AEBZ2TES
BMITEHEAZHTSRAR
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31 December 2013 —_E—=%+=-HF=+—H

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 21% (31
March 2013: 16%) of the Group’s purchases were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units
making the purchase. In order to minimise the impact of foreign
exchange exposure, the Group has entered into forward currency
contracts with creditworthy banks to manage its exchange rate
exposure.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities).

31 December 2013 —E—=%+-_HF=+—H

If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHEEETER
If RMB strengthens against US$ EAREHEEETRE
31 March 2013 —E-—=f=ZA=+—H
If RMB weakens against US$ HAREHEEETREER
If RMB strengthens against US$ BEAREHEEETRE

b %5 L B

AEEAERZFEEER - LA ERER
RN EEBMIANBMINEBENINGEE
TZ5RE - AEEBN21% (ZF—=F=
A=1t—H:16%) 2 KB UAKRBZEENM
MBI EEIIE - RESREI
ERReFE AEEDEAEEZRT
RIVERERANNEREERER -

Increase/
(decrease) in
RMB rate

AREEX
EF#(BR1R)

%
Bt

“=4

TRETNBEPRERMBEETENE
AT RNEBNBHAEN(HREEE
ERABENRFEER
KNAREBEEEHNHRE -

BHRARKE

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
before tax
for the
period/year
AHEE£E
B i B i #
@,
(L)
HK$'000
BT T

(60,793)
60,793
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31 December 2013 —E—=F+-_A=+—H

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial investments,
other receivables and certain derivative instruments, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments. The Company is also
exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial guarantees,
further details of which are disclosed in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Over 90% of the
Group’s customers and operations are located in Mainland China.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by industry sector and
customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in note
28 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both
its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other available sources of finances. In addition,
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.
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15 & & b&
AEBERERIREEBEZHOBA
EIRD - ARBZRRRAHAEER
RIERXZcEFETERZERRA -

AEEEpEREE(BRREMASE
By AIEHEZERIRE - Rt ERIK
REETTETRIZEERRIIBERK
SHFEOMB MAREz&ESRRE
BHEENZEFTLAZIREE - ARETREA
REUEMBEARMEHEERR  £—F
1 & 0 Uk B SRR MY ARS8 o

HRAKREERERAIREEBEZHA
BEETRS  REGREREER - AKH
HBE0% 2 &P R EBHH MNP EIAKE -
EEETRBATESNOREFPER -

Ho{th 7 R AN 5% B T i B U 5 R R % B
WREBEEENEERRZEBEREHR
I B 7% ¥ 2k Mt 5E28 -

i En 1 L B
AEERAEREEUERDESFTET
AERESHROAR RTAEZEH
PhemTARSREE(WERKESIK
REERRB)ZHH